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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This annual report on Form 10-K contains, in additio historical information, forward-looking statents within the meaning of the “safe harbor”
provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Brefh Act of 1995. These statements relate to futwents or our future financial performance andloa
identified by the use of forward-looking terminojoguch as “project,” “may,” “could,” “expect,” “aitipate,” “estimate,” “continue” or other similar
words. These forward-looking statements are baradanagement’s current expectations and are subjeachumber of factors and uncertainties which
could cause actual results to differ materiallyrirthose described in these statements. These statteinclude our plans, expectations and goals
regarding drugs in development, clinical trials aedulatory approval for any of our drugs or treats, potential benefits and uses of our drugs,
estimates regarding cash and liquidity, expectatiegarding our ability to raise additional capéad the sources and timing of such capital, iitest
with respect to legal proceedings and costs relatetinical trials. The following are some of ttneportant factors that could cause our actual
performance to differ materially from those disag the forward-looking statements:

”ou ” o ”ou " ou " ou

¢ We have incurred significant operating losses smaeinception and cannot assure you that we \gitlegate revenue or proi

« Although we believe that we have sufficient casthand to fund our planned operations into 201¥eiffail to raise additional capital by t
end of the first quarter of 2014, we may need gaificantly curtail operations, cease operationse®k federal bankruptcy protectic

* We are subject to extensive and costly regulatiothb U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) andfbreign regulatory authorities,
which must approve our product candidates in dgeént and could restrict the sales and marketidgpaicing of such product

* We may be unable to demonstrate the efficacy afedysaf our developmental product candidates in anrmials.
* We may be unable to achieve commercial viabilitg anceptance of our proposed produ
< We may be unable to improve upon, protect and/@oree our intellectual propert

¢« We may be unable to enter into strategic partnpsstar the development, commercialization, manufi@éeg and distribution of our
proposed product candidat

¢ We are subject to significant competitic

» As a public company, we may be required to implemaeliditional and expensive finance and accountyistesns, procedures and controls as
we grow our business and organization to satisfy reporting requirements, which will increase oasts and require additional
management resource

We caution investors that actual results or busiwesiditions may differ materially from those puaigdl or suggested in forward-looking
statements as a result of various factors including not limited to, those described above arnthiénRisk Factors section of this annual report om¥
10-K. We cannot assure you that we have identdiethe factors that create uncertainties. Morepnew risks emerge from time to time and it is not
possible for our management to predict all risks,acan we assess the impact of all risks on ouinbas or the extent to which any risk, or comborati
of risks, may cause actual results to differ frénose contained in any forward-looking statemenéaders should not place undue reliance on forward-
looking statements. We undertake no obligationubliply release the result of any revision of thémevard-looking statements to reflect events or
circumstances after the date they are made oflextéhe occurrence of unanticipated events.
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PART |

Item 1. Business
Overview

We are a development-stage company engaged irrésegrch and development to create new therapiébriotic disease and cancer. Our drug
candidates are based on our method of targetiregtiialproteins, which are key mediators of biolagia pathologic functions. We use naturally
occurring, readily-available plant materials aststg material in manufacturing processes to crpad@rietary complex carbohydrates with specific
molecular weights and other pharmaceutical progerifhese complex carbohydrate molecules are apgielp formulated into acceptable
pharmaceutical formulations. Using these uniqubalaydrate-based candidate compounds that bindrduiloiti galectin proteins, we are undertaking the
focused pursuit of therapies for indications whgatectins have a demonstrated role in the pathaienéa given disease. We focus on diseases with
serious, lifethreatening consequences to patients and thosewhaent treatment options are limited. Our stis to establish and implement clini
development programs that add value to our busingse shortest period of time possible and t&k stetegic partners when a program becomes
advanced and requires additional resources.

We endeavor to leverage our scientific and prodegelopment expertise as well as established oektiips with outside sources to achieve cost-
effective and efficient development. These outsidi@grces, amongst others, provide us with expdrtipeeclinical models, pharmaceutical development,
toxicology, clinical development, pharmaceuticalnuiacturing, sophisticated physical and chemicaratterization, and commercial development. We
also have established a collaborative scientificaiery program with leading experts in carbohyalcitemistry and characterization. This discovery
program is aimed at the targeted development ofmelecules which bind galectin proteins and offegraative options to larger market segments in
our primary disease targets. We are pursuing aloigvent pathway to clinical enhancement and comialkération for our lead compounds in immune
enhancement for cancer therapy as well as in Ipghfibrosis and fatty liver disease. All of ourgposed products are presently in development,
including pre-clinical and clinical trials.

We were founded in July 2000 as Pro-Pharmaceutitals a Massachusetts corporation. On April Z8)12 DTR-Med Pharma Corp. (“DTR”),
which was incorporated in Nevada on January 261 280tered into a stock exchange agreement wittPRemmaceuticals, Inc., whereby DTR acquired
all of the outstanding shares of common stock ofParmaceuticals, Inc. On May 10, 2001, DTR chdritgename to “Pro- Pharmaceuticals, Inc.” and
on June 7, 2001, the Massachusetts corporationmeeaged into the Nevada corporation. On May 26, 2@t&-Pharmaceuticals, Inc. changed its name
to “Galectin Therapeutics Inc.” In October, 2012 moved our headquarters to a suburb of Atlantat@i#e closer to a center of discovery
collaboration while maintaining a contract laborgtoperation in the Boston area.

Our Drug Development Programs

Galectins are a class of proteins that are madady cells in the body. As a group, these protaiesable to bind to sugar molecules that are part
of other proteins in and on the cells of our ba@glectin proteins act as a kind of glue, bringiogether molecules that have sugars on them. Galecti
proteins are known to be markedly increased inrabar of important diseases including scaring ohagy(e.qg. liver, lung, kidney, and heart) and
cancers of many kinds. The increase in galectiteprgpromotes the disease and is detrimental tpdtient.

We have two compounds in development, one intetalég used in the treatment of liver fibrosis aattiyfliver disease and the other intended to
be used in cancer therapy. These two compoundsagdeiced from completely different, natural, repdivailable, starting materials, which, following
chemical processing, both exhibit the propertyintilng to and inhibiting galectin proteins.
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Our product pipeline is shown below:

Indication Drug Status

Fibrosis

NASH with Advanced Fibrosi GR-MD-02 IND submitted January 2013, FDA indicated on Mat¢R013 that we could
proceed with a Phase 1 US clinical trial. Phadinlcal trial expected to start Q2-
2013

Cancer Immunotherapy
Melanoma GM-CT-01 Phase I/ll study in process in Eurc

GR-MD-02. GR-MD-02 is our lead product candidate for treatha#riibrotic disease. Our preclinical data showatt®R-MD-02 has a powerful
therapeutic effect on liver fibrosis as shown inesal relevant animal models. Therefore, we chodReM®D-02 as the lead candidate in a development
program targeted initially at fibrotic liver diseaassociated with non-alcoholic steatohepatitis$NAor fatty liver disease. In January 2013, an
Investigational New Drug (“IND”was submitted to the FDA with the goal of initigtia Phase | study in patients with NASH and advaiger fibrosis
to evaluate the human safety of GR-MR-and pharmacodynamics biomarkers of disease. &ohVL, 2013, the FDA indicated we could proceeti &
US Phase 1 clinical trial for GR-MD-02 with a demgient program aimed at obtaining support for gpsed indication of GR-MD-02 for treatment of
NASH with advanced fibrosis. F-clinical studies also show promise for the comboraof GR-MD-02 with other approved immunotherapénd this
additional use will be explored for possible advwment into clinical trials.

Our drug candidate provides a promising new apgréarcthe therapy of fibrotic diseases, and livbrdsis in particular. Fibrosis is the formation
of excess connective tissue (collagen and otheaeim®plus cellular elements such as myofibrob)astsesponse to damage, inflammation or repair.
When the fibrotic tissue becomes confluent, ittelotites the cellular architecture, leading to sogrand dysfunction of the underlying organ.

GM-CT-01. GM-CT-01, our product candidate targeted for saleatancer therapy, is currently in a clinical tiraEurope. In 2012 we initiated
a Phase 1/2 clinical trial of GM-CT-01 in combimetiwith a tumor vaccine in patients with advancedamoma, a deadly skin cancer. The trial is being
conducted at three centers in Belgium and one kembourg. The operational conduct of the trialriger the control of the Cancer Centre at the
Cliniques Universitaires Saint-Luc and the Ludwigtitute for Cancer Research. Positive results fituimstudy could indicate that inhibiting the
“Galectin Effect” could be an enabling technology therapy in other tumor types.

We believe there is potential for galectin inhititito play a key role in the burgeoning area oteaimmunotherapy. For example, there have
been two recent approvals of drugs that enhanegienp's immune system to fight cancer: Provehgeen@eon; a dendritic cell tumor vaccine) and
Yervoy® (BMC; a monoclonal inhibitor of CTLA4 whiddctivates cytotoxic T-cells). With many additiomalccines and immune stimulatory agents in
development, industry analysts forecast that ttasket could grow to over $7 billion by 2015. Itoer goal to use a galectin inhibitor to enhance the
immune system function to fight cancer and, mogtdartant, that complements other approaches tdythesof therapy. Our drug candidates provide a
promising new therapeutic approach to enhancedtigty of the immune system against cancer cells.

We believe the mechanism of action for GM-CT-01 éRiMD-02 is based upon interaction with, and iitidb of, galectin proteins, which are
expressed at high levels in certain pathologicgkstincluding inflammation, fibrosis and cancehid/GM-CT-01 and GR-MD-02 are capable of
binding to multiple galectin proteins, we beliehatthey have the greatest affinity for galectinh® most prominent galectin implicated in pathatag
processes. Blocking galectin in cancer and liiemolis has specific salutary effects on the dispaseess, as discussed below.
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Liver Fibrosis: New Approach for a Significant Unme Medical Need

When an internal organ is exposed to chronic deseag of the responses is that scar tissue igltaigh in the organ (this process is called
fibrosis). The longer the disease affects the arj@more fibrous tissue is deposited and thisaliely results in the failure of the organ. Thisanic
fibrosis of organs may occur in the liver, lungikéy, and heart, as well as others and, as a rébuiisis of organs has been estimated to acdourats
much as 45% of all mortality. Scientific findingarihg the last few years indicate that the gale8tprotein is critically important in this fibrotigrocess
in multiple organs.

In the liver, fibrosis is the end result of mulgghflammatory conditions and infections. Progressiver fibrosis leads to scarring (cirrhosis),
which results in reduction of liver function, mplié medical complications and ultimately death. iNe&00,000 patients have cirrhosis in the United
States with close to 50,000 losing their lives fyed@@nly a fraction of patients’ lives have beenes by liver transplantation at a cost of approstaha
$350,000 per transplantation. One condition inipaldr that frequently leads to cirrhosis is nooedlolic steatohepatitis, or NASH, a liver disease
characterized by the accumulation of fat in theriwith associated inflammation and fibrosis, whielm lead to end-stage cirrhosis requiring liver
transplantation. The National Institute of Healgimates that 9 to 15 million Americans are affddig NASH and forecasts that the number of
Americans affected by this disease is growing duebesity and diabetes, with the potential to bextime leading cause of liver cirrhosis and liver
transplantation in the future. Liver transplantatie currently the only therapeutic approach to MAS other forms of liver fibrosis as, to the besbur
knowledge, there are no drug therapies on the madkgan transplantation is a difficult, risky aoaistly procedure as organ availability is scarad an
there is the risk of developing cirrhosis in thensplanted liver from the same disease that danthgaghtient’s original liver and therefore, theya
great need for other therapeutic options. All dissathat affect the liver (viral hepatitis, alcabdiver disease, and fatty liver as examples) leathe
development of scarring of the liver.

The primary focus of the company is to use galdatiibitors to block galectin-3 and treat organrgog or fibrosis in the liver. There are no
approved therapies for treatment of liver fibro¥i&e believe that our drug candidates have the fiatda treat NASH and other forms of liver fibresi
Scientific evidence strongly suggests that gale8tis essential for the development of liver fibsosi animals. Published data show that mice lacitie
galectin-3 gene, and thus unable to produce galctare incapable of developing liver fibrosig@sponse to toxic insult to the liver (Hendersof&)0
and in fatty liver disease (lacobini 2010). Moregvaice that do not have the galectin-3 gene aistant to lung (MacKinnon 2012, Nishi 2007) and
kidney fibrosis (Henderson 2008). These publishetd dhow that galectin-3 is a critical proteintfoe development of organ fibrosis. Our drugs, based
on experiments in well characterized animal modseis,also potentially useful in scarring or fibsosf other organs such as lung and kidney which
expands the possibilities for therapeutic indiaagio

We have evaluated the ability of GR-MD-02 to blgzkectin3 in animal models of liver fibrosis, the conclussoof which yielded positive resul
Our pre-clinical data show that GR-MD-02 may havherapeutic effect on liver fibrosis as shownéneral relevant animal models. Therefore, we
chose GR-MD-02 as the lead candidate in a developpregram targeted initially at fibrotic liver @diase associated with NASH. We evaluated GR-
MD-02 in pre-clinical toxicology and pharmacologydies during 2013 and filed an IND with the FDAJanuary 2013 for initiating human studies in
patients with NASH. In February 2013 we entered emt agreement with CTI Clinical Trial Servicesassist with the design, development and conduct
of one or more clinical research studies, spedifidar services with respect to our Phase | clitials to evaluate safety of GR-MO® in patients witt
NASH. The FDA notified us in March 2013 that we npagceed with a Phase | clinical trial for patiewith NASH and we expect to begin enrolli
patients in the Phase | clinical trial in the setguarter of 2013, with top line results expectgdhe end of 2013 or early 2014. Depending on ésalts
of the Phase | study, and available funding, we m#pate a Phase Il clinical trial in mid-2014 @ssess the efficacy of GR-MD-02 in patients with
NASH and advanced liver fibrosis with expectec-line clinical results by mid to late 2015. Our Beadl clinical program is likely to include additial
clinical trials to fully characterize human respens GR-MD-02 and to better position the Companyafsuccessful Phase lll clinical trial program.
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GR-MD-02 is a proprietary galactoarabino-rhamnocfali@nan polysaccharide polymer that is compriged@minantly of galacturonic acid,
galactose, arabinose, rhamnose, and smaller amolotiser sugars. Structural studies have shownGReMD-02 binds to galectin-1 (Miller 2009
Biochem J.) and to galectin-3 (Galectin Therapasutic. unpublished observations) with binding affino galectin-3 being significantly greater than
binding to galectin-1. Similar to GM-CT-01, GR-M2@argets extracellular galectins.

Some of the intellectual property protection for @R-MD-02 molecules and key features of this molednclude, amongst others:
»  Composition of matter patent pendi
» Method of use patent in liver fibrosis granted (81336,780
* Method of use patents pending in NASH and Cancenunotherapy

* IND submitted January 2013 for use in patients WikSH with advanced fibrosis; FDA gave approvaptoceed with a Phase | clinical
trial on March 1, 201

* Low toxicity potential because carbohydrates artab@ized to harmless compounds unlike other dtibgshave toxic metabolite

» API (active pharmaceutical ingredient) is relatyviglexpensive to manufacture as the starting nadtsrisourced from an abundant natural
material In pharmaceutically acceptable fc

»  Compound(s) for subcutaneous administration undeeldpmen

Galectin Inhibition in Cancer Therapy

We believe the potential exists for galectin intidsi to play an important role in cancer therapglegtin proteins, particularly galectin-1 and
galectin-3, have been shown to be highly express#te majority of cancers and have multiple rafepromoting cancer progression, including tumor
cell invasion, metastasis, angiogenesis, and t@wasion of the immune system. GM-CT-01 has progressdevelopment for the therapy of colorectal
cancer and is currently in a Phase /1l clinic@ltin Europe as a combination therapy with a tuwamcine in patients with advanced melanoma. The
current developmental approach for GM-CT-01 isrtbaace the activity of the immune system agairestdncer.

The role of galectins in cancer immunotherapy camfderstood through the “Galectin Effect”, a reatiscovery of how tumors avoid the body’s
own immune system, i.e., the tumors secrete gal@ctiteins that block the body’s efforts to fighirtors. Our current program to block the “Galectin
Effect” is based on the research of Dr. PierredanBruggen (of the Ludwig Institute of Cancer Rash in Brussels, Belgium), demonstrating that
galectin-3, which is produced by the vast majooiftjiuman cancers, binds to and blocks the actibhsnor-infiltrating T-lymphocytes, the major
immune cell in the body’s defense against can&ased on these results, we believe that the Isddyhune cells may be unable to attack and killdu
cells in the presence of galectins. Using this appn, the mechanism of action for GM-CT-01 seeksldok galectins and, in turn, restore the abitity
the T-lymphocytes to kill tumor cells.

In May 2012, we initiated a Phase I/Il clinicabirof GM-CT-01 in Belgium in combination with a twmvaccine in patients with advanced
melanoma, a deadly skin cancer. The Belgian Fedeyahcy of Medicine and Health Products, or FAMIdRanted approval for this clinical trial, which
is being conducted at three centers in Belgiumaradin Luxembourg. There are two primary cohortpatfents in this study, one where GM-CT-01 is
given intravenously (Cohort 1) and a second colwbgre GM-CT-01 is given both intravenously and dliseinjected into a cutaneous metastasis
(Cohort 2). Because of patient availability, Cohbis expected to be enrolled faster than Cohdfo2 each cohort, 6 patients will be enrolled st
one of the study, and if at least one out of sikepds has a response (PR or CR by RECIST critdhi@)remaining patients will be enrolled up to&k
of 23 per cohort. RECIST (Response Evaluation Gaiten Solid Tumors) is a set of published “ruldési’ evaluating the state of progression or remissio
of tumors in cancer patients. We expect the fimye of
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Cohort 1 of this trial (involving 6 evaluable patts) to be completed in the second or third quaft@013 and that it will provide data that couklider
an indication of efficacy. Depending on the resaoftStage 1, which is defined as a partial or catgptesponse by RECIST criteria in at least onebut
six patients, the study could continue enrolimentdmplete Stage 2 (46 total patients), initiateea Phase |l trial based on positive results onddeed
because of lack of efficacy. Stage 1 of the tgddéing funded by the Cancer Centre at the Clisiddmversitaires Saint-Luc and Stage 2 may require
funding from the Company, however, we have no cament to provide funding for such additional trigBalectin Therapeutics Inc. does not control
this Phase I/ll clinical trial in Belgium which B®ing conducted under an EMA-approved IMPD. An IM@estigational Medicinal Product Dossier)
is the basis for approval of clinical trials by végtory authorities in the European Union. GaleGtirerapeutics is the sponsor of an open IND apidici
under the FDA for GM-CT-01; no trials are currerlging conducted in the U.S.

There are potentially additional pathways for teeelopment of GM-CT-01 for use in treatment of @anGM-CT-01 was found to be generally
safe when studied in a Phase | clinical trial id-stage cancer patients with multiple tumor typdea@and in combination with 5-Fluorouracil (5-FU),
which is an FDA-approved chemotherapy used fottrimeat of various types of cancer. Three Phaseitliss were conducted, but were only partially
completed due to financing issues at the time. Basethese completed Phase | and partially compRese |l clinical trials, we are exploring
additional potential indications for the use of GM-01 in combination with cancer chemotherapy.

Patents and Proprietary Rights

Our development and commercial viability, and u#ttely our competitiveness, depend on our abilitge¢welop and maintain the proprietary
aspects of our technology and operate withoutrigfrig on the proprietary rights of others. We matya combination of patent, trademark, trade secret
and copyright law and contract restrictions to @cbthe proprietary aspects of our technologies séék to limit disclosure of our intellectual praye
by requiring employees, consultants, and any tbédies with access to our proprietary informatioexecute confidentiality agreements and by
restricting access to that information.

In July 2012, we received a notice of issuance ftioenU.S. Patent and Trademark Office for the B&ent number 8236780 issued on August 7,
2013 titled “Galactose-prolonged polysaccharides farmulation for antifibrotic therapies”. This theds patent covers key methods of derivation and
use for our carbohydrate-based galectin inhibitonpound for use in patients with chronic liver dise associated with the development of fibrosis,
established liver fibrosis or end-stage scarrimgsimhosis. The major claim is for a method ofaibing the galectin inhibitor compound, obtaining a
composition for parenteral administration in anegtable pharmaceutical carrier and administerirg $abject having at least one of the following:
chronic liver disease associated with the developroifibrosis, established liver fibrosis or ciodis. The use covers inhibiting or slowing the
progression of fibrosis or the reversal of fibro&&R-MD-02 is covered by this patent and it progid@portunities for development of additional
compounds in the class.

As of December 31, 2012, we held eight U.S. pat¢htee international patents, and have patenicagijgns pending from the U.S. Patent and
Trademark Office. Many of our patents and pateptiegtions cover composition of matter for compéaxbohydrate drugs and methods of use for
reducing toxicity and enhancing chemotherapeutigsiiby co-administering a polysaccharide with anattberapeutic agent or for use in treatment of
fibrosis. The scheduled expiration dates of ourtéthStates patents span from 2020 to 2032. We ¢@mvesponding patent applications pending in
Europe, Canada, Israel, Brazil, Japan, China argdralin. Additionally, we have patent applicatiom®ther areas to utilize our carbohydrate-based
compounds to treat disease other than cancer.Fsk Factors — Risks Related to Our Intellectuag@rty”. Our competitive position, in part, is
contingent upon protection of our intellectual pedy.



Table of Contents

Research

Our primary focus is on the design and testinggefins which target galectins in various in vitral &mvivo systems and which moreover
demonstrate efficacy in treatment of experimentaitjuced fibrosis or enhance immune system respensss in various tissues and in live animal
models. Our prior focus was on the design and aisabf galectin targeting therapeutics to imprdwe ¢linical benefit of chemotherapeutic agents and
biologics: GM-CT-01 was a result of this effort. Wentract with independent laboratories and otheitifies to conduct our research, which is desiggne
evaluated and managed by our scientists. Whileomeect in house research related to our compoun@Bld laboratories, we do not anticipate builc
additional in-house research or development fasslior hiring staff other than for purposes of desig and managing our out-sourced research.

As we develop products eligible for clinical tria¥ge contract with independent parties to assighéndesign of the clinical trial protocols, arrang
for and monitor the clinical trials, collect datadsanalyze data. In addition, certain clinicallsrior our products may be conducted by government-
sponsored agencies and will be dependent on goesttaiparticipation and funding. Our dependencendapendent parties and clinical sites involves
risks including reduced control over the timing anler aspects of our clinical trials.

In February 2013, the Company established a calidive drug discovery program with Dr. Geert-JarBs (“Dr. Boons”) laboratory located in
the Complex Carbohydrate Research Center at theetsity of Georgia. This program is focused ondtseovery of new carbohydrate molecules that
can be used in the therapy of diseases where gafgoteins play a major role, including cancer &flammatory and fibrotic disorders. The aim o
program is to develop a pipeline of drugs thattesget galectins. This is an important goal a®felbn compounds for our drugs currently in
development and to extend the potential indicatanms routes of administration. The Complex CarboltglResearch Center is a world-class program
and Dr. Boons is a world renowned and pre-eminartighydrate chemist.

Our research and development expenditures tot@@d $nillion for the cumulative period from incegmti (July 10, 2000) through December 31,
2012. During the years ended December 31, 2012@hd, our expenditures for research and developmerg $4.5 million and $3.6 million,
respectively. We expense all research and developeoosts as they are incurred.

Manufacturing and Marketing

We are a development stage company at this timelambt intend to establish internal facilities foe manufacture of our products for clinical or
commercial production. To have our products martufad, we have developed and will continue to dgveélationships with third-parties that have
established pharmaceutical manufacturing capadsilaind expertise. We are not a party to any long-égreement with any of our suppliers and,
accordingly, we have our products manufactured parahase-order basis from one of two primary Wwathwn and established pharmaceutical
suppliers.

Because our products are in the development stagbave not created a sales and marketing staffrtonercialize pharmaceutical products. If
we develop products eligible for commercial sale,will need to develop a sales and marketing céipabr rely on third parties such as licensees,
collaborators, joint venture partners or indepemndistributors to market and sell those producis: @pendence on third-party manufacturers and
marketers will involve risks relating to our reddaspntrol, and other risks including those discdsse'Risk Factors — Risks Related to our Company
— There are risks associated with reliance on théndies for manufacturing, marketing, sales, madagee and distribution infrastructure channels.”

Competition

Many biotechnology and pharmaceutical companieslaveloping new technologies for the treatmentamicer and other diseases. Technologies
such as monoclonal antibodies could be competitite our galectin
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therapeutic platforms. Other companies are tryingmiprove the therapeutic profile of widely usedtpin-based drugs. While these companies may
broaden the market for our products they may atewige competitive alternatives to our products. 8pect increased competition in the area of
galectins will be fueled by a nearly exponentia@ré@ase in the publication rate of research papegatectins.

See “Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Companwe-face intense competition in the biotechnology pharmaceutical industries” for
additional discussion related to our current anemtial competition.

Government Regulation

The research, development, testing, manufactuseliteg, promotion, advertising, distribution, andneting, among other things, of our products
are extensively regulated by governmental autlesriti the United States and other countries. Th& FEgulates drugs under the federal Food, Drug,
and Cosmetic Act and its implementing regulatidfelure to comply with the applicable U.S. requiesms may subject us to administrative or judicial
sanctions, such as FDA refusal to approve pendig Nrug Applications (“NDAs"), warning letters, piact recalls, product seizures, total or partial
suspension of production or distribution, injuno8pand/or criminal prosecution.

Drug Approval Process

Drugs may not be marketed in the U.S. until the Fi2& approved them. The steps required beforegardaly be marketed in the U.S. include:
Pre-clinical laboratory tests, animal studies, and falation studies
Submission to the FDA of an IND for human clinitagting, which must become effective before huniauical trials may begin
Adequate and we-controlled human clinical trials to establish tlaéesy and efficacy of the drug for each indicati
Submission to the FDA of a ND¢/

Satisfactory completion of an FDA inspectiortted manufacturing facility or facilities, at whithe drug is produced to assess compliance
with current good manufacturing procedur‘cGMF”) established by the FD/

ok~ DN

6. FDA review and approval of the NDA, al
7. FDA review and approval of a trademark used in eation with a pharmaceutici

Pre-clinical tests include laboratory evaluatiorpodduct chemistry, toxicity, and formulation, aslixas numerous in vitro and in vivo animal
studies. The results of the pre-clinical testsetbgr with manufacturing information and analytidata, are submitted to the FDA as part of an IND,
which must become effective before human clinidalg may begin and the Company must resolve atstanding FDA concerns or questions before
clinical trials can proceed. There is no certathigt submission of an IND will result in the FDAaling clinical trials to begin.

Clinical trials involve the administration of theviestigational drug to human subjects under thersigion of qualified investigators and constant
oversight by the FDA or foreign regulatory authiest Clinical trials are conducted under protoatdtailing the objectives of the study, the paramsete
be used in monitoring safety, and the effectiverneissria to be evaluated. Each protocol must lirstied to the FDA as part of the IND.

Clinical trials typically are conducted in threejsential phases, but the phases may overlap corbbioed. Each trial must be reviewed and
approved by an independent Institutional ReviewrBddRB”), before it can begin. Study subjects msign an informed consent form before
participating in a clinical trial.
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Phase | usually involves the initial introductidintioe investigational drug into patients to evatuiéé safety, dosage tolerance, pharmacodynanids if
possible, to gain an early indication of its effeehess. Phase Il usually involves trials in afe@dipatient population to (i) evaluate dosage twlee and
appropriate dosage; (ii) identify possible adverects and safety risks; and (iii) evaluate préiamily the efficacy of the drug for specific indittons.
Phase Il trials usually further evaluate cliniefficacy and test further for safety by using thegdin its final form in an expanded patient popiola
There is no assurance that these trials will bepterad within a specified period of time, if at.all

Assuming successful completion of the requiredicdiintesting, the results of the pre-clinical segdand of the clinical studies, together with other
detailed information, including information on thanufacture and composition of the drug, are subthib the FDA in an NDA requesting approval to
market the product for one or more indications.dBefapproving an NDA, the FDA usually will inspélee facilities at which the drug is manufactured,
and will not approve the product unless complianith cGMP is satisfactory. If the FDA evaluates tBA and the manufacturing facilities as
acceptable, the FDA will generally issue an applrtetéer. If the FDA evaluates the NDA submissiartiee manufacturing facilities as not acceptable,
the FDA will generally outline the deficienciestire submission and often will request additionstitey or information. Even if an applicant subntite
requested additional information, the FDA ultimgtelay decide that the NDA does not satisfy the laguy criteria for approval. The testing and
approval process requires substantial time, eféord, financial resources, and there is no assuthacany approval will be granted on a timely basi
at all. After approval, certain changes to the aped product, such as adding new indications, natufing changes, or additional labeling claims are
subject to further FDA review and approval.

See “Risk Factors — Risks Related to the Regulaifodur Products — We will need regulatory appreval commercialize our products” for
additional discussion of regulatory risks relate@trr drug development program.

FDA Priority Review

FDA procedures provide for priority review of an MBubmitted for drugs that, compared to currentirketed products, offer a significant
improvement in the treatment, diagnosis, or pravertf a disease. NDAs that are granted priorityaw are acted upon more quickly than NDAs given
standard review. If we were to seek priority revi¢here can be no guarantee that the FDA will gpaiatrity review status, that priority review statu
will affect the time of review, or that the FDA Wwépprove the NDA submitted for any of our prodoahdidates, whether or not priority review status i
granted.

Post-Approval Requirements

If FDA approval of one or more of our products i@aned, we will be required to comply with a numbg&post-approval requirements. For
example, holders of an approved NDA are requiregport certain adverse reactions to the FDA arabtoply with certain requirements concerning
advertising and promotional labeling for their pnots. Also, quality control and manufacturing priwess must continue to conform to cGMP after
approval, and the FDA periodically inspects mantufidqeg facilities to assess compliance with cGMIcérdingly, manufacturers must continue to
expend time, money, and effort in the area of pctida and quality control to maintain cGMP comptianin addition, discovery of problems with a
product after approval may result in restrictionsagproduct, manufacturer, or holder of an apprdvBd, including withdrawal of the product from the
market. Also, new government requirements may tabéished that could delay or prevent regulatonyrapal of our products under development.

Regulation Outside the United States

Before our products can be marketed outside obitieed States, they are subject to regulatory aggrsimilar to that required in the United
States, although the requirements governing thdwarof clinical trials,
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product licensing, pricing and reimbursement vaigely from country to country. No action can begako market any product in a country until an
appropriate application has been approved by telagory authorities in that country. The curreppeoval process varies from country to country, and
the time spent in gaining approval varies from tieguired for FDA approval. In certain countrids sales price of a product must also be approved.
The pricing review period often begins after maggproval is granted. No assurance can be giverette if a product is approved by a regulatory
authority, satisfactory prices will be approved $och product.

Environmental Regulation

Pharmaceutical research and development invoheesdhtrolled use of hazardous materials. Bioteagohand pharmaceutical companies must
comply with laws and regulations governing the gmmeration, manufacture, storage, air emissidiuegtt discharge, handling and disposal of certain
materials, biological specimens and wastes. Weod@amticipate building in-house research, develagire manufacturing facilities, and, accordingly,
do not expect to have to comply directly with eomimental regulation. However, our contractors aheérs conducting research, development or
manufacturing activities for us may be requireihttur significant compliance cost, and this couldurn could increase our expense or delay our
completion of research or manufacturing programs.

Employees

We currently have five full-time employees, twovdiom are involved primarily in management of oug-plinical research and development and
clinical trials and three who were involved priniain management and administration of our Compaig.also have two contractors who provide
product development, manufacture and clinical siglport and two contractors who provide finangiahagement services.

ltem 1A. Risk Factors

An investment in our common stock involves a higlgrée of risk. You should carefully consider ttesidescribed below and the other
information before deciding to invest in our comnsdock. The risks described below are not the onlys facing our Company. Additional risks not
presently known to us or that we currently considenaterial may also adversely affect our businéés have attempted to identify below the major
factors that could cause differences between aathplanned or expected results, but we cannatagsu that we have identified all of those fastor

If any of the following risks actually happen, duwsiness, financial condition and operating reszdtdd be materially adversely affected. In this
case, the trading price of our common stock coeldide, and you could lose all or part of your isiveent.

Risks Related to Our Company
We have incurred net losses to date and must raidditional capital by the end of the first quartef 2014 in order to continue to operate.

We have incurred net losses in each year of operatnce our inception in July 2000. Our accumulateficit as of December 31, 2012 was $80.0
million and our cumulative net loss applicable tonenon stockholders as of December 31, 2012 wa8$8illion. Based on $9.4 million of unrestricted
cash as of December 31, 2012, we believe that we $afficient cash to meet our financial and opegabbligations through the first quarter of 2014.
We will require more cash to fund our operationd bhalieve that we will be able to obtain additiofiahncing. However, there can be no assurance that
we will be successful in obtaining such new finagodr, if available, that such financing will betaimable on terms favorable to us. We must raise
additional cash by the end of the first quarte2@f4, or we may not be able to continue operatiorsmay be forced to seek bankruptcy protection.
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We may raise capital through public or private ggfinancings, partnerships, debt financings, bbokowings, or other sources. Additional
funding may not be available on favorable termatall. If adequate funds are not otherwise avhilalbe may need to significantly curtail operations
To obtain additional funding, we may need to ety arrangements that require us to relinquishtsigo certain technologies, products and/or p@kent
markets. To the extent that additional capitakised through the sale of equity, or securitievedible into equity, our equity holders may expede
dilution of their proportionate ownership of ther@gany.

We are a development stage company and have najgmerated any revenue.

We are a development stage company and have netajed any revenues to date. There is no assuitiaaicee will obtain FDA approval of GR-
MD-02, GM-CT-01, or any other of our products in development aven if we do so, that we will generate reverufécsent to become profitable. O
failure to generate revenue and profit would likielgd to loss of your investment.

We are largely dependent on the success of our lveal product candidates, GR-MD-02 and GM-CT-01 ard cannot be certain that these
product candidates will receive regulatory approwalbe successfully commercialized.

We currently have no products for sale and we cegunarantee that we will ever have any drug praslapproved for sale. We and our product
candidates are subject to extensive regulatiomn®yDA and comparable regulatory authorities irepttountries governing, among other things,
research, testing, clinical trials, manufacturitadpeling, promotion, selling, adverse event repgriind recordkeeping. We are not permitted to ntarke
any of our product candidates in or outside thadghStates until we receive approval of a new dgglication for a product candidate from the FDA or
the equivalent approval from a foreign regulatamharity. Obtaining FDA approval is a lengthy, erp&e and uncertain process.

Before obtaining regulatory approval for the sdlamy drug candidate, we must conduct extensiveclingcal studies and clinical trials to
demonstrate the safety and efficacy of our prodantidates in humans.

GR-MD-02 our lead product candidate for fibrosipassed to enter the human clinical trial phasdrafy development in the US. GM-CT-01, our
second product candidate, is currently in humamadi trials in Belgium for use in combination wipleptide vaccine for therapy of metastatic melan
We cannot assure you that these trials will yieidcgessful results, that they will lead to the gatien of revenue, or that we will obtain regulatory
approval in other countries.

There are currently no FDA clinical trials undervfay GM-CT-01. The Phase I/1l clinical trial in Belgium is bgiconducted under an IMPD frc
the EMA, under an FDA-approved IND.

We filed for an IND with the FDA for GR-MD-02 in daary 2013 for initiating human clinical trials ratients with NASH, and the FDA notified
us in March 2013 that we may proceed with a Phatieital trial. Pre-clinical studies and clinidaials are expensive, time-consuming and ultimately
may not be successful. The results of pre-cliréecal initial clinical testing of these products nmat necessarily indicate the results that will beamed
from later or more extensive testing. Also, it spible to suffer significant setbacks in advandedcal trials, even after obtaining promisingués in
earlier trials. For example, even though GM-CT-@dgpessed successfully through Phase | and wasessigg successfully through Phase Il human
trials (which were only partially completed duefittancing issues in 2010), it may fail in Phasettihls or in later stages of development. We will
engage others to conduct our clinical trials, idalg clinical research organizations and, possiphvernment-sponsored agencies. Pre-clinical sfudie
and clinical trials may not start or be completsdve forecast and may not achieve the desiredtsediie time required to obtain FDA and other
approvals is unpredictable but often can take yidisving the commencement of clinical trials, éaging upon the complexity of the drug candidate.
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Even if we receive regulatory approval, we may lmahble to commercialize our product candidates.

Even if GR-MD-02, GM-CT-01 and other anticipatedguct candidates achieve positive results in dinicals, we may be unable to
commercialize them. The availability of governmant third party payor reimbursement, and pricirspeeially compared to competitor products, cc
affect our ability to commercialize our product datates. Our general inability to obtain necessagylatory approvals and, if obtained, to
commercialize our products would substantially impar viability.

There are risks associated with our reliance onrthparties to design trial protocols, arrange fond monitor the clinical trials, and collect and
analyze data.

As we develop products eligible for clinical tria¥ge will contract with independent parties to asss in the design of the trial protocols, arrange
for and monitor the clinical trials, collect datadsanalyze data. For instance, in February 2013&ntered into an agreement with CTI Clinical Trial
Services, Inc. and CTI Clinical Consulting Servides. for the purpose of assisting us in the desifgvelopment and conduct of one or more clinical
research studies from time to time. In accordanitie this agreement, CTI will be conducting the Rhhslinical trial for GR-MD-02 to evaluate the
drug’s safety in subjects with NASH with advancegbétic fibrosis. In addition, certain clinical tddor our products may be conducted by government-
sponsored agencies and will be dependent on goesrtiahparticipation and funding. Our dependencendapendent parties and clinical sites involves
risks including reduced control over the timing anker aspects of our clinical trials.

There are risks associated with our reliance onrthparties for manufacturing, marketing, sales, maged care and distribution infrastructure
and channels.

We do not have, and do not now intend to develagilifies for the manufacture of any of our produidr clinical or commercial production. At
this time, we are not a party to any long-term agrent with any of our suppliers, and accordinglg,vve our products manufactured on a purchase-
order basis from one of two primary suppliers. \WWedeveloping relationships with manufacturers @ildenter into collaborative arrangements with
licensees or have others manufacture our producésamntract basis. We expect to depend on suéboohtors to supply us with products
manufactured in compliance with standards imposetth®& FDA and foreign regulators.

We have limited experience in marketing, salesigtridution, and we do not intend to develop asaled marketing infrastructure to
commercialize our pharmaceutical products. If weettgp commercial products, we will need to relylisensees, collaborators, joint venture partners or
independent distributors to market and sell thasduycts. Thus, we expect that we will be requiedriter into agreements with commercial partners to
engage in sales, marketing and distribution effartaind our products in development. We may be lertatestablish or maintain third-party
relationships on a commercially reasonable bas,dll. In addition, these third parties may hairailar or more established relationships with our
competitors. If we do not enter into relationshipth third parties for the sales and marketing f proposed products, we will need to develop aun o
sales and marketing capabilities.

Even if engaged, these distributors may:
« falil to satisfy financial or contractual obligat®to us;
« fail to adequately market our produc
e cease operations with little or no notice to us
» offer, design, manufacture or promote competingifdations or product:

If we fail to develop sales, managed care, margedimd distribution channels, we would experiendaydein generating sales and incur increased
costs, which would harm our financial results.

12
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We are exposed to product liability, pre-clinicahd clinical liability risks, which could place a fiancial burden upon us, should we be sued,
because we do not currently have product liabilifgurance beyond our general insurance coverage.

Our business exposes us to potential product iiplaihd other liability risks that are inherenttire testing, manufacturing and marketing of
pharmaceutical formulations and products; accotgjrajaims may be asserted against us. In additt@pse in our clinical trials of pharmaceutical
formulations and products that our potential call@bors may develop and the subsequent sale offetrinlations or products by us or our potential
collaborators may cause us to assume a portionalf of the product liability risks. A successfidbility claim or series of claims brought against
could have a material adverse effect on our busjrfgncial condition and results of operations.

Because we do not currently have any FDA-approvedycts or formulations, we do not currently hamg product liability insurance covering
commercialized products. We may not be able toinlstamaintain adequate product liability insuraoceacceptable terms, if at all, or such insurance
may not provide adequate coverage against our f@téabilities. Furthermore, our current and patial partners with whom we have collaborative
agreements or our future licensees may not bengitlb indemnify us against these types of lialeitand may not, themselves, be sufficiently insored
have sufficient liquidity to satisfy any productlility claims. Claims or losses in excess of arpdpct liability insurance coverage that may beaotsd
by us could have a material adverse effect on asinless, financial condition and results of operei

We face intense competition in the biotechnologydgsharmaceutical industries.

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industriesraemsely competitive. We face direct competitiomm U.S. and foreign companies focusing
on pharmaceutical products, which are rapidly emglvOur competitors include major multinationabpimaceutical and chemical companies,
specialized biotechnology firms and universitied ather research institutions. Many of these coitgrstpossess greater financial and other resources
larger research and development staffs and moeetefé marketing and manufacturing organizatiomas tive possess. In addition, academic and
government institutions are increasingly likelyetater into exclusive licensing agreements with cemuial enterprises, including our competitors, to
market commercial products based on technologyldpgd at such institutions. Our competitors maycsed in developing or licensing technologies
and products that are more effective, or succeethtaining FDA or other regulatory approvals fooguct candidates before we do. Acquisitions of, or
investments in, competing pharmaceutical or biatetdgy companies by large corporations could inegesuch competitors’ financial, marketing,
manufacturing and other resources.

The market for our proposed products is rapidly e¢fging and competitive, and new drugs and new treants which may be developed by others
could impair our ability to maintain and grow ourisiness and remain competitive.

The pharmaceutical and biotechnology industriesabgect to rapid and substantial technologicahgleaDevelopments by others may render our
proposed products noncompetitive or obsolete, omag be unable to keep pace with technological ldpweents or other market factors. Technological
competition from pharmaceutical and biotechnologsnpanies, universities, governmental entities ahdrg diversifying into the field is intense and is
expected to increase.

As a pre-revenue company engaged in the developofieintig technologies, our resources are limitetdi\vaa may experience technical challenges
inherent in such technologies. Competitors haveldged or are in the process of developing teclyiedothat are, or in the future may be, the basis f
competition. Some of these technologies may hawenérely different approach or means of accompiiglsimilar therapeutic effects compared to our
proposed products. Our competitors may developditiuat are safer, more effective and less coséliy ur proposed products and, therefore, present a
serious competitive threat to us.
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The potential widespread acceptance of therap&stie alternatives to ours may limit market acaepe of our proposed products, even if
commercialized. Many of our targeted diseases anditions can also be treated by other medicatibhsse treatments may be widely accepted in
medical communities and have a longer history ef U$ie established use of these competitive drwayslimit the potential for our technologies,
formulations and products to receive widesprea@ptanice even if commercialized.

Our lack of operating experience may cause us diffity in managing our growth.

We have limited experience in manufacturing or proxg products in commercial quantities, conductitiger later-stage phases of the regulatory
approval process, selling pharmaceutical productaggotiating, establishing and maintaining sgiteelationships. Although we have engaged a
number of consultants to assist us, any additigrath may require us to expand our managementatipeal and financial systems and controls. If we
are unable to do so, our business and financialiton would be materially harmed. If rapid growdbcurs, it may strain our managerial, operationa
financial resources.

We depend on key individuals to develop our produaihd core technologies and pursue collaborativatienships.

We are highly dependent on Peter G. Traber, M.DTaber is our Chief Executive Officer and our €tVedical Officer who, among other
things, designs and leads our pre-clinical andadirstudies, as well as our U.S. and Europeanla&my processes. The loss of Dr. Traber or faitore
attract or retain other key personnel could prewsrfrom developing our products and core techrieiognd pursuing collaborative relationships.

We may be unable to comply with our reporting antther requirements under federal securities laws.

As a publicly traded company, we are subject tar#perting requirements of the Exchange Act. Thehiaxge Act requires that we file annual,
quarterly and current reports. Our failure to premand disclose this information in a timely mano@uld subject us to penalties under federal stesiri
laws, expose us to lawsuits and restrict our ghititaccess financing. We may be required to impletradditional and expensive finance and accounting
systems, procedures and controls as we grow oumdsssand organization to satisfy new reportingiireenents, which will increase our costs and
require additional management resources.

Risks Related to the Regulation of our Products
We will need regulatory approvals to commercialingr products.

We are required to obtain approval (i) from the FibArder to sell our products in the U.S. andf(im foreign regulatory authorities in order to
sell our products in other countries. The FDA’siegvand approval process is lengthy, expensiveusioertain. Extensive pre-clinical and clinical data
and supporting information must be submitted toRB& for each indication for each product candidaterder to secure FDA approval. Before
receiving FDA clearance to market our proposed petg] we will have to demonstrate that our prodactssafe on the patient population and effective
for the diseases that are to be treated. Clinitzdsf manufacturing and marketing of drugs argesttlio the rigorous testing and approval procéske
FDA and equivalent foreign regulatory authoriti€éee Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act and oterial, state and foreign statutes and regulations
govern and influence the testing, manufacture liapeadvertising, distribution and promotion ofuigs and medical devices. As a result, regulatory
approvals can take several years to acquire andunidner require the expenditure of substantiahficial, managerial and other resources. The FDA
could reject an application or, in the alternatnegjuire us to conduct additional clinical or otkerdies as part of the regulatory review procBstays
in obtaining or failure to obtain FDA approvals viddelay or prevent the commercialization of ousdarct candidates, which would prevent, defer or
decrease our receipt of revenues. In addition,lshea receive initial regulatory approval, our pueticandidates will be subject to extensive and
rigorous ongoing domestic and foreign governmegtliagion.
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Even if we obtain regulatory approvals, our marketdrugs will be subject to ongoing regulatory rewielf we fail to comply with ongoing
regulatory requirements, we could lose our appravéd market drugs, in which case our business wobh&lmaterially adversely affected.

Following regulatory approval in the United Stabésny drugs we may develop, we will remain subjeatontinuing regulatory review, including
the review of adverse drug experiences and climesllts that are reported after our drug prodatsmade available to patients. This would include
results from any post marketing tests or vigilareguired as a condition of approval. The manufactand manufacturing facilities we use to make any
of our drug products will also be subject to peidagview and inspection by the FDA. The discovefyany new or previously unknown problems with
the product, manufacturer or facility may resultéstrictions on the drug or manufacturer or fagilincluding withdrawal of the drug from the matke
We would continue to be subject to the FDA requigata governing the labeling, packaging, storageeiiging, promotion, recordkeeping, and
submission of safety and other post-market infoiwnafor all of our product candidates, even thdss the FDA had approved. If we fail to comply with
applicable continuing regulatory requirements, way e subject to fines, suspension or withdrawaégtilatory approval, product recalls and seizures,
operating restrictions and other adverse conse@senc

The drug development process to obtain FDA appragalery costly and time consuming and if we caniotmplete our clinical trials in a cost-
effective manner, our results of operations may dmtversely affected.

Costs and timing of clinical trials may vary sigo#ntly over the life of a project owing to thelfaing non-exclusive reasons:
* the duration of the clinical tria
* the number of sites included in the tri
» the countries in which the trial is conduct
» the length of time required and ability to enrdigible patients;
» the number of patients that participate in thdgy
» the number of doses that patients rece
» the droj-out or discontinuation rates of patier
e per patient trial cost:
» third party contractors failing to comply with régtory requirements or meet their contractual ailns to us in a timely mann
» our drug product candidates having different chairand pharmacological properties in humans thdakinesting
* the need to suspend or terminate our clinicaldy
» insufficient or inadequate supply or quality of dioroduct candidates or other necessary matedasriduct our trials

» potential additional safety monitoring, or othendaions required by FDA or comparable foreign degary authorities regarding the scope
or design of our clinical trials, or other studiegiuested by regulatory agenci

» problems engaging IRBs to oversee trials or iniobtg and maintaining IRB approval of studi
» the duration of patient follo-up;

» the efficacy and safety profile of the product ddatk;

» the costs and timing of obtaining regulatory appisyanc

» the costs involved in enforcing or defending patdaims or other intellectual property righ
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If users of our proposed products are unable to @btadequate reimbursement from third-party payensarket acceptance of our proposed
products may be limited and we may not achieve rexas or profits.

The continuing efforts of governments, insuranampanies, health maintenance organizations and ptyars of healthcare costs to contain or
reduce costs of health care may affect our futewemues and profitability as well as the futureerexes and profitability of our potential customers,
suppliers and collaborative partners in additiothmavailability of capital. In other words, ounility to commercialize our proposed products will
depend in large part on the extent to which appatgreimbursement levels for the cost of our psggicformulations, products and related treatmee
obtained by the health care providers of theseumsdand treatments. At this time we cannot pratiefprecise impact of the Patient Protection and
Affordable Care Act of 2010, as amended by the the@are and Education Affordability Act of 2010etbomprehensive health care reform legislation
passed by Congress in March 2010. It is possilaiettte adoption of this legislation could harm business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Data obtained from clinical trials may be negatiwee inconclusive, and are susceptible to varyingenpretations, which could delay, limit or
prevent regulatory clearances.

Data already obtained, or in the future obtainesinfpre-clinical studies and clinical trials do metcessarily predict the results that will be
obtained from later pre-clinical studies and clahitials. Moreover, pre-clinical and clinical dateay be negative or inconclusive. In addition, data
susceptible to varying interpretations. Negativénoonclusive data, or data interpreted in varimags, could delay, limit or prevent regulatory apai.
A number of companies in the pharmaceutical ingusaive suffered significant setbacks in advanciricell trials, even after having obtained promis
results in earlier trials. The failure to adequatidmonstrate the safety and effectiveness of posed formulation or product under developmentaoul
delay or prevent regulatory clearance of the paiedtug. The resulting delays in commercializatomuld materially harm our business. Our clinical
trials may not demonstrate sufficient levels oesafaind efficacy necessary to obtain the requistj@latory approvals for our drugs, and thus, our
proposed drugs may not be approved for marketing.

We will need to obtain FDA approval of any proposgbduct brand names, and any failure or delay asisded with such approval may adversely
impact our business.

A pharmaceutical product cannot be marketed irti& or other countries until it has completed riges and extensive regulatory review
processes, including approval of a brand name.l&agd names we intend to use for our product caeldwill require approval from the FDA
regardless of whether we have secured a formatitnack registration from the U.S. Patent and Tradkr@dfice, or the PTO. The FDA typically
conducts a review of proposed product brand namelsiding an evaluation of potential for confusieith other product names. The FDA may also
object to a product brand name if it believes tame inappropriately implies medical claims. If #2A objects to any of our proposed product brand
names, we may be required to adopt an alternatasednmame for our product candidates. If we adoglternative brand name, we would lose the
benefit of our existing trademark applicationss$ach product candidate and may be required to ekpigmificant additional resources in an effort to
identify a suitable product brand name that wouwldldy under applicable trademark laws, not inferthe existing rights of third parties and be
acceptable to the FDA. We may be unable to buddaessful brand identity for a new trademark timely manner or at all, which would limit our
ability to commercialize our product candidates.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
Our competitive position is contingent upon the peation of our intellectual property.

Development and protection of our intellectual mnayp are critical to our business. All of our inéetual property, patented or otherwise, has been
invented and/or developed by employees or formgri@yees of the Company. Our success depends, tingmaour ability to obtain patent protection for
our products or processes in
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the U.S. and other countries, protect trade searetprevent others from infringing on our progigtrights. We will only be able to protect our guat
candidates from unauthorized making, using, sellaffgring to sell or importation by third partiesthe extent that we have rights under valid and
enforceable patents or trade secrets that covse thetivities. If we do not adequately protectiatellectual property, competitors may be able to
practice our technologies.

The patent positions of pharmaceutical and bioteldgy companies can be highly uncertain and invetvaplex legal and factual questions for
which important legal principles remain unresolvidd. consistent policy regarding the breadth ofralallowed in biotechnology patents has emerg
date in the United States. The biotechnology pat#mation outside the United States is even maperain. Changes in either the patent laws or in
interpretations of patent laws in the United Stated other countries may diminish the value ofintellectual property. Accordingly, we cannot predi
the breadth of claims that may be allowed in ourdirey patent applications or enforced in our issp@ints or in third-party patents.

The degree of future protection for our proprietagits is uncertain because legal means afford limited protection and may not adequately
protect our rights or permit us to gain or keep @ampetitive advantage. For example:

» others may be able to make compounds that are diivpevith our product candidates but are not cedeby the claims of our paten
* we might not have been the first to make the ineastcovered by our pending patent applicati

* we might not have been the first to file patentlaagions for these invention

» itis possible that our pending patent applicatiatisnot result in issued patent

* we may not develop additional proprietary techni@edhat are patentable;

» the patents of others may have an adverse effegtiohusiness

We also may rely on trade secrets to protect ahmtelogy, especially where we do not believe papeotection is appropriate or obtainable.
However, trade secrets are difficult to protecthaligh we require our scientific and technical esypks and consultants to enter into broad assignmen
of inventions agreements, and all of our employeessultants and corporate partners with accegsofwrietary information to enter into confidentigli
agreements, these agreements may not be honoredciEg a claim that a third party illegally obtaih and is using, our trade secrets is expenside an
time consuming, and the outcome is unpredictabladdition, courts outside the United States anmeetiones less willing to protect trade secrets.
Moreover, our competitors may independently develgpivalent knowledge, methods and know-how.

We may incur substantial costs as a result of l&tgn or other proceedings relating to patent anther intellectual property rights and we may be
unable to protect our rights to, or use of, our tawlogy.

Some or all of our patent applications may notésas patents, or the claims of any issued pateaysnot afford meaningful protection for our
technologies or products. In addition, patentsedso us or our licensors, if any, may be challengred subsequently narrowed, invalidated or
circumvented. Patent litigation is widespread i tiiotechnology industry and could harm our businkgigation might be necessary to protect our
patent position or to determine the scope and itwalad third-party proprietary rights.

If we choose to go to court to stop someone etsa fusing the inventions claimed in our patents, ithdividual or company would have the right
to ask the court to rule that such patents ardishead/or should not be enforced against thattharty. These lawsuits are expensive and we may no
have the required resources to pursue such litigati to protect our patent rights. In additiorerthis a risk that the court will decide that thpagents
are not valid and that we do not have the riglstop the other party from using the inventions.réhie also the risk that, even if the validity bése
patents is upheld, the court will refuse to stapdther party on the ground that such other paagtivities do not infringe our rights in theseguas.
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Furthermore, a third party may claim that we aiegigventions covered by the third party’s patégihts and may go to court to stop us from
engaging in our normal operations and activitiesluiding making or selling our product candidafésese lawsuits are costly and could affect ourlts
of operations and divert the attention of managderid technical personnel. There is a risk thaturtowvould decide that we are infringing the third
party’s patents and would order us to stop thesitiets covered by the patents. In addition, thera risk that a court will order us to pay the ofberty
treble damages for having violated the other panpgtents. The biotechnology industry has prodageabliferation of patents, and it is not alwaysaz!
to industry participants, including us, which pasecover various types of products or methods ef like coverage of patents is subject to interposta
by the courts, and the interpretation is not alwayiorm. If we are sued for patent infringemeng would need to demonstrate that our products or
methods of use either do not infringe the claimthefrelevant patent and/or that the patent clairasnvalid, and we may not be able to do thisvirig
invalidity in the U.S., in particular, is difficultince it requires a showing of clear and convig@widence to overcome the presumption of validity
enjoyed by issued patents.

Because some patent applications in the Unite@Staay be maintained in secrecy until the pateetssaued, patent applications in the United
States and many foreign jurisdictions are typicatly published until eighteen months after filiagd publications in the scientific literature ofteg
behind actual discoveries, we cannot be certainatteers have not filed patent applications fohtesdogy covered by our issued patents or our pgndin
applications or that we were the first to inverd tachnology. Our competitors may have filed, amy im the future file, patent applications covering
technology similar to ours. Any such patent appi@amay have priority over our patent applicatiamsl could further require us to obtain rights to
issued patents covering such technologies. If @amgiarty has filed a United States patent appboadin inventions similar to ours, we may have to
participate in an interference or other proceedintpe PTO or a court to determine priority of intien in the United States. The costs of these
proceedings could be substantial, and it is possiiat such efforts would be unsuccessful, regultira loss of our United States patent positioth wi
respect to such inventions.

Some of our competitors may be able to sustairdises of complex patent litigation more effectivéign we can because they have substantially
greater resources. In addition, any uncertaintisslting from the initiation and continuation ofyditigation could have a material adverse effatibor
ability to raise the funds necessary to continueoperations.

Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depds upon compliance with various procedural, dooamm submission, fee payment and other
requirements imposed by governmental patent agesicéad our patent protection could be reduced dmehated for non-compliance with these
requirements.

The PTO and various foreign governmental patenteigs require compliance with a number of procedd@aumentary, fee payment and other
provisions during the patent process. There avatiins in which noncompliance can result in abanaent or lapse of a patent or patent application,
resulting in partial or complete loss of patenhtggin the relevant jurisdiction. In such an eveninpetitors might be able to enter the markeieratian
would otherwise have been the case.

Our failure to secure trademark registration coultiversely affect our ability to market our producandidates and our business.

Our trademark applications in the United Statesmfiled, and any other jurisdictions where we rfilgymay not be allowed for registration, and
our registered trademarks may not be maintaineshforced. During trademark registration proceedimgsmay receive rejections. Although we are
given an opportunity to respond to those rejectisrismay be unable to overcome such rejectionadttition, in the PTO and in comparable agencies in
many foreign jurisdictions, third parties are givemopportunity to oppose pending trademark apjidica and to seek to cancel registered trademarks.
Opposition or cancellation proceedings may be fidgdinst our applications and/or registrations, amdapplications and/or registrations may not
survive such
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proceedings. Failure to secure such trademarktratisns in the United States and in foreign judidns could adversely affect our ability to marker
product candidates and our business.

Confidentiality agreements with employees and otharay not adequately prevent disclosure of our eescrets and other proprietary informati
and may not adequately protect our intellectual perty, which could impede our ability to compete.

Because we operate in the highly technical fieldiofechnology and pharmaceutical development,elein part on trade secret protection in
order to protect our proprietary trade secretswarghtented know-how. However, trade secrets afieulifto protect, and we cannot be certain that
others will not develop the same or similar techgas on their own. We have taken steps, includimtgring into confidentiality agreements with dll o
our employees, consultants and corporate partogmotect our trade secrets and unpatented know-fibase agreements generally require that the
other party keep confidential and not discloséhtritparties all confidential information developegithe party or made known to the party by usrdyri
the course of the partyrelationship with us. We also typically obtainegments from these parties which provide thatritiges conceived by the pal
in the course of rendering services to us will beexclusive property. However, these agreementsnmoabe honored and may not effectively assign
intellectual property rights to us. Enforcing aielahat a party illegally obtained and is using trade secrets or know-how is difficult, expensivel
time consuming, and the outcome is unpredictabladdition, courts outside the United States males® willing to protect trade secrets or know-how.
The failure to obtain or maintain trade secretgetibn could adversely affect our competitive [osit

We may be subject to claims that our employees haxengfully used or disclosed alleged trade secmdtsheir former employers.

As is common in the biotechnology and pharmaceliticaustry, we employ individuals who were previyusmployed at other biotechnology or
pharmaceutical companies, including our competitonsotential competitors. Although no claims agaims are currently pending, we may be subject to
claims that these employees or we have inadveytenththerwise used or disclosed trade secretsher roprietary information of their former
employers. Litigation may be necessary to deferairstjthese claims. Even if we are successful farding against these claims, litigation could Hesu
in substantial costs and be a distraction to managé

Risks Related to Our Common Stock
The market price of our common stock may be vokatind adversely affected by several factors.
The market price of our common stock could fluatusignificantly in response to various factors amdnts, including but not limited to:
» our ability to integrate operations, technologygdrcts and service
» our ability to execute our business pl
e operating results below expectatio

e ourissuance of additional securities, includingtd® equity or a combination thereof, which widl becessary to fund our operating
expenses

* announcements of technological innovations or newdycts by us or our competito

» loss of any strategic relationsh

» industry developments, including, without limitaticchanges in healthcare policies or practicekiad-party reimbursement policie
» economic and other external factc
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e perioc-to-period fluctuations in our financial results; ¢
* whether an active trading market in our commonkstiEvelops and is maintaine

In addition, the market price for securities of phaceutical and biotechnology companies histogdadls been highly volatile, and the securities
markets have from time to time experienced sigaiftqrice and volume fluctuations that are unrelétethe operating performance of particular
companies. These broad market fluctuations mayectiesmarket price of our common stock to declitestantially.

In the past, securities class action litigation bisn been brought against a company followingelide in the market price of its securities. This
risk is especially relevant for us because biotetdgy and biopharmaceutical companies have expeg@rignificant stock price volatility in recent
years. We may become involved in this type ofditign in the future. Litigation often is expensied diverts management’s attention and resources,
which could materially and adversely affect ouribass.

Additionally, fluctuations in the trading price liquidity of our common stock may materially andvatsely affect, among other things, the inte
of investors to purchase our common stock on tiem oparket and, generally, our ability to raise tpi

Our board of directors has the power to designatéthout stockholder approval, additional series pfeferred stock, the shares of which could be
senior to our common stock and be entitled to corsien or voting rights that adversely affect the lders of our common stock.

Our articles of incorporation authorize the isswatcapital stock including 20,000,000 authorimedesignated shares (8,001,000 designated as
of December 31, 2012), and empowers our boardrettirs to prescribe, by resolution and withoutkbolder approval, a class or series of
undesignated shares, including the number of shattbe class or series and the voting powersgdesions, rights, preferences, restrictions and the
relative rights in each such class or series. Adiogty, we may designate and issue additional sharaeries of preferred stock that would rankseta
the shares of common stock as to dividend rightights upon our liquidation, winding-up, or disstibn.

Nevada law and our charter documents could makenidre difficult for a third party to acquire us andiscourage a takeover, which could depress
the trading price of our common stock.

Nevada corporate law and our articles of incorponaand bylaws contain provisions that could disege, delay, or prevent a change in contr
our Company or changes in our management thattocktsolders may deem advantageous. For exampléetsobdf our common stock do not have
cumulative voting rights in the election of directomeaning that stockholders owning a majoritgpwf outstanding shares of common stock will be able
to elect all of our directors. In addition, becaus=have more than 200 stockholders of record,re&abject to the “business combinations” provision
of the Nevada Revised Statutes, or NRS. Thesegiomd could prohibit or delay a merger or otheetaler or change in control attempt and,
accordingly, may discourage attempts to acquirecoorpany even though such a transaction may beristockholders’ best interest and offer our
stockholders the opportunity to sell their stocla atrice above the prevailing market price.

One investor and certain directors, by virtue of p@rship of our securities and related rights, mag hble to control the Company.

The 10X Fund owns all of our issued and outstan&iedes B Preferred Stock, which are convertibie £000,000 shares of our common
stock. The 10X Fund owns related warrants exertasabpurchase an aggregate of 5,000,000 sha@ms @ommon stock. As of December 31, 2012
have issued 867,527 shares of our common stockigedds on the Series B Preferred Stock and 10@@0shares of our common stock on the exercise
of warrants. In addition, (i) James C. Czirr, a mging partner of the 10X Fund and Executive Chairwfeour board of directors, owns or controls
approximately 862,000,000 shares of our commorkstoc
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including shares of Series A on an as converteid basd has the right to acquire approximately 680 additional shares of our common stock upon the
exercise of outstanding stock options (approxinyad&l7,000 of which are exercisable as of Decemte312); and (ii) Rod D. Martin, a managing
partner of the 10X Fund and Vice Chairman of owardmf directors, owns or controls approximately0®0 shares of our common stock and has the
right to acquire approximately 98,000 additionar&s of our common stock upon the exercise of aodénhg stock options (approximately 96,000 of
which are exercisable as of December 31, 2012pfA¥cember 31, 2012, on a fully diluted basispasag conversion of all Series B Preferred Stock
and exercise of all outstanding warrants, the 10Hd=would own approximately 38% of our then outdiag shares of common stock, which, together
with the shares of our common stock that wouldWwaed by Mr. Czirr and Mr. Martin (assuming exeraidall vested options at that date), would
constitute approximately 43% of the then outstagdinares.

As holder of Series B Preferred Stock, the 10X Fgrehtitled to elect three directors in a sepacktss vote, nominate three directors for election
by all shares entitled to vote, and provide or fdtld consent to a range of fundamental corporaierawe may wish to undertake, such as
recapitalization, sale of our company, and othettens Such concentration of stock ownership atated rights could have the effect of delaying,
deterring or preventing corporate events that tluerosecurity holders may desire or consider beizfio the company.

We may issue additional common stock, which mightt the net tangible book value per share of ccommon stock.

Our board of directors has the authority, withatttan or vote of our stockholders, to issue alagrart of our authorized but unissued shares. Suct
stock issuances could be made at a price thatteffediscount to, or a premium from, the thenentrmarket price of our common stock. In addition,
order to raise capital, we may need to issue sEEsithat are convertible into or exchangeableafsignificant amount of our common stock. We are
currently contemplating additional capital raisingnsactions within the next twelve months, whiahuid likely result in issuances of additional sisare
which would be dilutive to current shareholderse3éissuances would dilute the percentage ownergbifgst, which would have the effect of reducing
your influence on matters on which our stockholdextge, and might dilute the net tangible book valee share of our common stock. You may incur
additional dilution if holders of stock options, ether currently outstanding or subsequently grarerercise their options, or if warrant holdersreise
their warrants to purchase shares of our commaiksto

A sale of a substantial number of shares of the aoon stock may cause the price of our common stacklecline.

Our common stock is currently traded on The NASDB&pital Market and, despite certain increasesadfitig volume from time to time, there
have been periods when it could be consideredl§ttiaded,” meaning that the number of persong@sied in purchasing our common stock at or near
bid prices at any given time may be relatively draahon-existent. Finance transactions resulting large amount of newly issued shares that become
readily tradable, or other events that cause custeckholders to sell shares, could place downwaedsure on the trading price of our stock. Sofne o
our shareholders have registration rights to fiatédi sales of large blocks of our common stock.Hakee filed a shelf registration statement to allow
registered sales of up to 9.7 million shares bgetehareholders. We are currently contemplatingiaddl capital raising transactions within the hex
twelve months, which would likely result in issuas®f additional shares which would be dilutivetorent shareholders. In addition, the lack of a
robust resale market may require a stockholder ddsires to sell a large number of shares of comstak to sell the shares in increments over time to
mitigate any adverse impact of the sales on th&engrice of our stock.

If our stockholders sell, or the market perceivext bur stockholders intend to sell for variousees, including the ending of restriction on resale
or the expiration of lock-up agreements such asdlamtered into in connection with this offeringhstantial amounts of our common stock in the publi
market, including shares
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issued upon the exercise of outstanding optiongasrants, the market price of our common stockadall. Sales of a substantial number of shares of
our common stock may make it more difficult fortassell equity or equity-related securities in fhure at a time and price that we deem reasorable
appropriate. We may become involved in securitiasscaction litigation that could divert managerntgeattention and harm our business.

We have not paid cash dividends in the past anchdbexpect to pay cash dividends in the foreseeédiiare.

We have never paid cash dividends on our capitekstnd do not anticipate paying cash dividendswrcapital stock in the foreseeable future.
The payment of dividends on our capital stock dépend on our earnings, financial condition an@iobusiness and economic factors affecting us at
such time as the board of directors may considevaat. If we do not pay dividends, our common ktoray be less valuable because a return on your
investment will only occur if the market price afracommon stock price appreciates.

Our shares of common stock and warrants have beed aontinue to be thinly traded, so you may be uleato sell at or near ask prices or even at
all if you need to sell your shares or warrantsritaise money or otherwise desire to liquidate yohases or warrants.

We cannot predict the extent to which an activeipubarket for our common stock and warrants wélzdlop or be sustained. Our common stock
is currently traded on The NASDAQ Capital Marketlaxperiences periods when it could be considettgdly-traded.” This situation may be
attributable to a number of factors, including thet that we are a small company which is relayiveiknown to stock analysts, stock brokers,
institutional investors and others in the investhm@ammunity that generate or influence sales voluene that even if we came to the attention of such
persons, they tend to be risk averse and woul@lbetant to follow an unproven company such as ouggirchase or recommend the purchase of our
shares until such time as we became more seasadedable. As a consequence, there may be pericgisveral days, weeks or months when trading
activity in our shares is minimal or non-existeag,compared to a seasoned issuer which has adladggteady volume of trading activity that will
generally support continuous sales without an aveffect on share price. We cannot give you asyraace that a broader or more active public
trading market for our common stock will developbersustained, or that current trading levels béllsustained or not diminish.

ltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

Item 2. Properties

We lease 3,610 square feet for our executive cfficeated at 4960 Peachtree Industrial Blvd., NmgrGA. We also lease approximately 300
square feet in Natick, MA, for use by research dekelopment consultants and which is collocateti wiite of research and development service
vendors. We believe these spaces are suitablaifgeresent operations.

Item 3. Legal Proceeding:

From time to time, the Company is exposed to litayarelating to its operations. The Company iscwtently engaged in any legal proceedings
that are expected, individually or in the aggregttdnave a material, adverse affect on its fin@mndition or results of operations, except agwo
below:

On October 12, 2012, David Platt, Ph.D., the Comjsaformer Chief Executive Officer and Chairmantloé Board of Directors, commenced a
lawsuit under the Massachusetts Wage Act agairist Be Traber, M.D. and Mr. Thomas A. McGauley, whaoheir capacities as the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer and Chief
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Financial Officer respectively can be held indiatly liable under the Wage Act for non-payment @fges. The lawsuit is based on the facts and issues
raised in the arbitration discussed below regartliegpotential payment of the $1.0 million sepamapayment under Dr. Platt’s Separation Agreement
with the Company, and other unspecified “wages’e $tatute provides that a successful claimant neagniitied to multiple damages, interest and
attorneys fees. Although the Company is not a parthe lawsuit, it plans to indemnify Dr. TraberdaVir. McGauley consistent with its obligations
under the by-laws and applicable law, believedahesuit is without merit, and intends a vigorou$eshse on their behalf.

On May 2, 2012, Dr. Platt instituted arbitratiorfdre the American Arbitration Association, seeka1.0 million separation payment based on a
claim that a milestone event for payment in accocdawith the terms of the Separation Agreementdtadrred. Specifically, he argued that he was due
payment because the Company’s common stock wasd list the NASDAQ Capital Markets and the Comparg/graviously achieved the required
market capitalization for the milestone event. Tmmpany’s position, however, is that a milestonengwas not yet occurred under the Separation
Agreement because the Company has not achievedghzed market capitalization while listed on M&SDAQ Capital Markets. On November 1,
2012, the arbitrator denied Dr. Platt’'s demandlinezpects. The Company has recorded the paynsesmt accrued expense payable if and when the
milestone event occurs.

On March 29, 2013, the Company instituted arbitratiefore the American Arbitration Association,lgeg to rescind or reform the Separation
Agreement discussed above. The Company claim®ihd&latt fraudulently induced the Company to eiriér the Separation Agreement, breached his
fiduciary duty to the Company, and was unduly drettfrom his conduct. Along with removal of theGmillion milestone payment provided for under
the Separation Agreement, the Company is seekpayreent of all separation benefits paid to Dr.tRtatlate.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure
Not applicable.
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registran’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters andusr Purchases of Equity Securiti¢
Price Range of Common Stock

Our common stock began trading on The NASDAQ Chplarket under the symbol GALT effective March 2812. Following the delisting of
our common stock from the NYSE Alternext US ashef tlose of trading on January 9, 2009, our comstock had been quoted on the OTC Bulletin
Board since January 21, 2009 under the symbol “PRMBPand since June 16, 2011 under the symbol “GAB". The high and low sale prices for
our common stock as reported on the OTC BulletiafB@and the NASDAQ Capital Market, for the periatificated as shown below. All share prices
reflect the one-for-six reverse split, which wafeefive March 23, 2012.

High Low

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 201

First Quarte! $6.0C $3.7¢
Second Quarte $4.4C $1.8¢
Third Quarte! $3.4¢ $1.61
Fourth Quarte $2.24 $1.6C
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 201

First Quartel $8.64 $5.22
Second Quarte $9.42 $5.8¢
Third Quartel $7.8C $4.5¢€
Fourth Quarte $6.7¢ $3.8¢

Holders of Common Stock

As of March 19, 2013, there were 290 shareholdereamrd of our common stock. Because shares ofommmon stock are held by depositaries,
brokers and other nominees, the number of benkfiolders of our shares is substantially largenttiee number of record holders. Based on inform
available to us, we believe there are approximate$0 non-objecting beneficial owners of our skareour common stock in addition to the record
holders.

Dividends

There have been no cash dividends declared ononumon stock since our company was formed. Dividendsleclared at the sole discretion of
our Board of Directors. Our intention is not to ldee cash dividends and retain all cash for ourafjins.

Item 6. Selected Financial Dat:
The information called for by this Item is not aippble to us because we are a smaller reportingpaagn

Item 7. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditionnal Results of Operations

In addition to historical information, the followgnManagement’s Discussion and Analysis of FinanC@hdition and Results of Operations
contains forward-looking statements as defined uSéetion 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of4133 amended, and is subject to the safe harbor
created therein for forward-looking statements.hSstatements include, but are not limited to, statets concerning our anticipated operating results,
research and development, clinical trials, regujapsoceedings, and financial resources, and cadeygified by use of words such as, for example,
“anticipate,” “estimate,” “expect,” “project,” “irtnd,”
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“plan,” “believe” and “would,” “should,” “could” or‘may.” All statements, other than statements efdrical facts, included herein that address
activities, events, or developments that the Compapects or anticipates will or may occur in tbaufe, are forward-looking statements, including
statements regarding: plans and expectations riegaetinical trials; plans and expectations regagdiegulatory approvals; our strategy and expexis
for clinical development and commercialization of @roducts; potential strategic partnerships; etqgi®ns regarding the effectiveness of our progluct
plans for research and development and related;csistements about accounting assumptions amdatet; expectations regarding liquidity and the
sufficiency of cash to fund operations throughfihst quarter of 2014; our commitments and contimges; and our market risk exposure. Forward-
looking statements are based on current expectatgstimates and projections about the industrynaeutkets in which Galectin Therapeutics operates,
and management’s beliefs and assumptions. Thesengats are not guarantees of future performangénaolve certain known and unknown risks and
uncertainties that could cause actual resultsfterdnaterially from those expressed or impliedsigh statements. Such risks and uncertainties are
related to, without limitation, our early stagedefvelopment; our dependence on outside capitaértainties related to our technology and cliniciall$,
intellectual property protection, uncertaintiegejulatory approval requirements for our productenpetition and stock price volatility in the
biotechnology industry, limited trading volume faur stock, concentration of ownership of our stauid other risks detailed herein and from time to
time in our SEC reports. The following discussibiodd be read in conjunction with the accompanyiogsolidated financial statements and notes
thereto of Galectin Therapeutics appearing elsesvherein.

Overview

We are a development-stage company engaged irrésegrch and development to create new therapiébriotic disease and cancer. Our drug
candidates are based on our method of targetiregtialproteins, which are key mediators of biolagia pathologic functions. We use naturally
occurring, readily-available plant materials aststg material in manufacturing processes to crpad@rietary complex carbohydrates with specific
molecular weights and other pharmaceutical properifhese complex carbohydrate molecules are apgielp formulated into acceptable
pharmaceutical formulations. Using these uniquébalaydrate-based candidate compounds that bindrduiloiti galectin proteins, we are undertaking the
focused pursuit of therapies for indications whgatectins have a demonstrated role in the pathaienéa given disease. We focus on diseases with
serious, lifethreatening consequences to patients and thosewhgent treatment options are limited. Our stais to establish and implement clini
development programs that add value to our busingse shortest period of time possible and t&k stetegic partners when a program becomes
advanced and requires additional resources.

We endeavor to leverage our scientific and prodeegelopment expertise as well as established oektiips with outside sources to achieve cost-
effective and efficient development. These outsidigrces, amongst others, provide us with expdrtipeeclinical models, pharmaceutical development,
toxicology, clinical development, pharmaceuticalnuiacturing, sophisticated physical and chemicaratterization, and commercial development. We
also have established a collaborative scientificaery program with leading experts in carbohyalcitemistry and characterization. This discovery
program is aimed at the targeted development ofmelecules which bind galectin proteins and offegraative options to larger market segments in
our primary disease targets. We are pursuing alolgvent pathway to clinical enhancement and comiakeration for our lead compounds in liver
fibrosis and fatty liver disease as well as in inma@nhancement for cancer therapy. All of our psepgproducts are presently in development, incl
pre-clinical and clinical trials.

2012 Common Stock and Warrant Offering and Revers&plit

On March 22, 2012, in anticipation of completingublic offering of securities, we effected a one$ix reverse stock split of our common stock.
All common share and per unit amounts in this repocluding the financial statements, have begnsted to reflect the reverse split. Our common
stock began trading on The
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NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol GALT on Marz3, 2012, and the units and warrants that weisdlke offering began trading on tt
exchange under the symbols GALTU and GALTW, redpelst, on March 28, 2012.

On March 28, 2012, we completed the public offeimwhich we issued 2,666,722 shares of commorksiad related warrants exercisable until
March 28, 2017, at $5.63 per share to purchase8383 shares of common stock for gross procee@42D million (net cash proceeds of 10.4 millic

Our Drug Development Programs

Galectins are a class of proteins that are madady cells in the body. As a group, these protaiesable to bind to sugar molecules that are part
of other proteins in and on the cells of our ba@glectin proteins act as a kind of glue, bringiogether molecules that have sugars on them. Galecti
proteins are known to be markedly increased inralrar of important diseases including scaring ohogy(e.qg. liver, lung, kidney, and heart) and
cancers of many kinds. The increase in galectiteprgpromotes the disease and is detrimental tpdtient.

We have two compounds in development, one intetalég used in the treatment of liver fibrosis aattiyfliver disease and the other intended to
be used in cancer therapy. These two compoundsradeced from completely different, natural, rep@Vailable, starting materials, which, following
chemical processing, both exhibit the propertyinfiing to and inhibiting galectin proteins. GR-MD;®ur lead product for treatment of liver fibrosis
and fatty liver disease with inflammation and fibisg is a proprietary complex polysaccharide polypassessing both linear and globular structures,
which is derived from a plant source. GM-CT-01, mad product candidate for cancer therapy, ipnetary linear polysaccharide polymer comprised
of mannose and galactose that has a preciselyede€inemical structure and which is also derivethfeoplant source.

We believe the mechanism of action for GR-MD-02 éM-CT-01 is based upon interaction with, and iitidn of, galectin proteins, which are
expressed at high levels in certain pathologiakstincluding inflammation, fibrosis and cancehid/GR-MD-02 and GM-CT-01 are capable of
binding to multiple galectin proteins, we beliehatthey have the greatest affinity for galectiri& most prominent galectin implicated in pathatag
processes. Blocking galectin in cancer and liiemofiis has specific salutary effects on the dispeseess, as discussed below.

GR-MD-02 — Liver Fibrosis

The main initiative in our development strategshis application of galectin inhibition in connectiwith liver fibrosis, a condition that leads to
cirrhosis. We believe that GR-MD-02 has the po#rit treat nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) afttter forms of liver fibrosis. The driving factor
for our commitment to galectin inhibition for filsis is scientific evidence that strongly suggdsss galectin-3 is essential for the developmerivef
fibrosis in animals. Published data show that rlacking the galectin-3 gene are incapable of deietpliver fibrosis in response to toxin insulttte
liver and in fatty liver disease. Moreover, micattdo not have the galectin-3 gene are resistdontpand kidney fibrosis.

We have evaluated the ability of GR-MD-02 to blgzkectin3 in animal models of liver fibrosis, the conclussoof which yielded positive resul
Our pre-clinical data show that GR-MD-02 may havhezapeutic effect on liver fibrosis as shownéneral relevant animal models. Therefore, we
chose GR-MD-02 as the lead candidate in a developpregram targeted initially at fibrotic liver @diase associated with NASH. We filed an IND with
the FDA in January 2013 for initiating human stsdie patients with NASH, and the FDA notified usMiarch 2013 that we may proceed with a Phase |
clinical trial. We plan to start a Phase | clinit@l with GR-MD-02 in patients with NASH durinhé second quarter of 2013 to assess safety and
preliminary evidence of efficacy in humans, witlp ione results expected by late 2013 or early 20i4nid-2014, depending on the results of the Ph.
study and available funding, we may initiate a RHaslinical trial to assess the efficacy of GR-MR in patients with NASH and advanced liver
fibrosis with expected top-line clinical results tmd to late 2015.
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GM-CT-01 — Galectin Inhibition in Cancer Therapy

We believe the potential exists for galectin intidsi to play an important role in cancer therapglegtin proteins, particularly galectin-1 and
galectin-3, have been shown to be highly express#te majority of cancers and have multiple rafepromoting cancer progression, including tumor
cell invasion, metastasis, angiogenesis, and t@wasion of the immune system. GM-CT-01 has progressdevelopment for the therapy of colorectal
cancer and is currently in a Phase I/1l clinic@ltin Europe as a combination therapy with a tuwamcine in patients with advanced melanoma. The
current developmental approach for GM-CT-01 isrtbaace the activity of the immune system agairestdncer.

In May 2012, we initiated a Phase I/Il clinicabirof GM-CT-01 in Belgium in combination with a twmvaccine in patients with advanced
melanoma, a deadly skin cancer. The Belgian Fedegyahcy of Medicine and Health Products, or FAMIdRanted approval for this clinical trial, which
is being conducted at three centers in Belgiumaralin Luxembourg. There are two primary cohortpatifents in this study, one where GM-CT-01 is
given intravenously (Cohort 1) and a second colvbgre GM-CT-01 is given both intravenously and dliseinjected into a cutaneous metastasis
(Cohort 2). Because of patient availability, Cohbis expected to be enrolled faster than Cohdfo2 each cohort, 6 patients will be enrolled st
one of the study, and if at least one out of sikepds has a response (PR or CR by RECIST critdhi@)remaining patients will be enrolled up to&k
of 23 per cohort. We expect the first stage of Gohf this trial (involving 6 evaluable patients)be completed in the second quarter of 201 3tfaaud
it will provide data that could deliver an indiaaiiof efficacy. Depending on the results of StageHich is defined as a partial or complete respdns
RECIST criteria in at least one out of six patiethe study could continue enrollment to compleag8 2 (46 total patients), initiate a new Phagadl
based on positive results or be halted becausechfdf efficacy. Stage 1 of the trial is being faddy the Cancer Centre at the Cliniques Universga
SaintLuc and Stage 2 may require funding from the Cornphayond the provision of material, however, weehao commitment to fund Stage 2 of
trial. We do not control this Phase I/11 clinicabd in Belgium which is being conducted under av/A=approved IMPD. We are the sponsor of an open
IND application under the FDA for GM-CT-01; no tgare currently being conducted in the U.S

We previously attempted to gain regulatory appr@i@aM-CT-01 for use in combination with 5-FU (5elérouracil, an anti-cancer chemotherapy
drug) containing chemotherapy regiments for met@stalorectal cancer in Colombia. This approacti been recommended to the Company by key
oncology opinion leaders in Colombia and by PROCARS (“PROCAPS”), a Colombibased pharmaceutical company. There has been novappi
GM-CT-01 in a major region such as the U.S. or Barand it was determined that approval from theleggry authority in Columbia (INVIMA) would
require additional clinical trial data. Althoughet@ompany worked with PROCAPS to design a Phasiiital trial, a satisfactory plan could not be
agreed upon and we terminated the Agreement with®&PS (as described below), effective Septembe2@82, and have no current plans to cont
attempts to gain approval of GM-CT-01 in Columiée had not taken into account projections for astgptial revenues from this agreement in our
financing plans.

Agreement with PROCAPS S.A.

On March 25, 2010, we granted PROCAPS S.A. (irfdhm of a definitive term sheet) exclusive righastiarket and sell GM-CT-01 to treat
cancer in Colombia, South America. PROCAPS is garirational, privately held pharmaceutical comphaged in Barranquilla, Colombia. In October
2010, we received a payment of $200,000 and shi@eCT-01 to PROCAPS to be used by PROCAPS to uakeiinitial steps contemplated by the
term sheet. We recorded the $200,000 payment flR@EAPS as deferred revenue on the condensed adaisalibalance sheet as of December 31,
2011, to be recognized when the remaining deliiesatf the agreement were completed.

On October 18, 2011, we entered into a Collabanatupply, Marketing and Distribution Agreemeng(tigreement”) with PROCAPS. The
Agreement granted PROCAPS first negotiation righitsnter into similar agreements in other Centnal S8outh American countries. We were to be the
sole manufacturer and supplier of
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GM-CT-01 to PROCAPS. The Agreement obligated PROS #d&Pprocure regulatory approvals necessary fontheketing and sale of GM-CT-01
naming us as the owner of such approvals to trenepermitted by law, or alternatively hold the eqMals for our benefit. PROCAPS was required to
pay us a stated fee for each dose it purchasemgaliies at an incremental rate determined by ahnet sales of GM-CT-01. We retained all
intellectual property rights to GM-CT-01 and rethfroducts and PROCAPS may not produce, modifigrss/engineer, or otherwise interfere with the
GM-CT-01 compound. PROCAPS may not manufacturetbpsoducts that compete with GM-CT-01 during teem of the Agreement and for five
years thereafter.

PROCAPS had not obtained approval to sell GM-CTr0Columbia as required by the Agreement and, @g ¥ere in material breach of the
Agreement, we terminated the Agreement, effectipt@nber 29, 2012. With no further obligations urtie Agreement, we recognized the $200,000
payment as Other Income in the Statements of Gpesatluring the year ended December 31, 2012.

Results of Operations from the Years Ended Decembé1, 2012 and 2011
Research and Development Expense

Year ended
December 31, 2012 as Compared to 201
2012 2011 $ Change % Change
(in thousands, except %
Research and developm $4,527 $3,55:2 $ 97t 27%

We generally categorize research and developmegeinmes as either direct external expenses, cordprisamounts paid to third party vendors
services, or all other research and developmergresgs, comprised of employee payroll and genesrhead allocable to research and developmen
consider a clinical program to have begun upongecee by the FDA, or similar agency outside oflimited States, to commence a clinical trial in
humans, at which time we begin tracking expend#imgthe product candidate. Clinical program expsrm®mprise payments to vendors related to
preparation for, and conduct of, all phases ofctivécal trial, including costs for drug manufaatyupatient dosing and monitoring, data collectiod a
management, oversight of the trials and reportesilts. Pre-clinical expenses comprise all re$eancd development amounts incurred before human
trials begin, including payments to vendors fovgess related to product experiments and discoterjcology, pharmacology, metabolism and effic
studies, as well as manufacturing process developfoea drug candidate.

We have two product candidates, GR-MD-02 and GM82TWe filed for an IND for GR-MD-02 in January Z)and in February 2013 we
entered into an agreement with CTI to conduct ss@Hhalinical trial of GR-MDB2 which we expect will begin enrolling patientslie second quarter
2013. In March 2013, the FDA indicated we couldgeexd with a Phase | human clinical trial of GR-MP-GM-CT-01 is in a Phase /1l clinical trial in
Europe at this time, which is being conducted ilatmration with the Cancer Centre at the Cliniguesversitaires Saint-Luc and the Ludwig Institute
for Cancer Research in Belgium.

Our research and development expenses were awsollo

Year Ended
December 31
2012 2011
(in thousands)

Direct external expense
Clinical programs and p-clinical activities $2,99¢ $1,43¢
All other research and development expel 1,52¢ 2,11¢

$4,52i $3,55:
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Clinical programs and prelinical expenses for the year ended December@112,2ncreased compared to the same period in 20&ELprimarily te
increased pre-clinical activity on our fibrosis gram as we prepared to file an IND in January 28@begin a Phase | clinical trial in 2013. Incldide
clinical programs and pre-clinical costs above,ags related to clinical trials during 2012 aid 2 of approximately $205,000 and $666,000,
respectively, which consisted primarily of costated to drug manufacturing to supply GM-QOT-for the Phase I/1l trial, which, as previouslgalissec
is not being conducted by us. We expect as we bmgifPhase | trial for GR-MD-02, our clinical pragn costs will increase substantially, as discussed
further below. Other research and development esgpdacreased primarily due to decreased stock-lsasegensation ($635,000).

In February 2013, we signed an agreement with Gifiical Trial Services, Inc. and CTI clinical Conng Services, Inc. (collectively “CTI") to
conduct our Phase | clinical trial for GR-MD-02.€el'mitial work order related to the contract is 2,155,000, which we expect will be expensed over
the year ended December 31, 2013 as expensesareeth The total costs of conducting the Phasgallmay be greater than the initial work order due
to potential additional studies that may be redlire

Both the time required and costs we may incur deoto commercialize a drug candidate that woudiltén material net cash inflow are subject
to numerous variables, and therefore we are uradlilés stage of our development to forecast usftinates. Variables that make estimates difficult
include the number of clinical trials we may undg&#, the number of patients needed to participatied clinical trial, patient recruitment uncertas,
trial results as to the safety and efficacy of prrduct, and uncertainties as to the regulatorypegessponse to our trial data prior to receipmafketing
approval. Moreover, the FDA or other regulatoryrages may suspend clinical trials if we or an agdnelieves patients in the trial are subject to
unacceptable risks, or find deficiencies in thedrart of the clinical trial. Delays or rejections yrelso occur if governmental regulation or policy
changes during our clinical trials or in the coun§eeview of our clinical data. Due to these umaities, accurate and meaningful estimates of the
ultimate cost to bring a product to market, thenignof costs and completion of our program andpeod during which material net cash inflows will
commence are unavailable at this time. Howeverexyeect to continue to have substantial researctdanelopment expenses for the foreseeable future
as we continue to develop our products.

General and Administrative Expense

Year ended
December 31, 2012 as Compared to 201
2012 2011 $ Change % Change
(in thousands, except %
General and administratiy $5,37: $6,857 $ (1,48 (22%

General and administrative expenses consist piynafrsalaries including stock based compensategal and accounting fees, insurance, inve
relations, business development and other offilzeae expenses. The primary reasons for the dexfeathe year ended December 31, 2012 as
compared to the same period in 2011 is due to deettlegal expenses ($119,000) and decreaseddnvelsttions and business development costs
($299,000) as we decreased work related to the PERSGgreement which we terminated in 2012, offgéhbreased insurance and public company
related costs ($113,000). Additionally, in 2011 entit became probable that we would be relisted national securities exchange we recognized a
million payment due to our former CEO, Dr. Plattsd@, we settled litigation and recognized $162,6Dfelated expense in 2011.

Other Income and Expense

During the year ended December 31, 2012, othemiecand expense consisted primarily of the $200p230nent from PROCAPS which was
previously accounted for as deferred income andgmrized upon the termination of the PROCAPS Agregnaes previously described.

Other income and expense for the year ended Deae3ib@011 included an expense of $524,000, rekat¢ide change in fair value of warrant
liabilities. The Company had no warrant liabilit@s of December 31, 2012 or during the year thele@wor as of December 31, 2011.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

As described above in the Overview and elsewhetieisnAnnual Report on Form 10-K, we are in theaedlegment stage and have not generated
any revenues to date. Since our inception on JulY2@00, we have financed our operations from prdsef public and private offerings of debt and
equity. As of December 31, 2012, we raised a rtat tf $68.8 million from these offerings. At Decleer 31, 2012, we had $9,364,000 of unrestricted
cash and cash equivalents available to fund fuipszations. We believe that with the cash on hamaember 31, 2012, there is sufficient cash tal
operations through the first quarter of 2014. Wk neuire more cash to fund our operations anielbelwe will be able to obtain additional financing
However, there can be no assurance that we wabibeessful in obtaining such new financing ory#i&ble, that such financing will be on terms
favorable to us. We plan to raise additional capitel have significantly reduced our administratwel clinical spending. If we are unsuccessful in
raising additional capital before the end of thistfguarter of 2014, we may be required to ceaseatipns or seek bankruptcy protection.

We have accrued an expense of $1,000,000 thay#bfato David Platt, Ph.D., the Company’s forméie€ Executive Officer and Chairman of
the Board of Directors, if and when certain compamlgstone events occur pursuant to his Separatijpaement with the Company; however, on
March 29, 2013, we instituted arbitration before American Arbitration Association, seeking to irdwr reform the Separation Agreement. Deper
on the outcome of the arbitration, the accrual d¢dad reversed. The timing and ultimate outcoméisfdrbitration, though, is uncertain and theneds
guarantee that we will be successful in this dem&ee “Item 3. Legal Proceedings” for further dggion of the arbitration.

Net cash used in operations increased by $1,824¢089,500,000 for 2012, as compared to $5,676{00R011. Cash operating expenses
increased principally due to increased researchdamdlopment activities primarily related to ouréisis development and preparation for an INDdijlin
and a Phase | clinical trial for GR-MD-02 in 20Db8set by decreased general and administrativeresgeeas previously discussed.

Cash used in investing activities during 2012 cstesi of a decrease in restricted cash by $64,000r859,000 secured letter of credit for office
space and $10,000 of secured credit cards werasee offset by equipment purchases of $5,000rapa®d to $5,000 of equipment purchases in 2011
and $10,000 to secure credit cards in 2011.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $08,800 during 2012 as compared to $6,197,000 d@@id, due primarily to the transaction
described below.

On March 28, 2012, we issued 2,666,722 sharesrofran stock and related $5.63 warrants to purch®38B61 shares of common stock,
resulting in gross proceeds of $12,000,000 (netgeds of $10,403,000).

Payments Due Under Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes the payments dueeundr contractual obligations at December 31, 2@h# the effect such obligations are
expected to have on liquidity and cash flow in fatperiods:

Payments due by period (in thousands

Less thar More than
1- 3-
Contractual Obligations Total 1 year 3 years 5 year: 5 years
Operating leases $8E $ 49 $ 36 $— $ —
Total payments due under contractual obligat $8E $ 49 $ 36 $— $ —

Operating leases.

In September 2012, we entered into an operatirggeléa office space in Norcross, GA for a termveénty-six months, beginning on October 1,
2012 and ending November 30, 2014 at a rate ofi®3y@r month.
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The lease provides for free rent for the first twonths of the lease and required a security depb$®,000. In addition to base rental paymenthiched
in the contractual obligations table above, werasponsible for our pro-rata share of the operatixmenses for the building.

In October 2012, we entered into an operating |éaseffice space collocated with lab space foesesh and development activities in
Massachusetts. The lease is for a period of one eginning on October 1, 2012, for a rate of 8@8,for the term, payable in equal monthly
increments.

Separation agreement.

In February 2009, we entered into a Separation égsnt in connection with the resignation of DaViattY Ph.D., the Company’s former Chief
Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Diogs. The Separation Agreement provides for therdd of a $1.0 million separation payment due
to Dr. Platt upon the earlier occurrence of antheffollowing milestone events: (i) the approvaltbg Food and Drug Administration for a new drug
application (“NDA”) for any drug candidate or drdglivery candidate based on the GM-CT-01 technol@dyether or not such technology is patented),
in which case Dr. Platt is also entitled to a fulBsted 10-year cashless-exercise stock optionrithpse at least 83,334 shares of common stock at a
exercise price not less than the fair market vafuée common stock determined as of the dateanitgfii) consummation of a transaction with a
pharmaceutical company expected to result in gt B50.0 million of equity investment or $50 mitiof royalty revenue to the Company, in which case
Dr. Platt is also entitled to stock options on $hene terms to purchase at least 50,000 sharesnohan stock; or (iii) the renewed listing of our
securities on a national securities exchange amdc¢hievement of a market capitalization of $100ioni Payment upon the events (i) and (iii) may be
deferred up to six months, and if we have insuffiticash at the time of any of such events, weissae Dr. Platt a secured promissory note for such
amount. If we file a voluntary or involuntary péit for bankruptcy, whether or not a milestone éves occurred, such event shall trigger our
obligation to pay the $1.0 million with the restiiat Dr. Platt may assert a claim for such oblgaggainst the bankruptcy estate. During 2011, vithen
became probable that our common stock could bstedlion a national securities exchange and evéntealch a market capitalization of $100 million,
we recognized the $1.0 million severance paymeettdDr. Platt and it is included in accrued exgsrst December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011.

On May 2, 2012, Dr. Platt instituted arbitratiorfdre the American Arbitration Association, seekam1.0 million separation payment based on a
claim that a milestone event in the Separation Agrent has occurred (see clause (iii) above). OrciMag, 2012, the Company’s common stock was
listed on the NASDAQ Capital Markets, but sincet tthate, the stock has not achieved the requiretehaspitalization. Therefore, it is the Company’s
position that a milestone event has not yet ocduffee arbitration hearing was held on October 16 2012 and on November 1, 2012, the arbitrator
denied Dr. Platt's demand in all respects. Insafathe Company does not dispute its obligationgutite Separation Agreement to pay Dr. Platt upon
the occurrence of a milestone event, it has recbtite payment as an accrued expense payable Wflaanl the milestone event occurs.

On October 12, 2012, Dr. Platt commenced a lawsder the Massachusetts Wage Act against Dr. TeaieMr. McGauley who in their
capacities as the Company’s Chief Executive Offarat Chief Financial Officer respectively can bahedividually liable under the Wage Act for non-
payment of wages. The lawsuit is based on the taadsssues raised in the arbitration regardingpthement of the $1.0 million separation payment
under the Separation Agreement, and other unspdcifiages”. The statute provides that a succestithant may be entitled to multiple damages,
interest and attorneys fees. Although the Compampi a party to the lawsuit, it plans to indemiidiy Traber and Mr. McGauley consistent with its
obligations under the by-laws and applicable laglidves the lawsuit is without merit, and intendsgorous defense on their behalf.

On March 29, 2013, the Company instituted arbitratiefore the American Arbitration Association,ldeg to rescind or reform the Separation
Agreement discussed above. The Company claim®thétlatt fraudulently induced the Company to elimiéw the Separation Agreement, breached his
fiduciary duty to the Company, and was unduly drettfrom his conduct. Along with removal of the@hillion milestone payment

31



Table of Contents

provided for under the Separation Agreement, the@my is seeking repayment of all separation bengéiid to Dr. Platt to date. Depending on the
outcome of the arbitration, the previously accr@i&d million could be reversed. The timing andméite outcome of this arbitration, though, is uraia
and there is no guarantee that we will be successthis demand.

Other. We have engaged outside vendors for certainices associated with our clinical trials. These/ges are generally available from
several providers and, accordingly, our arrangemarg typically cancellable on 30 days notice.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have not created, and are not a party to, aegiappurpose or off-balance sheet entities forpingose of raising capital, incurring debt or
operating parts of our business that are not cateted into our financial statements. We do notehavy arrangements or relationships with entitias t
are not consolidated into our financial statemémds are reasonably likely to materially affect tquidity or the availability of capital resources

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our significant accounting policies are more fudlyscribed in Note 2 to our consolidated finandialesnents included elsewhere in this annual
report on Form 10-K. Certain of our accounting giels, however, are critical to the portrayal of boancial position and results of operations and
require the application of significant judgmentdiyr management, which subjects them to an inhelegriee of uncertainty. In applying our accounting
policies, our management uses its best judgmeatiermine the appropriate assumptions to be ustnidetermination of certain estimates. Our more
significant estimates include stock option and wartiability valuations and performance vestingtiges of certain of these instruments, usefuklive
and potential impairment of property and equipnaert intangible assets, accrued liabilities, deeimeome taxes and cash flow. These estimates are
based on our historical experience, terms of exgstontracts, our observance of trends in the ingusformation available from other outside sasgc
and on various other factors that we believe taggopriate under the circumstances. We beliewglleecritical accounting policies discussed below
involve more complex management judgment due teémsitivity of the methods, assumptions and estismaecessary in determining the related asset,
liability, revenue and expense amounts.

Accrued Expenses As part of the process of preparing our cddatéd financial statements, we are required tion@sé accrued expenses. This
process involves identifying services that thirdtigs have performed on our behalf and estimatiegevel of service performed and the associatetl co
incurred on these services as of each balance dagein our consolidated financial statementsniplas of estimated accrued expenses include co
service fees in conjunction with pre-clinical arihical trials, professional service fees, suctihase arising from the services of attorneys and
accountants and accrued payroll expenses. In ctonetith these service fees, our estimates ard aftected by our understanding of the status and
timing of services provided relative to the actsmivices incurred by the service providers. Inghent that we do not identify certain costs thateha
been incurred or we under- or over-estimate thellef/services or costs of such services, our tedaexpenses for a reporting period could be
understated or overstated. The date on which cestvices commence, the level of services perfdromeor before a given date, and the cost of ses
are often subject to our judgment. We make thedgments based upon the facts and circumstancesnkimous in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the U.S.

Warrants. We have issued common stock warrants in cdiomewith the execution of certain equity and di#lincings and consulting
agreements. Certain warrants, no longer outstantendbeen accounted for as derivative liabiliiefair value. Such warrants did not meet the gate
that a contract should not be considered a deviwatistrument if it is (1) indexed to its own stakd (2) classified in stockholders’ equity. Chasge
fair value of derivative liabilities were recordedthe consolidated statement of operations urttecaption “Change in fair value of warrant liatie!s.”
Warrants that are not considered derivative liabgdiare accounted
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for at fair value at the date of issuance in adddi paid-in capital. The fair value of warrantsle&termined using the Black-Scholes optwiting mode
using assumptions regarding volatility of our conmsbare price, remaining life of the warrant, aisl-free interest rates at each period end.

Stock-Based Compensation Stock-based compensation cost is measurée grant date based on the fair value of the aaadds recognized
as expense over the service period, which genaggisesents the vesting period. For awards tha pavformance based vesting conditions we
recognize the expense over the estimated peridditbawards are expected to be earned. We ganasalithe Black-Scholes option-pricing model to
calculate the grant date fair value of stock oiorhe expense recognized over the service pesicefjuired to include an estimate of the awards tha
will be forfeited.

Research and Development Expense€osts associated with research and developmeeiasnsed as incurred. Research and development
expenses include, among other costs, salariestapd mersonnelelated costs, and costs incurred by outside latiies and other accredited facilities
connection with clinical trials and preclinical dies.

Contingencies. At the date of issuance, our Series C Super Diddeonvertible Preferred Stock (“Series C") haveearbedded dividend right
to continue to receive dividend payments after ession to common stock (the Series C Post Conveividend Right) which requires bifurcation.
The value of this post conversion dividend rightloa date of issuance was determined to be de nsiiue to the payment of a dividend stream other
than the 6% dividend and conversion of Series @rpo the Company achieving sales of GM-CT-01 wesnded improbable at that time. Upon a
conversion of the Series C, we will be requiredetword a liability and the related expense duriggeriod of conversion. In July 2011, 5 shares of
Series C were converted into 8,334 shares of constomk and 5 Series C Post Conversion Dividend RiffiDividend Rights”)were issued. In Janua
2013, 5 shares of Series C were converted into4&Bares of common stock and 5 Dividend Rights vesiged. Per the terms of the Series C, these
Dividend Rights shall continue to participate inidends, however the dividend will only be paiddxsn sales of GM-CT-01 and will not participate in
the 6% dividend. At December 31, 2012, these DivitIRights were determined to have a de minimisesads the payment of a dividend (other than the
6% dividend) is considered improbable at this tifflee Company will continue to evaluate and asdes$Series C Post Conversion Dividend Right for
each reporting period.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MagkRisk
The information called for by this Item is not aippble to us because we are a smaller reportingpaagn

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary De
The financial statements required by this itemaatached to this Annual Report on Form 10-K begigron Page F-1.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants orcégnting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedure

As required by Rule 13a-15 under the SecuritiehBrge Act of 1934, (the “Exchange Act”) as of thd ef the period covered by this Annual
Report, we carried out an evaluation, under thesdgion and with the participation of our Chiefdexitive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, of
the effectiveness of our disclosure controls amdtgdures as of December 31, 2012. Our managemegwbhaluded, based on their evaluation, that our
disclosure controls and procedures were effectivef ®ecember 31, 2012 to ensure that
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information required to be disclosed by us in tegorts we file or submit under the Exchange Acecorded, processed, summarized and reported
the time periods specified in the Securities andharge Commission’s rules and forms.

(b) Management’s Annual Report on Internal Con®ekr Financial Reporting

Management of the Company is responsible for dstabf and maintaining adequate internal contr@rdinancial reporting. As defined in
Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act, internaki@rover financial reporting is a process desighgdor under the supervision of, a company’s
principal executive and principal financial offiseaind effected by a company’s board of directoemagement and other personnel, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilitynaiicial reporting and the preparation of finanstatements for external purposes in accordande wit
generally accepted accounting principles. It ineithose policies and procedures that:

a) Pertain to the maintenance of records thataeaeable detail accurately and fairly reflect tamsactions and dispositions of the assets of a
company;

b) Provide reasonable assurance that transactienre@rded as necessary to permit preparatiomanfdial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, andribegipts and expenditures of a company are beimtgroaly in accordance with authorizations of
management and the board of directors of the coyzam

c) Provide reasonable assurance regarding preventitmely detection of unauthorized acquisitioee or disposition of a company’s assets that
could have a material effect on its financial staats.

Because of the inherent limitations, internal cohdver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods angject to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedunay deteriorate.

The Company’s management has used the criteriblissiiad in “Internal Control-Integrated Framewoi&8ued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission, or CO®@yaluate the effectiveness of the Company’stiatecontrol over financial reporting.
Management has selected the COSO framework fewdkiation as it is a control framework recognibgdhe SEC and the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board, that is free from biastmits reasonably consistent qualitative and tjtaéive measurement of the Company’s internal
controls, is sufficiently complete so that relevaontrols are not omitted, and is relevant to aaiwation of internal controls over financial repogt

Management conducted an evaluation of internalrotmbased on the COSO framework. The evaluatioluded a full scale, documented risk
assessment, based on the principles described finaimework, and included identification of key trots. Management completed documentation of its
testing to verify the effectiveness of the key colst Based on the evaluation, management conclirdgdur internal control over financial reporting
was effective as of December 31, 2012.

As we are neither a large accelerated filer noa@elerated filer, as defined in Rule 12b-2 underBExchange Act, we are exempt from the
requirement to include an attestation report ofindependent registered public accounting firm réiyg internal control over financial reporting.

(c) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Refjitg

There was no change in our internal control oveairitial reporting that occurred during the fourtiager of 2012 that has materially affected,
reasonably likely to materially affect, our inteksantrol over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information
None.
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PART Il

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Goverree

The information required by this Item will be cointed in our definitive Proxy Statement to be fileith the Securities and Exchange Commiss
or SEC, in connection with our 2012 Annual Meetirigstockholders which is scheduled to be held oy Rz, 2013 (the “2013 Proxy Statemenif)del
the captions “Election of Directors,” “Board of Biotors Meetings and Committees of the Board,” “Etiee Officers” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial
Ownership Reporting Compliance” and is incorpordterkin by reference.

We have adopted a Code of Ethics that applied tmaldirectors, officers and employees. The Cddgtbics is publicly available on our website
at www.galectintherapeutics.com. Amendments tddbde of Ethics and any grant of a waiver from avjgion of the Code of Ethics requiring
disclosure under applicable SEC rules will be disetl on our website.

Item 11. Executive Compensatio

The information required by this Item will be inporated by reference from the information underciiygetion ‘Compensation of Named Execut
Officers” contained in our 2013 Proxy Statement.

ltem 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners atianagement and Related Stockholder Mattt

The information required by this item will be inporated by reference from the information underddyation “Security Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management” contained in204r3 Proxy Statement.

ltem 13. Certain Relationships, Related Transactions and &itor Independenc

The information required by this item will be inporated by reference from the information underddyation “Certain Relationships and Related
Transactions” contained in our 2013 Proxy Statement

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Servict

The information required by this item will be inporated by reference from the information undercdyations “Audit Fees”, “Audit-Related
Fees,” “Tax Fees,” "All Other Fees” and “Pre-Appab¥olicies and Procedures” contained in our 20bXyStatement.
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Iltem 15.
(a) 1.

Exhibit
Number

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

3.7

3.8

3.9

3.10

3.11

3.12

PART IV

Exhibits and Financial Statement Scheduls
Consolidated Financial Statement Sched
The Consolidated Financial Statements are fileplaisof this report
Consolidated Financial Statement Sched

Description of Document
Articles of Incorporation of Pro Pharmaceuticais;.| dated January 23, 2001, as filed with the Sary of State of tr
State of Nevad:

Articles of Merger of Pro-Pharmaceuticals, IncMassachusetts corporation) into F*barmaceuticals, Inc. (a Neve
corporation) dated June 6, 20:

Certificate of Amendment to Articles of Incorpomatiof Pro Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as filed with $feeretary of State
of the State of Nevada on May 28, 20

Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Righd himitations of Series A 12% Convertible Prefer&tock of Pro
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as filed with the SecretdrState of the State of Nevada on October 5, 2

Certificate of Amendment to Articles of Incorpomatiof Pro Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as filed with $eeretary of State
of the State of Nevada on May 29, 20

Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Righitd himitations of Series B-1 Convertible Prefer@dck and Series
B-2 Convertible Preferred Stock of Pro Pharmacaigjdnc., as filed with the Secretary of Stat¢hef State of
Nevada on February 11, 20(

Certificate of Amendment to Articles of Incorpomatiof Pro Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as filed with $eeretary of State
of the State of Nevada on May 27, 20

Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Dyggtion of Preferences, Rights and Limitations erfi€s B-1
Convertible Preferred Stock and Series B-2 ConblerfPreferred Stock of Pro-Pharmaceuticals, Ircfiled with
the secretary of State of the State of Nevada ayusiil2, 200¢

Certificate of Amendment No. 2 to the CertificafdDesignation of Preferences, Rights and Limitadioh Series B-1
Convertible Preferred Stock and Series B-2 CorblerfPreferred Stock, as filed with the State of &b on
February 17, 201(

Certificate of Amendment with respect to the Amahdad Restated Certificate of Designation of Peafees, Rights
and Limitation of Series B-1 Convertible Prefer@&dck and Series B-2 Convertible Preferred StodRrof
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as filed with the SecretdiState of the State of Nevada on January 26, .z

Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Righd himitation of Series C Super Dividend ConvesiBlreferred
Stock of Pr-Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as filed with the SecretdrState of Nevada on December 30, 2(

Certificate of Amendment to Articles of Incorpomatiof Pro-Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as filed with $eeretary of the
State of Nevada on May 26, 20
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All schedules are omitted because of the abseihcenditions under which they are required orduse the required information is
included in the Consolidated Financial Statementsotes theretc

Exhibits

Note

Reference

1

14

15

16

18

19

26



Table of Contents

Exhibit

Number

3.13
3.14
4.1
4.2
4.3
4.4
4.5
4.6
4.7
4.8

10.1
10.2
10.3
10.4
10.5
10.6
10.7
10.8
10.9
10.10

10.11
10.12
10.13
10.14
10.15
10.16

Description of Document

Certificate of Change as filed with the Nevada 8ty of State on March 1, 2012.

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Galectin Therapgrtic..
Specimen certificate for shares of common st

Form of Class -1 Common Stock Purchase Warr

Form of Class -2 Common Stock Purchase Warr

Form of Class B Common Stock Purchase Wat

Amended Form of Class-1 Common Stock Purchase Warr
Amended Form of Class-2 Common Stock Purchase Warr

Amended Form of Class B Common Stock Purchase \We

Warrant Agreement dated as of March 28, 2012, terivigalectin Theapeitucs Inc. and Continental Sioeksfer and

Trust Company, as warrant agent (including fornwafrant certificate
Prc-Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2001 Stock Incentive F
Prc-Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2003 M-employee Director Stock Incentive Pl
Employment Agreement, effective January 2, 2004yéen Pro Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and David F
Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement (under2861 Stock Incentive Plar
Form of Nor-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (under the 200dcktincentive Plan’
Form of Nor-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (under the 2003-Employee Director Stock Incentive Pla
Form of Common Stock Purchase Warri
Promissory Note dated February 12, 2009 issued®yPRarmaceuticals, Inc. in favor of 10X Fund, 1
Security Agreement dated February 12, 2009 betWweerPharmaceuticals, Inc. and 10X Fund, |

Escrow Agreement dated February 12, 2009 amond’Raomaceuticals, Inc., 10X Fund, L.P. and Investrhaw
Group of Gillett, Mottern & Walker, LLP, as Escrogent.

Registration Rights Agreement dated February 1292f&tween Pro Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and 10X Auid
Separation Agreement dated February 12, 2009 batReePharmaceuticals, Inc. and David Platt, P
Prc-Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2009 Incentive Compensatian.

Form of Restricted Stock Grant Agreement (unde2®@9 Incentive Compensation Pla

Form of Nor-Qualified Stock Option Grant Agreement (under tB82Incentive Compensation Pla

Form of Incentive Stock Option Grant Agreement @mithe 2009 Incentive Compensation Pl

37

Note

Reference

30

»

o o1 o1 N

20
20
20

36
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11
11
11
12
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13
13
13



Table of Contents

Exhibit

Number

10.17
10.18
10.19
10.20
10.21
10.22
10.23
10.24
10.25
10.26
10.27
10.28
10.29
10.30
10.31

10.32
10.33
10.34
10.35

10.36
10.37
10.38

21.1*
23.1*

Description of Document

Agreement with the 10X Fund L.P., dated February2010.
Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated August 3, B3L@d to Peter Trabe

Letter Agreement Between 10X Fund, L.P. anc-Pharmaceuticals, In

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement for SeriSsi@er Dividend Convertible Preferred St

Agreement dated January 21, 2011, betwee-Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and 10X Fund L

Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement dated March 7,2

Amended Employment Agreement dated March 8, 20tdidEn Anthony D. Squeglia, and -Pharmaceuticals, In
Amended Employment Agreement dated March 8, 20tdidmn Maureen Foley, and I-Pharmaceuticals, In
Amended Employment Agreement dated March 31, 2@hwden Anatole Klyosov, and F-Pharmaceuticals, In
Employment Agreement dated March 31, 2011 betwdienoier and Pr-Pharmaceuticals, In

Separation Agreement dated March 31, 2011 betwss-Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Theodore D. Zuc
Agreement dated April 22, 2011, between-Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Sig-Aldrich, Inc.

Employment Agreement dated March 31, 2011 betwederAraber, and Galectin Therapeutics

Employment Agreement dated June 28, 2011 betwewasl€. Czirr, and Galectin Therapeutics

Collaboration, Supply, Marketing and Distributiogrement dated October 18, 2011 between PROCAPSB8dA
Galectin Therapeutics In

Nonr-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Peter G. Trab&D.
Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for James C. C
Consulting Agreement, dated March 2, 2012 betwealec®n Therapeutics Inc. and Thomas A. McGai

Independent Consulting Agreement dated April 3A.2Z®etween Scott L. Friedman, M.D. and Galectierdpeutics
Inc.

Amended Employment Agreement dated July 19, 2012dmn Maureen Foley and Galectin Therapeutics
Employment Agreement dated August 27, 2012, 201&d®n Harold H. Shlevin and Galectin Therapeutics

Independent Consulting Agreement dated Septemhe2Qll? between Thomas A. McGauley and Galectin
Therapeutics Inc

Subsidiaries of Galectin Therapeutics |

Consent of McGladrey LLP, an independent registerdalic accounting firm

38

Note

Reference

16
17
17
21
20
22
23
23
24
24
24
25
26
27

29
28
28
31

32
32
32

32
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Exhibit
Number
31.1*
31.2*

32.1*%*

32.2%*

101.INS***
101.SCH***
101.CAL***
101.DEF***
101.LAB***
101.PRE***

* Filed herewith

Description of Document
Certification Pursuant to Rule 1-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1€

Certification Pursuant to Rule 1-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1€

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbamézsy@.ct
of 2002.

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbamézsy@.ct
of 2002.

XBRL Instance documen

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docume
XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Docume
XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Documel
XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase Docume

XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Docum:

**  Furnished herewith and n“filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exgkahct of 1934, as amende

*
*
*

ONoO~LONE

Submitted electronically herewit
Incorporated by reference to the Comg’'s Registration Statement on Forn-SB, as filed with the Commission on June 13, 2I
Incorporated by reference to the Comg’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q filed with the Commission on August 16, 20
Incorporated by reference to the Comg’s Current Report on Forn-K filed with the Commission on October 9, 20
Incorporated by reference to the Comg’s Current Report on Forn-K filed with the Commission on June 2, 20!
Incorporated by reference to the Comg’s Current Report on Forn-K filed with the Commission on February 18, 20
Incorporated by reference to the Comg’s Current Report on Forn-K filed with the Commission on December 17, 2C
Incorporated by reference to the Comg’s Annual Report on Form -K as filed with the Commission on March 30, 20
Incorporated by reference to the Company’s @uigrReport on Form 10-QSB for the quarter endgateSeber 30, 2001 filed with the

Commission on November 14, 20(

s ©

Incorporated by reference to the Comg’s Registration Statement on Fori-8, as filed with the Commission on October 22, 2(
0. Incorporated by reference to the Company’s AhReport on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended@mrber 31, 2003, as filed with the

Commission on March 30, 20C
11. Incorporated by reference to the Company’s t@dsrReport on Form 1@ for the period ended September 30, 2004 aswilgdthe Commissio
on November 19, 200.
12. Incorporated by reference to the Com’s Current Report on Forn-K as filed with the Commission on February 15, 2(
13. Incorporated by reference to the Comg’s Annual Report on Form -K as filed with the Commission on March 30, 20
14. Incorporated by reference to the Com’s Current Report on Forn-K filed with the Commission on May 28, 20(

39

Note

Reference
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15. Incorporated by reference to the Company’s @ugrReport on Form 10-Q for the period ended BMe2009 as filed with the Commission on
August 14, 200¢

16. Incorporated by reference to the Com’s Current Report on Forn-K as filed with the Commission on February 17, 2(

17. Incorporated by reference to the Comf’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q as filed with the Commission on August 13, 2(

18. Incorporated by reference to the Com’s Current Report on Forn-K as filed with the Commission on January 27, 2(

19. Incorporated by reference to the Com’s Current Report on Forn-K as filed with the Commission on January 6, 2(

20. Incorporated by reference to the Comf’s Current Report on Forn-K as filed with the Commission on January 27, 2(

21. Incorporated by reference to the Comf’s Current Report on Forn-K as filed with the Commission on January 6, 2(

22. Incorporated by reference to the Comf’s Current Report on Forn-K as filed with the Commission on March 9, 20

23. Incorporated by reference to the Comg’s Current Report on Forn-K as filed with the Commission on March 14, 20

24. Incorporated by reference to the Comf’s Current Report on Forn-K as filed with the Commission on April 6, 201

25. Incorporated by reference to the Comf’s Current Report on Forn-K as filed with the Commission on April 28, 20:

26. Incorporated by reference to the Comf’s Current Report on Forn-K as filed with the Commission on June 2, 2C

27. Incorporated by reference to the Comf’s Current Report on Forn-K as filed with the Commission on July 5, 20

28. Incorporated by reference to the Comf’s Current Report on Forn-K as filed with the Commission on August 15, 20

29. Incorporated by reference to the Comf’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q as filed with the Commission on November 10, 2(

30. Incorporated by reference to the Comf’s Current Report on Forn-K as filed with the Commission on March 23, 20

31. Incorporated by reference to the Comf’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q as filed with the Commission on May 11, 20

32. Incorporated by reference to the Comf’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q as filed with the Commission on November 9, 2(
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be signedson it
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authdrine March 29, 2013.

GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC

By: /s/ PeTerRG. TRABER
Name: Peter G. Traber, M.|
Title: Chief Executive Officer and Preside

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélptine following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dat#isdted.

Signature Title Date
/s/ PETERG. TRABER Chief Executive Officer, President and Director March 29, 2013
Peter G. Traber, M.C (principal executive officer)
/s/ THoMASA. M cG AULEY Chief Financial Officer March 29, 2013
Thomas A. McGaule (principal financial and accounting officer)
/sl JameEsC. CZzIRR Executive Chairman and Director March 29, 2013
James C. Czit
/s/ RobD. M ARTIN Vice-Chairman and Director March 29, 2013
Rod D. Matrtin
/sl GILBERT F. A MELIO Director March 29, 2013
Gilbert F. Amelio
/s/ ARTHURR. GREENBERG Director March 29, 2013
Arthur R. Greenber
/s/  KEVIN D. F REEMAN Director March 29, 2013
Kevin D. Freemai
/s/  JOHNM AULDIN Director March 29, 2013
John Mauldin
/s/  STEVEN P RELACK Director March 29, 2013
Steven Prelac
/s/ H. PauL PRESSLER Director March 29, 2013
H. Paul Pressle
/sl  JERALD K. R oMmE Director March 29, 2013
Jerald K. Rom¢
/sl MARCR uBIN Director March 29, 2013

Marc Rubin, M.D.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of GileEherapeutics Inc.
Norcross, Georgi

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgineets of Galectin Therapeutics Inc. and suby&di (a development stage company) (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, aaddlated consolidated statements of operatiors)gds in redeemable convertible preferred stock
and stockholdergquity (deficit), and cash flows for the years tleeaded, and for the period from inception (July2@)0) to December 31, 2012. Th
financial statements are the responsibility of@menpany’s management. Our responsibility is to egpran opinion on these financial statements based
on our audits. The financial statements for théggefrom inception (July 10, 2000) to December 2009 were audited by other auditors and our
opinion, insofar as it relates to cumulative ameuntluded for such prior periods, is based saelyhe report of other such auditors.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstais of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audits to obtain nealle assurance about whether the financial stattsnaee free of material misstatement. The Com

is not required to have, nor were we engaged timper an audit of its internal control over finaalcieporting. Our audits included consideration of
internal control over financial reporting as a kdsir designing audit procedures that are apprpiiathe circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of thm@any’s internal control over financial reportidg:cordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit
also includes examining, on a test basis, evideopgorting the amounts and disclosures in the fiiahstatements, assessing the accounting prirsciple
used and significant estimates made by managememtell as evaluating the overall financial statenpeesentation. We believe that our audits provide
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, based on our audits and the repioother auditors, the consolidated financial stants referred to above present fairly, in all mate
respects, the financial position of the Compangfd3ecember 31, 2012 and 2011, and the resultisedf bperations and their cash flows for the years
then ended, and for the period from inception (dfly2000) to December 31, 2012 in conformity Vitls. generally accepted accounting principles.

/sl McGladrey LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 29, 2013
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.
(A Development-Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Total current asse
Property and equipment, r
Restricted cash and security dep:
Intangible assets, n
Total asset

LIABILITIES, REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(DEFICIT)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Accrued dividends payab
Deferred incom
Total current liabilities
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note

Series B-1 12% redeemable convertible preferretks@00,000 shares authorized, issued and outstguadi
December 31, 2012 and 2011, redemption value godlhtion value: $1,800,000, at December 31, Z
Series B-2 12% redeemable convertible preferretks®100,000 shares authorized, issued and odistaat
December 31, 2012 and 2011, redemption value godlhtion value: $4,200,000, at December 31, Z
Series C super dividend convertible preferred sta@00 shares authorized, 220 issued and outstguadiDecember 3
2012 and 2011, redemption value: $5,204,000, lfioah value: $2,233,000 at December 31, 2
Stockholder equity (deficit):
Undesignated stock, $0.01 par value; 20,000,00feshkauthorized at December 31, 2012 and 2011,
8,001,000 shares designated at December 31, 2@120d411
Series A 12% convertible preferred stock; 5,000 §ires authorized, 1,562,500 issued and outstaadlir
December 31, 2012 and 20

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 50,000,000 sharth®azed at December 31, 2012 and 2011, 16,060,853

and 12,919,538 issued and outstanding at Decenih@032 and 2011, respective
Additional paic-in capital
Deficit accumulated during the development st
Total stockholdel’ equity (deficit)
Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferstdck and stockholde equity (deficit)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

F-2

December 31

2012 2011
(in thousands)

$ 9,364 $ 6,397
158 104
9,51 6,501
8 6
6 69
3C 36
$ 397 $ 384
1,161 1,551
8C 8C
— 20C
1,63¢ 2,21¢
___ 6 =
1,64¢ 2,21%
1,69¢ 1,681
2,90(C 2,681
2,15¢ 2,15¢
632 632
1€ 13
80,53¢ 66,36
(80,019 (69,139
1,165 (2,129
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.
(A Development-Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Operating expense
Research and developme
General and administratiy

Total operating expens:
Total operating los
Other income (expense
Interest incom
Interest expens
Change in fair value of convertible debt instrurr
Change in fair value of warrant liabiliti
Other income
Total other income (expens
Net loss
Preferred stock dividenc
Preferred stock accretic
Net loss applicable to common stockholc

Basic and diluted net loss per sh

Shares used in computing basic and diluted netdesshare

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Cumulative
from
inception
(July 10,
Year Ended 2000) to
December 31, December 31
2012 2011 2012
(in thousands, except per share amount:
$ 4,527 $ 3,552 $ 27,61
5,372 6,851 47,03¢
9,89¢ 10,40¢ 74,64¢
9,899) (10,409 (74,646
24 18 81¢
— — (4,457
— — (3,426
— (524) 9,02:
20C — 691
224 (50€) 2,65¢
$ (9,679 $(10,915 $ (71,99)
(97€) (1,56¢) (4,235
(230 (230) (4,045
$(10,88:) $(12,719) $ (80,279
$ (0.79 $ (1.06
15,13 11,98¢
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.
(A Development-Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE CON VERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’

EQUITY (DEFICIT)

Cumulative Period From Inception (July 10, 2000) tdecember 31, 2012

(in thousands except share data)

Series E-1 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series E-2 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series C Supel
Dividend
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Stockholders’ Deficit

Series A 12%
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Common Stock

Number of Number of

Shares Amount Shares Amount

Number of

Shares Amount

Number of

Shares  Amount

Additional

Paid-In
Capital

Number of

Shares Amount

Deficit
Accumulatec

During the
Developmen

Stage

Total
Stockholders

Deficit

Issuance of
founders
shares
July 10, 200(

Beneficial
conversion
feature and
rights to
common
stock
embedded in
convertible
note in 200(

Issuance of
common
stock and
beneficial
conversion
feature
related to
convertible
note in 2001

Issuance of
common
stock in
connection
with reverse
merger of
Pro-
Pharmaceuticals
-NV in 2001

Conversion of
notes payabl
and accrued
interest to
common
stock in 2001

$ —

$—

2,059,11: $ 2 $ 7

110,05: 1,03¢

203,64

99,70t 1,12¢

22z

1,03¢

1,12¢
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.
(A Development-Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE CON VERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’

EQUITY (DEFICIT) — (Continued)
Cumulative Period From Inception (July 10, 2000) tdecember 31, 2012
(in thousands except share data)

Series E-1 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series -2 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series C Supel
Dividend
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Stockholders’ Deficit

Series A 12%
Convertible

Preferred Stock Common Stock

Issuance of warrants to induce
conversion of notes payable |
2001

Issuance of common stock and
warrants (net of issuance costs
of $17,000) in 200:

Issuance of common stock (net
issuance costs of $49,000) in
2002

Issuance of common stock related
to 2002 private placement (net
of issuance costs of $212,0(

Conversion of notes payable an
accrued interest to common
stock

Issuance of warrants to purchase
common stock in consideration
for placement of convertible

Deficit
Accumulated

Additional  During the Total

Number of Number of Number of Number of Number of Developmen Stockholders
Paid-In

Shares Amount Shares Amount _Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares  Amount _ Capital Stage Deficit
50z 50z
114,88 2,221 2,221
31,00( 602 60z
537,22 1 2,86( 2,861
17,64% 29C 29C
23€ 23€

notes payable in 20(
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.
(A Development-Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE CON VERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’

EQUITY (DEFICIT) — (Continued)

Cumulative Period From Inception (July 10, 2000) tdecember 31, 2012

(in thousands except share data)

Series E-1 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series E-2 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series C Supel
Dividend
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Stockholders’ Deficit

Series A 12%
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Common Stock

Number of

Shares

Amount

Number of

Shares

Amount

Number of

Shares  Amount

Number of

Shares

Amount

Additional
Number of
Paid-In
Capital

Shares Amount

Deficit
Accumulatec

During the Total
Developmen Stockholders

Stage Deficit

Issuance of common
stock to investors
2002 private
placement (net of
issuance costs of
$18,000)

Issuance of common
stock to consultan
for services related
to 2002 private
placemen

Receipt of
subscription
receivable

Conversion of accrue
expenses to
common stock and
options

Issuance of common
stock to investors
May, 2003 private
placement (net of
issuance costs of
$128,000

F-6

181,33 1,07¢

2,04z 12

15C

33,61¢ 30z

399,91 1 4,40¢

1,07¢

12

15C

30z

4,41(
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.
(A Development-Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE CON VERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’

EQUITY (DEFICIT) — (Continued)

Cumulative Period From Inception (July 10, 2000) tdecember 31, 2012

(in thousands except share data)

Series E-1 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series E-2 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series C Supel
Dividend
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Stockholders’ Deficit

Series A 12%
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Common Stock

Fair value of common stock
warrants issued to placement
agents in May, 2003 private
placemen

Issuance of common stock to
investors in October, 2003
private placement (net of
issuance costs of $559,0(

Cashless exercise of employee
stock options

Issuance of common stock to
investors in April, 2004 private
placement (net of issuance costs

Deficit
Accumulated

Additional  During the Total

Number of Number of Number of Number of Number of Developmen Stockholders
Paid-In

Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares  Amount Capital Stage Deficit
261 261
219,09¢ 1,31¢ 1,31¢
2,772 74 74
206,01¢ 1,89¢ 1,89¢

of $466,000
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.
(A Development-Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE CON VERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’

EQUITY (DEFICIT) — (Continued)

Cumulative Period From Inception (July 10, 2000) tdecember 31, 2012

(in thousands except share data)

Series E-1 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series -2 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series C Supel
Dividend
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Stockholders Deficit

Series A 12%
Convertible

Preferred Stock Common Stock

Number of Number of Number of

Shares  Amount _Shares Amount  Shares Amount

Additional
Number of
Paid-In
Capital

Number of

Shares  Amount Shares Amount

Deficit
Accumulated

During the

Total

Developmen Stockholders

Stage

Deficit

Issuance of commo
stock to investor:
in August, 2004
private placemer
(net of issuance
costs of
$485,000
Common stock
issued in 2006
related to
convertible
debenture
conversions
Common stock
issued in 2006
and 2007 related
to convertible
debenture
redemption:
Common stock
issued in 2007
related to
convertible
debenture waiver
and exchange
agreemen

333,33« 1

79,361

1,74¢

1,227,97. 1 3,941

867,55t 1 5,32¢

49C

1,74¢

3,94¢

5,33(
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.
(A Development-Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE CON VERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’

EQUITY (DEFICIT) — (Continued)

Cumulative Period From Inception (July 10, 2000) tdecember 31, 2012

(in thousands except share data)

Series E-1 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series E-2 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series C Supel
Dividend
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Stockholders’ Deficit

Series A 12%
Convertible

Preferred Stock Common Stock

Series A 12% Convertibl
Preferred Stock issuel
in a February 4, 2008
private placement (ne
of cash issuance cost:
of $52,000)

Common stock issued in a
February 25, 2008
offering (net of cash
issuance costs of
$369,000

Issuance of common sto
in payment of Series #
12% Convertible
Preferred Dividen(

Issuance of Common
Stock Warrant:

Reclassification of
Warrant Liabilities

Deferred compensation
relating to issuance of

Deficit
Accumulated

Additional  During the Total

Number of Number of Number of Developmen Stockholders’
Number of Number of Paid-In

Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount _ Capital Stage Deficit
1,742,501 704 704
1,250,001 1 1,04: 1,04¢
160,33 87t (922) (47)
2C 20
3,19¢ 3,19¢
45¢ 45¢

stock options
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.
(A Development-Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE CON VERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’

EQUITY (DEFICIT) — (Continued)

Cumulative Period From Inception (July 10, 2000) tdecember 31, 2012

(in thousands except share data)

Series E-1 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series E-2 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series C Supel
Dividend
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Stockholders’ Deficit

Series A 12%
Convertible

Preferred Stock Commol

n Stock

Number of

Shares  Amount

Number of

Shares  Amount

Number of

Shares  Amount

Number of Number of

Shares  Amount _ Shares

Additional

Paid-In
Amount _Capital

During the
Developmen

Stage

Deficit
Accumulated

Total
Stockholders’

Deficit

Stock compensation expense
related to fair market
revaluatior

Stock based compensation
expense

Stock compensation related 1
the issuance of common
shares

Cumulative effect of adoption
of new accounting principl

Issuance of Series B-1
redeemable convertible
preferred stock and
warrants, net of issuance
costs of $300,00

Accretion of Series B-1
redeemable convertible
preferred stock to
redemption valu

900,00 39t

1,30¢

F-10

12,518

157

11,63t

53

(45¢)

1,10¢

157

11,63¢

53

254 (204)

1,10¢

(1,309 (1,309
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.

(A Development-Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE CON VERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’

EQUITY (DEFICIT) — (Continued)

Cumulative Period From Inception (July 10, 2000) tdecember 31, 2012

(in thousands except share data)

Series E-1 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series -2 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series C Supel
Dividend
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Stockholders’ Deficit

Series A 12%
Convertible

Preferred Stock Common Stock

Issuance of Series B-2
redeemable convertible
preferred stock and
warrants, net of issuan:
costs of $188,00

Beneficial conversion
feature recognized on
issuance of series B-2
redeemable convertible
preferred stocl

Issuance of Series C supe
dividend convertible
preferred stock, net of
issuance costs of
$47,000

Conversion of Series C
super dividend
convertible preferred
stock to common stoc

Deficit
Accumulated

Additional  During the Total

Number of Number of Number of Number of Developmen Stockholders
Number of Paid-In

Shares Amount  Shares Amount Shares  Amount Shares Amount Shares  Amount Capital Stage Deficit
2,100,000 1,17¢ 2,761 2,761
(1,016 1,01¢ 1,01¢

228 2,20 —
(5) (49 8,33¢ 48 49
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.
(A Development-Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE CON VERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’

EQUITY (DEFICIT) — (Continued)

Cumulative Period From Inception (July 10, 2000) tdecember 31, 2012

(in thousands except share data)

Series E-1 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series E-2 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series C Supel
Dividend
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Stockholders’ Deficit

Series A 12%
Convertible

Preferred Stock Common Stock

Accretion of Series B-2
redeemable convertible
preferred stock to
redemption valu

Series B-1 12% redeemable
convertible preferred sto
dividend

Series B-2 12% redeemabl:
convertible preferred sto
dividend

Series C super dividend
convertible preferred sto
dividend

Accretion of beneficial
conversion feature for
Series -2

Issuance of restricted
common stocl

Issuance of common stock

Deficit
Accumulated

Additional  During the Total

Number of Number of Number of Number of Developmen Stockholders’
Number of Paid-In

Shares  Amount Shares Amount Shares  Amount Shares Amount  Shares Amount _ Capital Stage Deficit
2,057 (2,057 (2,05%)

298,80° 1,03¢ (1,039 —

568,72: 2,02: (2,029 —
63,11¢ 224 (257) (33)
68t (685) (68E)

454,16° 1 (1) —
3,419,571 3 14,30« 14,30

upon exercise of warran
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.
(A Development-Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE CON VERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’

EQUITY (DEFICIT) — (Continued)

Cumulative Period From Inception (July 10, 2000) tdecember 31, 2012

(in thousands except share data)

Series E-1 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series -2 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series C Supel

Dividend

Convertible
Preferred Stock

Stockholders’ Deficit

Series A 12%
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Common Stock

Number of
Number of

Shares  Amount Shares Amount

Shares

Number of

Amount

Number of

Shares Amount

Deficit
Accumulated

Additional  During the Total
Developmen Stockholders’
Paid-In
Capital

Number of

Shares Amount Stage Deficit

Issuance of
common
stock upon
exercise of
options

Conversion of
Series A to
common
stock

2012 Issuanct
of common
stock and
warrants,
net of
issuance
costs of
$1,597,00(

Issuance of
shares
related to
reverse spl
of common
stock

Net loss sinct
inception

(180,000  (72)

398,93 1 361 362

30,00( 72 —

2,666,72. 3 10,40( 10,40:

3,32¢ —

(71,999  (71,99)

Balance at
December 31

2012 900,00( $1,69¢ 2,100,000 $2,90(

22(C $2,15¢

1,562,500 $ 632

16,060,85 $ 1€ $80,53t $ (80,01 $ 1,16f

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.
(A Development-Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE CON VERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’

EQUITY (DEFICIT)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(amounts in thousands except share data)

Series E-2 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series E-1 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series C Supel
Dividend
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Stockholders' Deficit

Series A 12%
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Common Stock

Number of
Shares  Amount

Number of
Shares  Amount

Number of

Shares  Amount

Number of Number of
Shares  Amount Shares

Amount

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Deficit
Accumulated
During the Total
Developmen Stockholders’
Stage Deficit

Balance at December 31, 201
Accretion of Series B redeemal
convertible preferred stoc 17
Accretion of beneficia
conversion feature for Serie
B-2 54
Issuance of Series C suj
dividend convertible preferr
stock
Series A 12% convertible
preferred stock dividen
Series I-1 12% redeemab
convertible preferred stock
dividend
Series B-2 12% redeemable
convertible preferred stock
dividend
Series C super divider
convertible preferred stock
dividend
Issuance of restricted common
stock
Issuance of common stock up
exercise of warrant
Issuance of common stock up
exercise of option
Conversion of Series A 1
common stocl
Conversion of Series C
common stocl
Stock-based compensation
expense
Net loss

900,00 $ 1,66¢ 2,100,000 $ 2,47

15¢

21z $ 2,07¢

13 13C

® (49

1592500 $ 644 10,651,53 $

30,32!

59,58¢

139,03

17,06¢
20,83¢
1,771,38:
216,44(
5,00(

(30,000) (12)

8,33/

11 $ 54,07t

18C

37¢

881

97

2 7,21¢

234

12

49

3,24%

§ (5642) § (1,699

(176) (176)

(9 (9

(79 1

(379) —

(881) =

(130 (39
7,21¢
234
49

3,24¢

(10,919 (10,915

Balance at December 31, 201 900,00 $ 1,681 2,100,000 $ 2,687

22C $ 2,15¢

F-14
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.
(A Development-Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE CON VERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’

EQUITY (DEFICIT) — (Continued)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(amounts in thousands except share data)

Series E-1 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series E-2 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series C Supel
Dividend
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Stockholders' Deficit

Series A 12%
Convertible

Preferred Stock Common Stock

Number of
Shares

Number of

Shares  Amount Amount

Number of

Shares  Amount

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Number of
Shares

Number of

Shares  Amount Amount

Deficit
Accumulated
During the Total
Developmen Stockholders’
Stage Deficit

Accretion of Series B redeemal
convertible preferred stoc 17
Accretion of beneficial conversic
feature for Series-2 56
Issuance of common stock a
warrants, net of issuance co
of $1,597,00(
Issuance of shares related to
reverse split of common sto
Series A 12% convertibl
preferred stock dividen
Series -1 12% redeemab
convertible preferred stock
dividend
Series -2 12% redeemab
convertible preferred stock
dividend
Series C super divider
convertible preferred stock
dividend
Issuance of common stock
consultant:
Issuance of common stock up
exercise of warrant
Issuance of common stock up
exercise of option
Stock-based compensatic
expense
Net loss

157

2,666,72; 3 10,40(
3,32¢

31,25( 10z

95,58« 224

223,02 522

46,05! 127
11,34¢ 26
12,17}
51,83(

2,76¢€

(174
(56)

(174
(56)

10,40z

(103) =

(224) —

(529 -

(127) —

2,76¢€

(9,675 (9,67

Balance at December 31, 201 900,000 $ 1,69¢ 2,100,000 $ 2,90(

22 $ 2,15¢

1562500 $ 63z 16,060,85 $

16 $ 8053 $

(80,019 $ 1,16t

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.
(A Development-Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities

Depreciation and amortizatic

Stock-based compensation expel

Non-cash interest expen

Change in fair value of convertible debt instrur

Change in fair value of warrant liabiliti

Write off of intangible asse

Changes in operating assets and liabilii
Grant receivabl
Prepaid expenses and other as
Accounts payable and accrued expel
Other lon¢-term liabilities

Net cash used in operating activi

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property and equipm
Change in restricted cash and security de|
Increase in patents costs and other a:
Net cash provided by (used in) investintviies
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock ancawts
Net proceeds from issuance of Series A 12% corblentireferred stock and related warre

Net proceeds from issuance of Seri-1 12% redeemable convertible preferred stock aiatextwarrant:
Net proceeds from issuance of Seri-2 12% redeemable convertible preferred stock aatledwarrant:

Net proceeds from issuance of Series C super dididenvertible preferred stoi
Net proceeds from issuance of convertible debtunstnts
Repayment of convertible debt instrume
Net proceeds from exercise of common stock warramdsoptions
Proceeds from shareholder advar
Net cash provided by financing activit
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF PERIOI
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF PERIOI

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSUR—Cash paid for intere:
NONCASH FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Issuance of equity warrants in connection with gooiferings
Conversion of accrued expenses into common ¢
Cashless exercise of stock options and wari
Conversion and redemptions of convertible notesamedued interest into common stc
Conversion of extension costs related to convertilites into common sto
Payment of preferred stock dividends in commonks
Issuance of warrants to induce conversion of noagsble
Issuance of stock to acquire -Pharmaceutica-NV

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended
December 31

2012 2011
(in thousands)
$ (9,679 $ (10,91
9 9
2,792 3,24¢
J— 52¢
— 23
(55) (34)
679 1,27:
6 (12)
(7,500 (5,676
(5) (5
69 (1C)
64 (15)
10,40z —
— 13C
— 6,067
10,40¢ 6,191
2,961 50¢€
6,397 5,89’
$ 9,36¢ $ 6,391
$ — $ —
$ 4,44F $ —
26 —
23t 341
97€ 1,53¢

Cumulative
Period from
Inception
(July 10, 2000

to
December 31
2012

$ (71,997

55€
12,37:
4,27¢
3,42¢

(9,022
351

(156)
1,62¢
6

(58,559
(431)

(404)
(839

39,09:
1,691
1,54¢
3,93¢
2,20

10,62:
(1,64
11,29:
9
68,75:
9,361

$ 9,36¢
$ 114

$ 9,48:
32¢

674

12,24%

171

4,15¢

508

107
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.
(A DEVELOPMENT-STAGE COMPANY)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Nature of Business and Basis of Presentatic

Galectin Therapeutics Inc. (the “Company”) is a@lepment-stage company that is applying its leddeiis galectin science and drug
development to create new therapies for fibrotiedse and cancer. These candidates are based@ontipany’s targeting of galectin proteins
which are key mediators of biologic and patholdgitction. These compounds also may have applicétiodrugs to treat other diseases and
chronic health conditions.

On March 23, 2012, the Company effected a oneiforeverse stock split. All common share and parstamounts in these financial statements
have been adjusted to reflect the effect of thensy split. On March 28, 2012, the Company sol8& &2 shares of common stock and related
$5.63 warrants to purchase 1,333,361 shares of constock for gross proceeds of $12,000,000 (netqads of $10,403,000). See Note 6, for
further discussion of the transaction.

The Company has operated at a loss since its loceptd has had no significant revenues. The Cognpaticipates that losses will continue for
the foreseeable future. At December 31, 2012, trafgany had $9,364,000 of unrestricted cash andemsiralents available to fund future
operations. The Company believes that with the cashand at December 31, 2012, there is suffidash to fund operations through the first
quarter of 2014. The Company'’s ability to fund @irms after its current cash resources are exbdaduasipends on its ability to obtain additional
financing or achieve profitable operations, as kicl no assurances can be given. The Company katoged several plans, including cost
containment efforts and potential strategic altéwea in the event that such financing cannot la¢ized by the Company. Accordingly, based on
the forecasts and estimates underlying the Companytent operating plan, the financial statemdotsot currently include any adjustments that
might be necessary if the Company is unable toiwoatas a going concern.

As shown in the consolidated financial statemethts Company incurred cumulative net losses apgkca@bcommon stockholders of $80.3 mill
for the cumulative period from inception (July 2000) through December 31, 2012. The Company'séosses have resulted principally from
costs associated with (i) research and developmgrenses, including clinical trial costs, (ii) geadleand administrative activities and (iii) the
Company’s financing transactions including interestidend payments, and the costs related tovidire accounting for the Company’s
convertible debt instruments. As a result of plaheependitures for future research, discovery, ligweent and commercialization activities and
potential legal cost to protect its intellectuabperty, the Company expects to incur additionaddéssand use additional cash in its operations for
the foreseeable future. Through December 31, 20&2Company had raised a net total of $68.8 mililocapital through sale and issuance of
common stock, common stock purchase warrants, ctibleepreferred stock and debt securities in pubhd private offerings. From inception
(July 10, 2000) through December 31, 2012, the Gomjpused cash of $58.6 million in its operations.

The Company was founded in July 2000, was incotpdrin the State of Nevada in January 2001 undendéime “Pro-Pharmaceuticals, Inc.,” and
changed its name to “Galectin Therapeutics Inc.May 26, 2011. On March 23, 2012, the Company beégating on The NASDAQ Capital
Market under the symbol GALT. Prior to March 23120the Company was traded on the Over-the Contietin Board (“OTCBB”) under the
symbol GALT.OB (previously PRWP.OB) from January 2009 to March 22, 2012 after the Company wastslifrom the NYSE Alternext US
(“Exchange”), formerly the American Stock Exchandee to non-compliance with the Exchange minimuaresholders’ equity requirements on
January 9, 2009.
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The Company is subject to a number of risks simdathose of other development-stage companiekidimy dependence on key individuals,
uncertainty of product development and generatfmewenues, dependence on outside sources of Lajsks associated with clinical trials of
products, dependence on third-party collaboratmrsesearch operations, need for regulatory appafyaroducts, risks associated with protection
of intellectual property, and competition with largbetter-capitalized companies. Successful caimplef the Company’s development program
and, ultimately, the attainment of profitable opienas is dependent upon future events, includingioing adequate financing to fulfill its
development activities and achieving a level obraes adequate to support the Company’s coststeudthere are no assurances that the
Company will be able to obtain additional financmgfavorable terms, or at all, or successfully keaits products.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accompanying consolidated financial statemeflsct the application of certain accounting pels; as described in this note and elsewhe
the accompanying notes to the consolidated findstadements.

Basis of Consolidation. The consolidated financial statements include twants of the Company and Galectin Therapeuticar@g Corp., its
wholly-owned subsidiary, which was incorporatediglaware on December 23, 2003. Galectin Therape8gcurity Corp. holds the cash and
cash equivalents that are not required to fundectioperating needs. All intercompany transactlenge been eliminated.

Use of Estimates. The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith accounting principles generally acceptethi@ United States of
America requires management to make estimatesuggenents that may affect the reported amountssdtagsliabilities, equity, revenue, exper
and related disclosure of contingent assets ahdities. Management’s estimates and judgmentsighelassumptions used in stock option and
warrant liability valuations, useful lives of prapeand equipment and intangible assets, accraéilities, deferred income taxes and various ¢
assumptions that are believed to be reasonable timeleircumstances. Actual results may differ frihmse estimates under different assumptions
or conditions.

Fair Value Measurements The Company has certain financial assetsiabdifies recorded at fair value. Fair values det@ed by Level 1

inputs utilize observable data such as quoted piicactive markets. Fair values determined by L2vaputs utilize data points other than quoted
prices in active markets that are observable edhectly or indirectly. Fair values determined lbgvel 3 inputs utilize unobservable data points in
which there is little or no market data, which rigguhe reporting entity to develop its own assuond. The estimated value of accounts payable
and accrued expenses approximates their carryilng dae to their short-term nature using level@uis as defined above. Included in cash and
cash equivalents, as of December 31, 2012 and 204 Company had $583,000 and $6,123,000, respégtinvested in money market funds
which had calculated net asset values and wereftiterclassified as Level 2.

Cash and Cash Equivalents.The Company considers all highly-liquid investmentth original maturities of 90 days or less at timee of
acquisition to be cash equivalents.

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Asset®repaid expenses and other assets consisigaligof prepaid insurance and prepaid rent on the
Company’s leased executive office space.

Property and Equipment. Property and equipment, including leasehold impnosets, are stated at cost, net of accumulated ciefion, and are
depreciated using the straight-line method oveestanated useful lives of the related assets négdly three years for computers and office
equipment, five years for furniture and fixtureslahe shorter of the useful life or life of the dedor leasehold improvements.
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Restricted Cash and Security DepositRestricted cash consists of security deposits jpétly for a real estate lease at December 31, 2811
December 31, 2012, the Company had a security degd6,000 for leased office space.

Intangible Assets. Intangible assets include patent costs, consigtimgyarily of related capitalized legal fees, whaate amortized over an
estimated useful life of five years from issuan&mortization expense in 2012 and 2011 was $6,0@0$37000, respectively. Gross intangible
assets at December 31, 2012 and 2011 totaled $¥8#&h year, and accumulated amortization at DeeeB1h 2012 and 2011 totaled $48,000
and $42,000, respectively.

Long-Lived Assets. The Company reviews all long-lived assets figpairment whenever events or circumstances indtbatearrying amount of
such assets may not be recoverable. Recoveratiiliigsets to be held or used is measured by cosopanf the carrying value of the asset to the
future undiscounted net cash flows expected todmegted by the asset. If such asset is consideteslimpaired, the impairment recognized is
measured by the amount by which the carrying vafube asset exceeds the discounted future casas Bapected to be generated by the asset.

Warrants. The Company has issued common stock warrants inembion with the execution of certain equity andtdeancings. Certain
warrants were accounted for as derivative liab#itat fair value. Such warrants did not meet ticewtting criteria that a contract should not be
considered a derivative instrument if it is (1)émed to its own stock and (2) classified in stod#tbrs’ equity. Changes in fair value of derivative
liabilities are recorded in the consolidated staetof operations under the caption “Change invaiue of warrant liabilities.” Warrants that are
not considered derivative liabilities are accourftedat fair value at the date of issuance in addél paidin capital. The fair value of warrants w
determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricirgpgei. There were no warrant liabilities as of Deben31, 2012 or 2011.

Revenue Recognition The Company records revenue provided thaetisgpersuasive evidence that an arrangement etkistprice is fixed and
determinable, services were rendered and collditjaisi reasonably assured.

Research and Development Expense€osts associated with research and developmeekasnsed as incurred. Research and development
expenses include, among other costs, salariestardgersonnel-related costs, and costs incurreglitside laboratories and other accredited
facilities in connection with clinical trials andgelinical studies.

Income Taxes. The Company accounts for income taxes in aecare with the accounting rules that requires aetas¥ liability approach to
accounting for income taxes based upon the fuxpected values of the related assets and lialsilibeferred income tax assets and liabilities are
determined based on the differences between thadial reporting and tax bases of assets anditiabibind for tax loss and credit carry forwards,
and are measured using the expected tax ratesadstirto be in effect when such basis differencesrse. Valuation allowances are established, if
necessary, to reduce the deferred tax asset tmntbent that will, more likely than not, be realized

Comprehensive Income (Loss)Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the ahangquity of a business enterprise during a pdiriom
transactions and other events and circumstancesriom-owner sources. The Company does not havéemyg of comprehensive income (loss)
other than net losses as reported.

Concentration of Credit Risk. Financial instruments that subject the Companyréditrisk consist of cash and cash equivalentscentificates
of deposit. The Company maintains cash and caskagots and
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certificates of deposit with wetlapitalized financial institutions. At times, tham@ounts may exceed federally insured limits. Then@any has r
significant concentrations of credit risk.

Stock-Based Compensation Stock-based compensation cost is measured atdhé daite based on the fair value of the award sinecognized
as expense over the service period, which genaggisesents the vesting period. For awards tha pavformance based vesting conditions the
Company recognizes the expense over the estimatétghat the awards are expected to be earnedlCompany generally uses the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model to calculate the gdate fair value of stock options. For options thaly vest upon the achievement of market
conditions, the Company values the options usiMpate Carlo model to calculate the grant datevfalue of the stock options. The expense
related to options that vest based on market comdiis not reversed should those options not aliéty vest. The expense recognized over the
service period is required to include an estimath® awards that will be forfeited.

3.  Agreement with PROCAPS S.A. and Research Grani
Agreement with PROCAPS S.A.

On March 25, 2010, the Company granted PROCAPS(@ROCAPS”) (in the form of a definitive term shipexclusive rights to market and
sell GM-CT-01 (formerly DAVANAT® ) to treat cancem iColombia, South America. PROCAPS is an intermatioprivately held pharmaceutical
company based in Barranquilla, Colombia. In Oct&8#0, the Company received a payment of $200,86Ghipped GM-CT-01 to PROCAPS
to be used by PROCAPS to qualify its vial fillingoppess and to replicate the Company’s stabilitdystdhe $200,000 payment from PROCAPS
was included as deferred income on the condensebtidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2011.

On October 18, 2011, the Company entered into Elaation, Supply, Marketing and Distribution Agreent (the “Agreement”) with
PROCAPS. The Agreement granted PROCAPS first netifmi rights to enter into similar agreements imeotCentral and South American
countries. The Company was to be the sole manufacamd supplier of GM-CD1 to PROCAPS. The Agreement obligated PROCAP $doupe
regulatory approvals necessary for the marketinthsae of GM-CT-01 naming the Company as the owhsuch approvals to the extent
permitted by law, or alternatively hold the apprsvar the Company’s benefit. PROCAPS was to payGbmpany a stated fee for each dose it
purchased and royalties at an incremental raterdeted by annual net sales of GM-CT-01. The Compatsins all intellectual property rights to
GM-CT-01 and related products and PROCAPS may roatyze, modify, reverse engineer, or otherwisefiete with the GM-CT-01 compound.
PROCAPS was not able to manufacture or sell pradibett compete with GM-CT-01 during the term of #greement and for five years
thereafter.

PROCAPS had not obtained approval to sell GM-CTrOColumbia as required by the Agreement and, @g ¥ere in material breach of the
Agreement, the Company terminated the Agreemefetctafe September 29, 2012. With no further obligat, the Company recognized the
$200,000 payment as Other Income in the Statenoéi@perations during the year ended December 312.20

Qualifying Therapeutic Discovery Project

In October 2010, the Company was notified thataswawarded $489,000 total in two federal grant®uttte Qualifying Therapeutic Discovery
Project (“QTDP”) Program for its GM-CT-01 anti-camcompound and for its GR/GM-Series of anti-fibrptirrhosis compounds for work
performed during 2010 and 2009. The Company reeegithis grant in other income in the statememipefrations for the year ended
December 31, 2010. The Company received $255,0@@egjrant in 2010 and the remaining $234,000 wesived in 2011.
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4.  Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consists of the followin@atember 31:

2012 2011
(in thousands)
Leasehold improvemen $ 2 $ 15
Computer and office equipme 13 19¢
Furniture and fixture _ 58 107
Total 74 321
Less accumulated depreciati _(66) (319
Property and equipme—net $ 8 $ 6
Depreciation expense for the years ended Decenih@032 and 2011 was $3,000 and $6,000, respegctivel
5.  Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses consist of the following at Decam34.:
2012 2011
(in thousands)
Legal and accounting fe: $ 10¢ $ 69
Accrued compensatic 42 38t
Severance agreement (Note 1,00( 1,00(
Other 10 97
Total $1,161 $1,551

6. Stockholders’ Deficit

At December 31, 2012, the Company had 50,000,08€slof common stock and 20,000,000 undesignatreshuthorized. As of December 31,
2012, 5,000,000 shares have been designated fiesel2% Convertible Preferred Stock, 900,000ehaave been designated for Series B-1
Convertible Preferred Stock, 2,100,000 shares baee designated for Series B-2 Convertible Prede8teck, 1,000 shares have been designated
for Series C Super Dividend Convertible Preferremt§and 11,999,000 remain undesignated.

The Company has raised capital through a numbeelaif and equity financing transactions. The folloyvprovides a description of the Company
equity financings and certain warrants issued imeation with such equity financings.

2001 Private Placement

During 2001, the Company sold a total of 114,88#ra$s of common stock for proceeds of $2,221,00001%17,000 of issuance costs through a
private placement of securities. In connection whils issuance, the Company issued 56,534 and B8va&ants to purchase common stock at
$39.00 and $30.00 per share, respectively. The @agnpalued the warrants at $886,000, based orr enfaket value of the Company’s common
stock of $13.68 per share. These warrants expinedarcised in 2005.

In August 2001, the Company offered warrants taérd of its outstanding convertible notes as andathent to convert prior to the maturity of
the notes. Holders representing $1,126,000 of tiistanding
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principal and accrued interest chose to conveatanversion price of $12.00 per share and rec&9etD5 common shares and 93,801 warrants.
These warrants have an exercise price of $39.06hzee and were immediately exercisable. The Coynpalued the warrants at $503,000 based
on a fair market value of the Company’s commonlstifc$13.68 per share. The value of the warransshiegn recorded as a debt conversion
expense. These warrants expired unexercised in. 2005

In 2002, the Company issued 18,334 warrants tagieats in connection with the 2001 offering. Theresats were exercisable immediately at an
exercise price of $21.00 per share and have a d0lije. The Company valued these warrants at $#86based on a deemed fair value of the
Company’s common stock of $21.00 per share anddedsuch value as interest expense in the statesheperations for the year ended
December 31, 2002. These warrants expired unerergis2012.

Public Offering

On December 13, 2001, the Company commenced acpfidiring of common stock, at a price to the peibli $21.00 per share. The Company
concluded the offering on June 30, 2002. During2®d Company sold 31,000 shares of common stottkis offering for proceeds of $602,000,
net of $49,000 of issuance costs.

2002 Private Placement

In September 2002, the Company began a privatemlest (the “2002 Private Placement”) of up to 1,668 shares of common stock at $6.00
per share. As of December 31, 2002, the Companwpblads37,227 shares for proceeds of $2,861,0aG@frissuance costs of $212,000 and stock
subscription receivable of $150,000, which reldtedhares purchased but for which payment had eeri beceived as of December 31, 2002. This
offering was closed on January 14, 2003, althowudfisasquent to year end the Company sold an additi®1a334 shares for additional proceed
$1,070,000, net of $18,000 of offering costs.

The Company compensated a registered investmeigeadvith respect to shares purchased by its cligkg of December 31, 2002, the adviser
was entitled to receive 28,917 shares of commarksithe Company also agreed to compensate a fiedestered under applicable law, and such
finder's agents, for identifying qualified invessoiAs of December 31, 2002, one of the findersnégwas entitled to receive 125 shares of
common stock. On January 14, 2003, the Compangdlte 2002 Private Placement, at which point thea@any agreed to issue the adviser an
additional 417 shares, and the finder and its adlgent an aggregate of 1,625 additional share$3,800 in cash in connection with the shares
sold subsequent to December 31, 2002 and throwgtidking date.

Shares placed by such registered adviser, find&fiader's agent were accounted for as offeringsasd valued at $6.00 per share, consistent
with the price paid for the shares placed in tHerafg. Such offering costs were netted againsptioeeeds of the 2002 Private Placement. Since
none of the 29,042 shares had been issued as efribec 31, 2002, the Company recorded the obligétiassue such shares as offering costs
payable. The additional 2,042 shares issued inalgrD03 were also valued at $6.00 per share aaded in the $18,000 offering costs recor

at the closing. These shares were subsequentlydssl2003.

During 2002, the Company also agreed to issue Bafes of common stock to an employee for findinggtors in connection with the 2002
Private Placement. None of the shares had beesdssiof December 31, 2002. These shares weregsidgly issued in 2003. Accordingly, the
Company recorded the obligation to general and adinative expenses in the statement of operatiottee amount of $6,000. On January 14,
2003, the Company closed the 2002 Private Placeraewhich point the Company agreed to issue sughi@/ee an additional 1,167 shares in
connection with shares sold subsequent to
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December 31, 2002 and through the closing date Cidmpany recorded an additional obligation of $2@,® general and administrative expe
in 2003 representing the fair value of the addaldh167 shares.

2002 Related Party Transaction
The Company agreed to issue 4,226 shares of corstook as payment for 2002 scientific advisory sersi These shares were issued in 2003.

May 2003 Private Placement

In May 2003, the Company began a private placemenp to 416,667 shares of common stock at $12e0G&ipare. As of the closing on July 15,
2003, the Company had sold 399,917 shares of consmack for proceeds of $4,671,000, net of issuaosts of $128,000. In connection with -
offering the Company issued 18,269 common stockamis (exercisable at $32.40 per share) to itseph@nt agents. The Company valued the
warrants at $261,000 using the Black-Scholes mriomodel and recorded the warrant value as offerasgs with a corresponding increase to
additional paid-in capital. These warrants expinadxercised in 2006.

October 2003 “PIPE” Transaction

On October 2, 2003 the Company closed a privagrioff, structured as a Private Investment, Pubiicity (“PIPE”), exempt from registration
under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1983which it sold to institutional investors 219,08f6the 238,096 offered shares of common sto
$21.00 per share for proceeds of $4,041,000, nissafince costs of $559,000. In connection with dffiering, the Company issued 109,549
warrants with an initial exercise price of $31.7%t phare to the investors and 10,955 warrantsamitimitial exercise price of $41.16 per share to
its placement agent. The exercise price of theamésrwas subject to adjustment pursuant to anttidil and other provisions. The investor
warrants and placement agent Warrants were valu$®,%31,000 and $191,000, respectively, usingelative fair value, and allocated to
additional paid-in-capital. The Company used thackiScholes pricing model to value these warrdrte. warrants were originally accounted for
as freestanding derivative instruments. The investorants expired unexercised in 2008 and theeptent agent warrants expired unexercised in
2007.

April 2004 “PIPE” Transaction

On April 7, 2004, the Company closed a private goofifering, structured as a “PIPE” in which it ddb certain institutional investors 206,019
shares of common stock at $21.60 per share foepdsof $3,983,000, net of cash issuance cos#68,@00. In connection with this offering, 1
Company issued 103,010 warrants to investors ajfRD1Gvarrants to a placement agent with an ingiadrcise price of $31.80 per share. The
exercise price of the warrants was subject to amlieist pursuant to anti-dilution and other provisionhe investor warrants and the placement
agent warrants were valued at $1,931,000 and $084rB8spectively, using the relative fair valued aflocated to additional paid-in-capital. The
Company used the Black-Scholes pricing model taevéthese warrants. The warrants were originallpacted for as freestanding derivative
instruments. The investor warrants expired unesettin 2009 and the placement agent warrants @xpitexercised in 2007.

August 2004 “PIPE” Transaction

On August 12, 2004, the Company closed a privatiof), structured as a “PIPE” in which it solddertain institutional investors 333,334 shares
of common stock at $18.00 per share for procee®$ &15,000, net of cash issuance costs of $485|0@®nnection with this offering the
Company issued
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333,334 warrants to the investors and 16,667 wegtarthe placement agent with an exercise prictd0 per share. The exercise price of the
warrants was subject to adjustment solely as dtrekstock splits, recapitalizations and similaeats. The investor warrants and placement agent
warrants were valued at $4,786,000 and $239,080ertively, and allocated to additional paid-initalpThe Company used the Black-Scholes
pricing model to value these warrants. The warrerg® originally accounted for as freestandingwagive instruments. These warrants expired
unexercised in 2009.

February 25, 2008 Offering

On February 25, 2008, the Company closed an offérirwhich it sold to investors (i) an aggregatd (50,000 shares of the Compangbmmor
stock at $3.00 per share, (ii) warrants, which exph August 25, 2013, to purchase an aggreg&tg66,000 share of the Company’s common
stock at an exercise price of $3.50 per share(ighdiarrants, which expired on December 26, 20@8)urchase an aggregate of 500,000 shat
the Company’s common stock at an exercise pri8af8 per share. In addition, the Company issuedplacement agent warrants, which expire
on August 25, 2013, to purchase 34,375 sharesedEtimpany’s common stock at an exercise price @Uder share. The warrants are
exercisable beginning on August 25, 2008. The vmsrprovide for cashless exercise if at any timeénduthe term of the warrants if there is no
effective registration statement for the issuanceesale of the underlying warrant shares. Theaseprice of each warrant is adjustable in the
event of a stock split or stock combination, cdpiarganization, merger or similar event.

The Company received proceeds of $3,381,000, nedsif transaction costs of $369,000. In additienGbmpany incurred $56,000 of costs for
warrants issued to a placement agent. Proceeds @4000 were allocated to common stock and $20P81were allocated to investor warrants
using the Black-Scholes method with a fair markate of the Company’s common stock of $2.40 anddhewing assumptions as of

February 25, 2008: for the 5 year warrants exelotésat $4.20 per share, a riske interest rate of 2.94% and volatility of 95#%edor the 4 mont
warrants exercisable at $3.78 per share, a rigkifierest rate of 2.13% and volatility of 95%. Ma@rants were determined to have the
characteristics of derivative liabilities and wergginally accounted for as liabilities prior toetlCompany increasing the authorized number of
shares. Changes in fair value were recognizedtiasrei gain or loss in the consolidated statemeaoperations. In the second quarter of 2008 the
warrants were reclassified to equity. Through May 2008, these warrants were marked to markettheguh a reduction in warrant liabilities in
the balance sheet and an offsetting credit to ahamégir value of warrant liabilities in the statent of operations in the amount of $356,000. The
remaining fair value of $2,160,000 was crediteddditional paid-in capital in the balance sheet.B@eember 26, 2008 the 500,000 warrants
exercisable at $3.78 expired unexercised. If they@my pays a stock dividend or makes a distributiocombines shares of its common stock,
then the number of shares issuable upon exercitgsofvarrant shall be proportionately adjustechsthat the aggregate exercise price of this
warrant remains unchanged.

Cork Investments

On July 2, 2008, the Company issued 50,000 wartar@ork Investments in exchange for $20,000. Therants were exercisable for common
stock at $6.00 per share for a period of threesyaad expired unexercised in 2011. The $20,000cvetited to additional paid in capital.

2012 Offering of Units

On March 22, 2012, the Company entered into anmwritang agreement, relating to the offer and szlé,159,445 units (the “Units”) of the
Company, each unit consisted of two shares of Com8tock and one warrant to purchase one sharerofi@m Stock. Pursuant to the
underwriting agreement, the Company granted themwriters a 45-day option to purchase up to antewtdil 173,916 Units to cover over-
allotments, which they exercised on March 26, 20t public offering price for each Unit was $9.8ach warrant has an initial exercise pric
$5.63 per share, is exercisable upon separatitimredfnits and expires on March 28, 2017.
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On March 28, 2012, the Company sold and issued31382 Units (2,666,722 shares of common stock afeded $5.63 warrants to purchase
1,333,361 shares of common stock) for gross pracee#i12.0 million (net cash proceeds of $10,403 &fer the underwriting discount and
offering costs). The warrants were valued at $4@@®G as of the issuance date of March 28, 2018gubie closing price of $4.20, a life of 5 ye.
a volatility of 119% and a risk free interest rafel.05%. Based upon the Company’s analysis ottlteria contained in ASC Topic 815-40,
“Derivatives and Hedging — Contracts in Entity’s @&quity” the Company has determined that warrants issuedninection with this financir
transaction were not derivative liabilities andréfere, were recorded as additional paid-in capital

On March 28, 2012, in connection with this undetteri financing as per the underwriting agreemérat,Gompany issued a total of 46,378
common stock purchase warrants to the underwrilérsse warrants expire May 2, 2016, have an exeprise of $5.63 per share, and are
exercisable beginning one year from March 22, 2812 date of the underwriting agreement). Theseamss were valued at $143,000 as of the
date of issuance (March 28, 2012), using the ofppiice of $4.20, life of 4.1 years, volatility 817% and risk free interest rate of 0.78%. Based
upon the Company’s analysis of the criteria cortdiim ASC Topic 815-40, “Derivatives and HedgingGentracts in Entity’s Own Equity”, the
Company has determined that these warrants issusghinection with this financing transaction weot derivative liabilities and therefore, were
recorded as additional paid-in capital.

Effective as of March 23, 2012, and in connectiatinthe pricing of the offering of Units, the Compeeffected a one-for-six reverse split of its
Common Stock. Per the terms of the reverse sjlitagtional shares were rounded up. Based oreffextive split date of March 23, 2012, the
Company issued 3,324 shares of common stock ta émational shares.

Series A 12% Convertible Preferred Stock — Februdry2008 Private Placement

On February 4, 2008, the Company closed a priviateement begun in October 2007 of its Series A T%vertible Preferred Stock (“Series)A”
and related warrants. In this transaction, the Gamgpsold units of securities at $6.00 per unitheatit comprised of (i) one share of Series A
Preferred, (ii) a warrant to purchase one shamofmon stock for $9.00, and (iii) a warrant to fiage one share of common stock for $12.00.
Each share of the Series A is entitled to dividestdbe rate of 12% per annum payable at the Coypamption in cash or shares of common s
valued at the higher of $6.00 per share or 100%®¥alue weighted average price of the Comparhgésesprice for the 20 consecutive trading
days prior to the applicable dividend payment dateidends are payable semi-annually on March 30 Se&ptember 30. The dividend paid on the
initial dividend payment date is calculated frore thate the Company deposited each subscriptiomadva

The shares of Series A are entitled to vote aassakith the Company’s common stock and each gli@eries A is convertible at any time to
one-sixth of a share of common stock, subject jostichent in the event of a stock dividend, stodik sp combination, reclassification or similar
event. The Company has the right to require comweii§the closing price of the common stock exce8@8.00 for 15 consecutive trading days
and a registration statement covering the resafleeo$hares of common stock issuable upon conveddithe Series A is then in effect. Each
warrant is exercisable solely for cash beginningusi 3, 2008 and expired on February 4, 2012. Xkecise price of each warrant is adjustabl
the event of a stock split or stock combinatiompitzd reorganization, merger or similar event.

As of December 31, 2007, the Company had receivbscsiption advances of $1,667,500 for Series 2008, the Company received additional
subscription advances of $75,000 resulting in tgtaks proceeds of $1,742,500. On February 4, #898ompany closed the private placement.
The Company incurred $52,000 of cash transactistsaesulting in net cash proceeds of $1,691,G0addition, the Company incurred $3,000 of
costs for 1,400 warrants exercisable at $9.00 ssmplacement agents. Proceeds of $984,000 wieeatdd to investor warrants using the Black-
Scholes method with the following
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assumptions as of February 4, 2008: risk free @stanate 2.51%, volatility 95%, fair market valdfalte company’s common stock on February 4,
2008, and the share price on the closing dateeofrimsaction of $3.54. The warrants were originaticounted for as freestanding derivative
instruments in the consolidated balance sheet fdymeder the caption “Warrant Liabilities”. Thesgrrants were originally classified as a
liability because the February 2006 warrants corgai anti-dilution provision in the event of a sedpsent dilutive issuance and the potential
number of shares issuable exceeded the Comparyisraaed shares. Changes in fair value were reeegas either a gain or loss in the
consolidated statement of operations under thearafi€hange in fair value of warrant liabilitiedh the second quarter of 2008, the warrants
reclassified to equity as a result of an amendrwetite Company’s articles of incorporation approgéthe May 21, 2008 annual meeting of
shareholders increasing the Company’s authorizethoan. Through May 21, 2008, these warrants werdeaaato market resulting in a reduction
in warrant liabilities in the balance sheet and#setting credit to change in fair value of warrabilities in the statement of operations in the
amount of $100,000. The remaining fair value of 3600 was credited to additional paid-in capitathie balance sheet.

Series B Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

On February 12, 2009, the Company entered intcargies purchase agreement (the “10X Agreementif¥pant to which it agreed to issue and
sell to 10X Fund LP, at two or more closings, up(fp3,000,000 shares its Series B convertibldegpred stock (“Series B redeemable convertible
preferred stock” or “Series B”) with an aggregatged value of $6.0 million and convertible int@@),000 shares of common stock at
December 31, 2011 and (ii) warrants to purchase0g0®0 shares of common stock.

Through a series of closings from February 2008ugh May 2010, the Company issued and sold, putsadahe 10X Agreement, a total of

(i) 900,000 shares of Series B-1 convertible preféstock (“Series B-1 redeemable convertible prefestock” or “Series B-1") and related
common stock warrants for 1,800,000 shares of camstack and (ii) 2,100,000 shares of Series B-Zedible preferred stock (“Series B-2
redeemable convertible preferred stock” or “SeBe®’) and related warrants for 4,200,000 sharesoafimon stock. During 2010, the Company
received total net cash proceeds of $1,463,000 thenissuance of 770,000 shares of Series B-2alatkd warrants. During 2009, the Company
received total net cash proceeds of $1,548,000 fhenissuance of 900,000 shares of Series B-1aatbd warrants and $2,472,000 from the
issuance of 1,330,000 shares of Series B-2 antbdelearrants.

The Series B closings were as follows:

On February 12, 2009, the Company issued and gotduant to the 10X Agreement: (i) 900,000 shaf&edes B-1 convertible preferred stock
(“Series B-1 redeemable convertible preferred stockSeries B-1") convertible into 600,000 shafscommon stock; (ii) Class A-1 warrants
exercisable to purchase 300,000 shares of commoh;giii) Class A-2 warrants exercisable to pus#&00,000 shares of common stock; and
(iv) Class B warrants exercisable to purchase 1(@@shares of common stock. Net proceeds frorsldsing were $1,548,000.

On May 13, 2009, the Company issued and sold, patdo the 10X Agreement: (i) 450,000 shares oieSds-2 convertible preferred stock
(“Series B-2 redeemable convertible preferred stockSeries B-2") convertible into 300,000 shatdscommon stock; (ii) Class A-1 warrants
exercisable to purchase 150,000 shares of commok;giii) Class A-2 warrants exercisable to puis#a 50,000 shares of common stock; and
(iv) Class B warrants exercisable to purchase @@0ghares of common stock. Net proceeds from &g were $801,000.

On June 30, 2009, the Company issued and sold)gniro the 10X Agreement: (i) 250,000 shares oieSé3-2 convertible into 166,666 shares
of common stock; (ii) Class A-1 warrants exercisabl purchase 83,333 shares of common stock(J(éi¥s A-2 warrants exercisable to purchase
83,333 shares of common stock; and (iv) Class Bamis exercisable to purchase 333,333 shares ahoonstock. Net proceeds from the closing
were $473,000.
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On August 12, 2009, the Company issued and soldpput to the 10X Agreement: (i) 150,000 shareSesfes B-2 convertible into 100,000
shares of common stock; (ii) Class A-1 warrantg@gable to purchase 50,000 shares of common stiiigiCGlass A-2 warrants exercisable to
purchase 50,000 shares of common stock; and (a9 warrants exercisable to purchase 200,00@sbéacommon stock. Net proceeds from
the closing were $287,000.

On September 30, 2009, the Company issued andmatsijant to the 10X Agreement: (i) 162,500 shafeSeries B-2 convertible into 108,333
shares of common stock; (ii) Class A-1 warrantg@sgeble to purchase 54,166 shares of common stiiigiClass A-2 warrants exercisable to
purchase 54,166 shares of common stock; and (89 warrants exercisable to purchase 216,668sbacommon stock. Net proceeds from
the closing were $305,000.

On November 4, 2009, the Company issued and sotdupnt to the 10X Agreement: (i) 155,000 shareSesies B-2 convertible into 103,333
shares of common stock; (ii) Class A-1 warrantg@gable to purchase 51,666 shares of common stiiigiCGlass A-2 warrants exercisable to
purchase 51,666 shares of common stock; and (a9 warrants exercisable to purchase 206,668sbacommon stock. Net proceeds from
the closing were $296,000.

On December 8, 2009, the Company issued and saisiignt to the 10X Agreement: (i) 162,500 shareSenfes B-2 convertible into 108,333
shares of common stock; (ii) Class A-1 warrantg@sgeble to purchase 54,167 shares of common stiiigiClass A-2 warrants exercisable to
purchase 54,167 shares of common stock; and (a9 warrants exercisable to purchase 216,66@sbacommon stock. Net proceeds from
the closing were $310,000.

On January 29, 2010, the Company issued and saigiyant to the 10X Agreement: (i) 162,500 shareSavfes B-2 convertible into 108,334
shares of common stock; (ii) Class A-1 warrantg@gable to purchase 54,167 shares of common stiiigiGlass A-2 warrants exercisable to
purchase 54,167 shares of common stock; and (a99® warrants exercisable to purchase 216,66ésbacommon stock. Net proceeds from
the closing were $308,000.

On March 8, 2010, the Company issued and soldupatgo the 10X Agreement: (i) 167,500 shares o#eSd3-2 convertible into 111,667 shares
of common stock; (ii) Class A-1 warrants exercisabl purchase 55,834 shares of common stock(J(&i$s A-2 warrants exercisable to purchase
55,834 shares of common stock; and (iv) Class Bams exercisable to purchase 223,334 shares ahoonstock. Net proceeds from the closing
were $322,000.

On April 30, 2010, the Company issued and soldspamt to the 10X Agreement: (i) 155,000 shareseoieS B-2 convertible into 103,334 shares
of common stock; (ii) Class A-1 warrants exercisabl purchase 51,667 shares of common stock(J(éi¥s A-2 warrants exercisable to purchase
51,667 shares of common stock; and (iv) Class Bamis exercisable to purchase 206,667 shares ahoonstock. Net proceeds from the closing
were $297,000.

On May 10, 2010, the Company issued and sold, patgo the 10X Agreement: (i) 285,000 shares ofeSds-2 convertible into 190,000 shares
of common stock; (ii) Class A-1 warrants exercisabl purchase 95,000 shares of common stock(J(&i$s A-2 warrants exercisable to purchase
95,000 shares of common stock; and (iv) Class Bams exercisable to purchase 380,000 shares ahoonstock. Net proceeds from the closing
were $536,000.

The terms of the Series B are as follows:

Dividends. Holders of the Series B will be entitled toe®e cumulative dividends at the rate of 12% pares per annum (compounding
monthly) payable quarterly which may, at the Conyp&noption, be paid in
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cash or common stock. Pursuant to an agreementhétholder of all shares of Series B, on Januén2@11, the Company amended and restated
the Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Rigind Limitations for the Series B-1 and Serie, B> provide that dividends are payable in «

or shares of Common Stock valued at 100% of theraelweighted average price of the Common Stocki®20 consecutive trading days prior

to the dividend payment date on and after Septe@®e2011. If the Company does not pay any dividemthe Series B, dividends will accrue at
the rate of 15% per annum (compounding monthly).

Conversion Rights Each share of Series B is convertible inta{fginths (approximately 0.667) shares of commoulksti the conversion price

of $3.00 per share at the option of (i) the holdégny time and (ii) the Company, at any timerefebruary 12, 2010 (and upon 10 days notice) if
the common stock is quoted at or above $9.00 fardatsecutive trading days and an effective redistrastatement regarding the underlying
shares of common stock is in effect (subject tead@monthly volume limits). Pursuant to an agreetieth the holder of all shares of Series B,
on January 26, 2011, the Company amended ande@ skt Certificate of Designation of Preferencegh®® and Limitations for the Series B-1
and Series B-2, to remove the Company’s right topal conversion of the Series B Preferred Stodhtres of its Common Stock

Redemption Rights Pursuant to an agreement with the holderlafredres of Series B, on January 26, 2011, the @agnpmended and restated

the Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Rigind Limitations for the Series B-1 and Serie, B3 provide that, upon notice of not less than
30 trading days, a holder of Series B may reglieeGompany to redeem, in whole or in part at amg ton or after the earlier of (a) February 12,

2019 or (b) the date of issuance of a promissotg tmDavid Platt (see Note 11) in connection wlith achievement of certain milestones under

his separation agreement.

The redemption price will be equal to the sum efstated value of the Series B, plus all accrugedibpaid dividends thereon, as of the
redemption date. If the Company fails to pay thdenaption price in cash on the redemption date, thetolders of the Series B requesting
redemption may, at their sole option, automaticedipvert their shares of Series B into a promissatg bearing interest at the rate of 15% per
year and secured by a lien on all of the Compaag&ets. So long as any shares of the Series Brremtgitanding, the Company is also subject to
restrictions limiting, among other things, amendta¢n the Company’s organizational documents; tirelase or redemption of the Company’s
capital stock; mergers, consolidations, liquidagiamd dissolutions; sales of assets; dividend#ret restricted payments; investments and
acquisitions; joint ventures, licensing agreemesnsjusive marketing and other distribution agreetsieissuances of securities; incurrence of
indebtedness; incurrence of liens and other encangies and issuances of any common stock equivalents

Voting Rights  Except as noted below, the holder of eachesbBeries B shall be entitled to the number eés@qual to the number of shares
of Common Stock into which such share of SeriesdBild/be convertible, and shall otherwise have ptights and powers equal to the voting
rights and powers of the Common Stock. With respethe election of directors, the holders of tleei&s B shall vote together as a separate class
to elect two (2) members of the Board of Direcfhne “Series B Directors”), and the Company shedtktall reasonably necessary or desirable
actions within its control (including, without litaition, calling special meetings of the Board ofeBtors, nominating such persons designated by
the holders of the Series B as directors on théicgipe proxy statements and recommending theatiele) to permit the holders of the Series B to
appoint two additional (2) members of the Boardogctors (the “Series B Nominees”), who shall bbject to election by all shares of voting
stock of the Company voting together as a singbegyruntil such time as all authorized shares oeS& have has been issued and sold, after
which the number of Series B Nominees shall beetidg, and shall remain three (3) until there arédomger any shares of Series B outstanding.
The holders of Series B shall vote together withliblders of Common Stock and other voting capitatk of the Company to elect all other
members of the Board of Directors.
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Other Restrictions So long as any shares of the Series B remasgtanding, the Company may not, without the apalrofthe holders of a
majority of the shares of Series B outstanding, mgnather things, (i) change the size of the ComfmBwpard of Directors; (ii) amend or repeal
Company’s Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws defany articles of amendment designating the peefes, limitations and relative rights of any
series of preferred stock; (iii) create or incretimeauthorized amount of any additional classeoies of shares of stock that is equal to or sewior
Series B; (iv) increase or decrease the authorizeaber of shares of the Series B; (v) purchaseemdor otherwise acquire for value any shares
of any class of capital stock; (vi) merge or coigaike the Company into or with any other corporatio sell, assign, lease, pledge, encumber or
otherwise dispose of all or substantially all cf Bompany’s assets or those of any subsidiary);\@luntarily or involuntarily liquidate, dissolve

or wind up the Company or the Company’s businesi) pay or declare dividends on any capital stotker than the Preferred Stock, unless the
Series B share ratably in such dividend and aliueat dividends payable with respect to the Series\g been paid prior to the payment or
declaration of such dividend; (ix) acquire an eajoli¢ interest in, or the assets or business ob#myr entity in any form of transaction; (x) create
or commit us to enter into a joint venture, licelgsagreement or exclusive marketing or other dhistion agreement with respect to the Company’
products, other than in the ordinary course of tess; (xi) permit the Company or any subsidiargetib or issue any security of such subsidiary to
any person or entity other than the Company; éiiifer into, create, incur, assume or guaranteéna@ptedness for borrowed money of any kind
(other than indebtedness existing on the initiasitlg date and approved by Series B shareholdgiig) enter into, create, incur or assume any
liens of any kind (other than certain permitteshdig (xiv) issue any common stock equivalents; {rejease the number of shares of the
Companys common stock that may be issued pursuant toreptigarrants or rights to employees, directorscer§, consultants or advisors abt
250,000.

Warrants. Each Class A-1 warrant, Class A-2 warrant @rass B warrant is exercisable at $3.00 per shfateromon stock at any time on or
after the date of issuance until the fifth anniaeysof the respective issue date. The Company opon 30 days notice and so long as an effective
registration statement regarding the underlyingeshaf common stock is in effect, issue a termamatiotice with respect to (i) each Class A-1
warrant on any trading day on which the market ealfithe common stock for each of the 15 previcading days exceeded $7.50 per share and
(ii) each Class A-2 warrant on any trading day driclv the market value of the common stock for ezfdihe 15 previous trading days exceeded
$10.50 per share.

The fair value of the warrants issued in connectiith the Series B-1 was $1,296,000 at the datesofance based on the following assumptions:
an expected life of 5 years, volatility of 118%skriree interest rate of 1.79% and zero divideftie. Company allocated the gross proceeds basec
on the relative fair value of the Series B-1 arelrflated warrants, resulting in $1,105,000 offfteeeeds being allocated to additional paid-in
capital. The Company analyzed the Series B-1, glistation of the gross proceeds, and determinatititere was no beneficial conversion fea

at the date of issuance. The issuance costs &dhies B1 and the amounts allocated to warrants were redoad a reduction to the carrying v

of the Series B-1 when issued, and are accrettdtbteedemption value of the Series B-1 throughetiiiest redemption date. Due to the
redemption feature, the Company has presentedetties®B-1 outside of permanent equity, in the mezmaof the consolidated balance sheet at
December 31, 2012 and 2011.

The fair value of the warrants issued during theryended December 31, 2010 in connection with #re$ B-2 was $4,148,000 at the dates of
issuance based on the following assumptions: aaateg life of 5 years, volatility of 126% to 129fisk free interest rates of 2.27% to 2.43% and
zero dividends. The fair value of the warrantseéskduring the year ended December 31, 2009 in ationewith the Series B-2 was $5,333,000 at
the dates of issuance based on the following assonsp an expected life of 5 years, volatility &4Pb6 to 127%, risk free interest rates of 1.98¢
2.70% and zero dividends. The Company allocatedtbgs proceeds based on the relative fair valdleeoSeries B-2 and the related warrants,
resulting in $1,028,000 and $1,732,000 of the pedsebeing allocated to additional paid-in capitalthe
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years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, respgcfivet issuance costs of the Series B-2 and theiatsallocated to warrants were recorded
as a reduction to the carrying value of the SeBi@swhen issued, and are accreted to the redemygilie of the Series B-2 through the earliest
redemption dates. Due to the redemption featueeCttmpany has presented the Series B-2 outsidergfgment equity, in the mezzanine of the
consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2012Cirid

The Company analyzed the Series B-2, post-allocatidhe gross proceeds, and determined that thasea beneficial conversion feature at the
dates of issuance. Because the closing price afdhenon stock on the closing date was greaterttiaeffective conversion price, $388,000 and
$628,000 of the proceeds (limited to the allocatibthe proceeds) during the years ended Decenthe203.0 and 2009, respectively, were
allocated to an embedded beneficial conversionfeaif the Series B-2. The amount allocated tdo#reeficial conversion feature was recorded as
a discount to the Series B-2 is being accreted stith accretion being charged through the earkelgmption dates.

Series C 6% Super Dividend Convertible Preferredt

On December 29, 2010, the Company designated ahdraed the sale and issuance of up to 1,000 stwdirBeries C Super Dividend Converti
Preferred Stock (“Series C”) with a par value of0fi0and a stated value equal to $10,000 (the “Gdtdue”).

On December 30, 2010, the Company sold and issl2dl?ares of Series C at a price of $10,000 peegbagross proceeds of $2,120,000. The
Company incurred $47,000 of cash transaction cestdting in net cash proceeds of $2,073,000. tit@me, the Company issued 500 warrants
exercisable at $7.20 to a placement agent whictalggminimis value.

The terms of the Series C are as follows:

Conversion Rights Each holder of Series C may convert all, litless than all, of his Series C shares plus adcamd unpaid dividends into
Common Stock at the price of $6.00 per share of @omStock (“Conversion Price”), such that approxehal,667 shares of Common Stock
will be issued per each converted share of Serigsc€ued and unpaid dividends will be issued alitiadal shares). At December 31, 2011, the
220 shares of Series C were convertible into d t§t866,676 shares of Common Stock.

Subject to the continuing obligation to pay postversion dividends, the Company may convert ali,nmi less than all, of the Series C (plus all
accrued and unpaid dividends) into Common StoctheaConversion Price, upon such time that theirpgrice of the Common Stock is no less
than $18.00 per share for 15 consecutive tradiyg.da

Dividends. Holders of Series C shall be entitled to reeeiumulative non-compounding dividends at the pateshare of Series C equal to the
greater of (i) 6% per annum of the Stated Valuso(alefined as the “Floor”) or (ii) 2.5% of net saletil the total dividends paid is equal to the
initial investment and 1.25% of net sales thereafthe maximum amount each Series C shareholderegiive in dividend payments is equal to
$100,000 (the “Maximum Payout”). For purposes @ tlividend calculation, net sales shall mean gressnues actually received by the
Company, from the sale or licensing of the prodd&WVANAT ®(GM-CT-01), less chargebacks, returns, exges attributable to product recalls,
duties, customs, sales tax, freight, insuranc@pshg expenses, allowances and other customarycteds.

The dividend shall be payable in arrears semi dhnoa March 31 and September 30, beginning withfitst such date after the original issue
date; provided, however, that all dividends and#ikr distributions shall cease, and no furtheideinds or other distributions shall be paid, in
respect of each share of Series C from and aftér Sme that the Maximum Payout has been paiddpeet of such share of Series C. Such
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dividends shall be payable at the Company’s ogitirer in cash or in duly authorized, fully paicddamon-assessable shares of Common Stock
valued at the higher of (i) $3.00 per share ortki@ average of the Common Stock trading priceHerten (10) consecutive trading days ending on
the trading day that is immediately prior to theidénd payment date.

Series C Post Conversion Dividend Rightln the event that any share of Series C izedad into Common Stock before the Maximum Pays
paid in respect of such converted share of Serjd¢sed the holder shall have the right to contitiueeceive dividends in respect of such converted
share of Series C equal to the remaining payoet‘@eries C Preferred Stock Post Conversion Divddeight”) which shall be equal to the
Maximum Payout less the cumulative dividends resgithrough the conversion date. One share of S€rlaeferred Stock Post Conversion
Dividend Right shall be issued for each such camdeshare of Series C. The holder of each Seriee@rred Stock Post Conversion Dividend
Right shall receive the remaining payout on an Egasis and in conjunction with the then outstagdihares of Series C and all the other then
outstanding Series C Post Conversion Dividend Rightthe same manner and subject to the same #&rdheonditions as applicable to the
payment of dividends on each share of Series Gpxhat for purposes of calculating the dividemel Eloor shall not apply. The Series C
Preferred Stock Post Conversion Dividend Rightldteale no stated value, liquidation preferencdgirtrto any dividends or distributions other
than the remaining payout. The Series C Preferteck3?ost Conversion Right is subject to redempitictie same manner as outstanding Ser
shares.

At the date of issuance, the Series C have an afeldedividend right to continue to receive dividgrayments after conversion to common stock
(the Series C Post Conversion Dividend Right) whaiuires bifurcation. The value of this post casien dividend right on the date of issuance
was determined to be de minimis due to the fadtttfepayment of a dividend stream other than #edé/idend and conversion of Series C prior
to the Company achieving sales of GM-CT-01 was aégkimprobable at that time. Upon a conversion ef3kries C, the Company will be
required to record a liability and the related exgduring the period of conversion.

In July 2011, 5 shares of Series C were convertedd,334 shares of common stock and 5 Series CQRowversion Dividend Rights (Dividend
Rights) were issued. In January 2013, 5 sharegié$SC were converted into 8,334 shares of comstmok and 5 Dividend Rights were issued.
Per the terms of the Series C, these Dividend Righall continue to participate in dividends, horethe Floor shall not apply. At December 31,
2012, these Dividend Rights were determined to lzagte minimis value, as the payment of a dividentbinsidered improbable at this time. The
Company will continue to evaluate and assess thiesS€ Post Conversion Dividend Right for each répg period.

Liguidation Rights In the event of any liquidation, dissolutionveinding up of the Company, either voluntarilyiovoluntarily, the holders of
Series C will receive $10,000 per share plus acteunel unpaid dividends, payable prior and in pesfee to any distributions to the holders of
Common Stock but after and subordinate to the S&i22% Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series A%ri8s B-1 and Series B-2, subject to the
Maximum Payout.
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Redemption Upon a sale of the Company, the Company sad#iem all of the then outstanding shares of Sériasd Series C Preferred Stock
Post Conversion Rights within thirty (30) days aftee transaction constituting the sale of the Canyps closed and such closing is fully funded.
The price to redeem a share of Series C and edelemed Series C Preferred Stock Post ConversioarReitn Right shall be equal to (i) (A) t
applicable return on investment (“ROI") percentageiltiplied by (B) $10,000, minus (ii) the cumulatidividends received through the
redemption date. The redemption price shall be lpayat the Compang’option either in cash or in shares of commonkstatued at the higher «
(i) $3.00 per share or (ii) the average marketepfar the ten consecutive trading days ending imately prior to the date of redemption. The F
Percentage shall mean the percentage that appligfsttae redemption date, as follows:

ROl Percentag

200% before the second anniversary of the date of is®).

250% on or after the second anniversary of the datesefance, but before the third anniversary of tiie diissuance
300% on or after the third anniversary of the date sfiznce, but before the fourth anniversary of the dhissuance

350% on or after the fourth anniversary of the datessfiance, but before the fifth anniversary of the déissuance

400% on or after the fifth anniversary of the date sliance, but before the sixth anniversary of the dhissuance

450% on or after the sixth anniversary of the date sfigce, but before the seventh anniversary ofdteeaf issuance
500% on or after the seventh anniversary of the daissafance, but before the eighth anniversary oflittie of issuance; ar
550% on or after the eighth anniversary of the datessfi@ance, but before the ninth anniversary of the dfeissuance

Due to the redemption feature, the Company hagpted the Series C outside of permanent equitiheinrmezzanine of the consolidated balance
sheets at December 31, 2012 and 2011. At Decenih@032, the Series C redemption value was $5,2040d the Series C Post Conversion
Dividend Right redemption value was $123,000. Aréha29, 2013, the Series C redemption value wak535000 and the Series C Post
Conversion Dividend Right redemption value was $2@Q.

Voting Rights  The Series C shares have no voting rights.
7.  Warrants and Warrant Liabilities

Warrants
Warrant activity is summarized as follows:

Outstanding at December 31, 2C 8,585,87.
Issuec —

Cancellec (141,089
Exercisec (1,771,38)
Outstanding at December 31, 2C 6,673,40!
Issuec 1,379,73
Cancellec (616,726
Exercisec (12,17)
Outstanding at December 31, 2C 7,424.24.
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The following table summarizes information with aed to outstanding warrants issued in connectidgh equity and debt financings and

consultants as of December 31, 2012.

Issued in Connection With
February 25, 2008 Common Stock Transac
$0.70 Investor Warran
February 12, 2009 Serie«-1 Transactior
$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class £-2
$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class B
May 13, 2009 Series-2 Transactior
$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class £-2
$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class B
June 30, 2009 Series-2 Transactior
$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class £-2
$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class B
April 15, 2009 Consultant Warrar
May 1, 2009 Consultant Warrar
June 30, 2009 Consultant Warra
July 26, 2009 Consultant Warrai
August 12, 2009 Series-2 Transactior
$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class £-2
$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class B
September 30, 2009 Serie-2 Transactior
$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class £-2
$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class B
November 4, 2009 Series-2 Transactior
$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class £-2
$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class B
December 8, 2009 Serie-2 Transactior
$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class £-2
$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class B
January 29, 2010 Serie«-2 Transactior
$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class £-2
$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class B
March 8, 2010 Series-2 Transactior
$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class £-2
$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class B
April 30, 2010 Series -2 Transactiot
$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class £-2
$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class B
May 10, 2010 Series-2 Transactior
$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class £-2
$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class B
May 25, 2010 Consultant Warrar
May 25, 2010 Consultant Warrar
June 15, 2010 Consultant Warra
December 9, 2010 Consultant Warre
December 30, 2010 Placement Agent Warr
March 28, 2012 Offering Warran
2012 Offering Placement Agent Warra

Total outstanding warran

Exercise

Number
Issued Price Exercisable Date Expiration Date
710,83 $ 4.2C August 25, 200 August 25, 201
300,00 $ 3.0C February 12, 20( February 12, 201
1,200,000 $ 3.0C February 12, 20( February 12, 201
150,00( $ 3.0C May 13, 200 May 13, 201.
600,00( $ 3.0C May 13, 200 May 13, 201.
83,33: $ 3.0C June 30, 20C June 30, 201
333,33: $ 3.0C June 30, 20C June 30, 201
33,33¢ $ 3.0C April 15, 200¢ April 15, 201
74,000 $ 3.0C May 1, 200! May 1, 201-
40,000 $ 3.0C June 30, 20C June 30, 201
16,667 $ 3.0C July 26, 200 July 26, 201
50,00C $ 3.0C August 12, 200 August 12, 201
200,00( $ 3.0C August 12, 200 August 12, 201
54,16¢ $ 3.0C September 30, 200  September 30, 20
216,66t $ 3.0C September 30, 200 September 30, 20
51,66¢ $ 3.0C November 4, 20C November 4, 201
206,66¢ $ 3.0C November 4, 20C November 4, 201
54,167 $ 3.0C December 8, 20( December 8, 20:
216,66° $ 3.0C December 8, 20( December 8, 20:
54,167 $ 3.0C January 29, 20: January 29, 20:
216,660 $ 3.0C January 29, 20: January 29, 20:
55,83¢ $ 3.0C March 8, 201 March 8, 201
223,33 $ 3.0C March 8, 201 March 8, 201
51,667 $ 3.0C April 30, 201( April 30, 201¢
206,66° $ 3.0C April 30, 201( April 30, 201¢
95,000 $ 3.0C May 10, 201 May 10, 201!
380,00( $ 3.0C May 10, 201 May 10, 201!
28,33¢ $ 4.5C May 25, 201 May 25, 201
7,500 $15.0C May 25, 201 May 25, 201
100,00 $ 4.2¢ June 15, 201 June 15, 201
33,33 $ 3.9C December 9, 20: December 9, 20:
50C $ 7.2C December 30, 20: December 30, 20:
1,333,36. $ 5.6¢ March 28, 201 March 28, 201
46,37¢ $ 5.6: March 28, 201 May 2, 201l
7,424,24.
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Consultant Warrants

In May 2008 the Company entered into an agreeméhtlavestor Relations Group (“IRG”) for IRG to pride investor relations services to the
Company in exchange for cash and warrants on ahtydoasis. On September 30, 2008 the Company tatetnthe agreement under the
provisions of the agreement. During the effectiwatract period IRG earned 6,500 warrants valuek8#100. The expense associated with these
warrants was calculated using the Black-Scholesoyricing model and charged to stock compensatiqgrense. The warrants are exercisable at
$3.00 per share for a period of three years.

In April 2009, the Company entered into agreemeuiitis consultants that provided for the grant of imats for the purchase of 55,000 shares of
common stock at an exercise price of $3.00 peresi@ifrthe 55,000 warrants, 13,334 vested immediated 41,666 will vest upon the
achievement of certain milestones. The initial 33,8arrants were valued at $32,000 on issuanceallmasthe following assumptions: an expec
life of 4 years, volatility of 134%, risk free imesst rate of 1.76% and zero dividends and the esgpecognized upon issuance. During the year
ended December 31, 2010, 8,334 warrants vestede@alt $16,000 on the vesting date using the fafigu@assumptions: expected life of 3.06
years, volatility of 140%, risk free interest rat#sl.69% and zero dividends). In 2010, when itesggpd probable that the remaining 33,332
warrants would vest, the Company valued the wasran$124,000 as of December 31, 2010 using thefislg assumptions: expected life of 2.29
years, volatility of 141%, risk free interest ratd<.61% and zero dividends. The Company valuedathrrants at $104,000 as of December 31,
2011 using the following assumptions: expecteddifé.29 years, volatility of 70%, risk free intsteates of 0.12% and zero dividends. The
Company recognized expense related to the 33,382mta of $111,000 for the year ended Decembe2@1) and a reversal of expense of
$13,000 for the year ended December 31, 2011. Buhie year ended December 31, 2012, these wamanésno longer expected to vest and the
Company recognized a reversal of previously receghexpense related to these warrants of $100¢a8€ year ended December 31, 2012.

In May 2009, the Company entered into agreemerits eainsultants that provided for the grant of watsao purchase 95,834 shares of common
stock at an exercise price of $3.00 per share aftw4,000 vested and 21,834 were forfeited. Theamss were valued at $232,000 on issuance
based on the following assumptions: an expectefi years, volatility of 124%, risk free intereste of 2.16% and zero dividends. The
Company recognized expense related to these wama$63,000 during the year ended December 31).284 of December 31, 2010, 74,000 of
these warrants were vested and 21,834 shares orésédd.

In May 2010, the Company granted warrants to caastd for the purchase of 35,001 shares of comrmak sit an exercise price of $4.50 per
share. The warrants were valued at $134,000 oarisgubased on the following assumptions: an exgédiéteof 4 years, volatility of 143%, risk
free interest rate of 1.610% and zero dividends Whrrants vested immediately and the company rézed an expense of $134,000 related to
these warrants during the year ended December030, 2

In May 2010, the Company entered into an agreemighta consultant that provided for the grant ofmaats for the purchase of 12,000 shares of
common stock at an exercise price of $15.00 peesfi@e warrants were initially valued at $40,000ssuance based on the following
assumptions: an expected life of 4 years, volatdit143%, risk free interest rate of 1.610% an zlividends. The warrants vest at a rate of

500 per month and the unvested warrants will balued as they vest. At December 31, 2011, 7,500ants were vested and 4,500 were forfe
upon cancellation of the agreement. The followiaguamptions were used to value the warrants foyehe ended December 31, 2011: an expectec
life of 2.99 to 3.32 years, volatility of 128% t801%, risk free interest rate of 0.79% to 1.29% ama dividends. The following assumptions were
used to value the warrants for the year ended DieeeB1, 2010: an expected life of 3.40 to 3.99 yeavlatility of 130% to 144%, risk free

interest rate of 0.51% to 1.68% and zero dividefitie. company recognized an expense of $12,000 EhO@0 related to these warrants during
the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respgct
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In August 2010, the Company entered into an agraemigh a consultant, who was also a board memikeich provided for the grant of warrants
for 100,000 shares of common stock at an exercise pf $4.26 per share. Of the 100,000 warrarB)@ vested immediately on signing of the
agreement, 25,000 were to vest at the end of caeaye the remaining 50,000 warrants were to v@std on the achievement of certain
milestones. The following assumptions were usedtoe the remaining unvested warrants on MarctOZ12t the date the consultant effectively
became an employee of the Company: an expectedf 28 years, volatility of 135%, risk free indst rate of 1.705% and zero dividends.
Pursuant to an employment agreement entered irttain2011, all remaining unvested warrants were éaiately vested. The Company
recognized expense of $340,000 and $219,000 refatiebse warrants during the years ended Dece®ihe@011 and 2010, respectively.

In December 2010, the Company granted warrantctmaultant for the purchase of 33,334 shares mfwon stock at an exercise price of $3.90
per share. The warrants were valued at $112,008soance based on the following assumptions: aeated life of 5 years, volatility of 130%,
risk free interest rate of 1.9% and zero divideid® warrants vested immediately and the compatggrézed an expense of $112,000 related to
these warrants during the year ended December030, 2

In December 2010, the Company issued warrantptacement agent for the purchase of 500 sharesnfon stock at an exercise price of $7
per share. These warrants were valued at $2,080 tis following assumptions: an expected life gB&rs, volatility of 130%, risk free interest
rate of 2.06% and zero dividends.

Impact of Adopting Provisions Regarding Warrant Liidities

In June 2008, the Financial Accounting Standardsr8¢‘FASB”) ratified standards related to determining whetmeinatrument (or an embedc
feature) is indexed to an entity’s own stock. Ttaandards provide that an entity should use a tep approach to evaluate whether an equity-
linked financial instrument (or embedded featusaptexed to its own stock, including evaluating ifstrument’s contingent exercise and
settlement provisions. The standard is effectivdifzal years beginning after December 15, 200& Tompany adopted the standard on
January 1, 2009 and determined that the 1,164,22€ants issued in connection with the February ZD@@&saction that had been classified as
equity and included in additional paid-in capitaDecember 31, 2008, should be classified as itasldue to repricing and anti-dilution
provisions contained in the warrant agreements.ifipact of adopting new accounting provisions amuday 1, 2009, which required the
treatment of warrants with certain features adlitas rather than equity, was a decrease in auftht paid-in-capital by $458,000, which was the
fair value recorded at the time the warrants wexesferred from a liability to equity during theayeended December 31, 2008, an increase of
warrant liabilities by $204,000, the fair valuetbé warrants as of January 1, 2009 and a credit¢comulated deficit for the difference.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Coynemognized a loss of $524,000 in its consolidatatements of operations related to the
change in fair value of warrant liabilities.

8.  Stock-Based Compensatior
Summary of Stock-Based Compensation Plans
At December 31, 2012, the Company had three staskdcompensation plans where the Company’s corstook has been made available for
equity-based incentive grants as part of the Colyiparompensation programs (the “Incentive Plans jalows:

2001 Stock Incentive Plan In October 2001, the Company’s Board of Dinestadopted the Pro-Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 200kS$taentive Plan
(the “Incentive Plan”), which permits awards oféntive and nonqualified stock options and othemfoof incentive compensation to employees
and non-employees such as directors and consulimsBoard has 833,334 shares of common stodkdoance upon
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exercise of grants made under the Incentive Platio®s granted under the Incentive Plan vest eitharediately or over a period of up to three
years, and expire 3 years to 10 years from thetgiae. At December 31, 2012, 291,992 shares weiitable for future grant under the Incentive
Plan.

2003 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Planin 2003, the stockholders approved the PratRheeuticals, Inc. 2003 NdBmployee Directo
Stock Option Plan (the “Director Plan”), which pétsrawards of stock options to non-employee dinect®he stockholders reserved 166,667
shares of common stock for issuance upon exertigeaots made under the Director Plan. At Decer33e2012, 146,557 shares were available
for future grant under the Director Plan.

2009 Incentive Compensation Plan In February 2009, the Company adopted the 20&8ntive Compensation Plan (the “2009 Plan”) whic
provides for the issuance of up to 3,333,334 shafrése Company’s common stock in the form of opsiostock appreciation rights, restricted
stock and other stock-based awards to employeisersf directors, consultants and other eligildespns. At December 31, 2012, 979,259 shares
were available for future grant under the 2009 Plan

In addition, the Company has awarded 1,477,379ptan-stock option grants to employees and non-eyeplke These non-plan grants have
vesting periods and expiration dates similar ts¢hoptions granted under the Incentive Plans. AebBwer 31, 2012, 1,440,045 non-plan grants
were outstanding.

Stock-Based Compensation
Following is the stock-based compensation expeglsged to common stock options, restricted comntocksand common stock warrants:

Year Ended
December 31,
2012 2011
Research and development $ 92z $1,55¢
General and administratiy 1,87( 1,68
Total stocl-based compensation expel $2,79- $3,24¢

The fair value of the options granted is determingitig the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Tollowing weighted average assumptions

were used:
Cumulative
Period from
Inception
(July 10, 2000)
to
December 31,
— 2012 — 2011 2012
Risk-free interest rate 0.9(% 1.9(% 1.84%
Expected life of the optior 5.81 year 5.13 year 5.19 year
Expected volatility of the underlying sto 11€% 131% 11%%
Expected dividend rat 0% 0% 0%

As noted above, the fair value of stock optiondetermined by using the Black-Scholes option pgaimodel. For all options granted since
January 1, 2006 the Company has generally usedroggims of between 5 to 10 years, with 5 yearsessmting the estimated life of options
granted to employees. The volatility of the comrstotk is estimated using historical volatility oxzeperiod equal to the expected life at the date
of grant. The risk-free interest rate used in thecB-Scholes option pricing model is determineddfgrence to historical U.S. Treasury constant
maturity rates with terms equal to the expectenhseof the awards. An expected dividend yield obZerused in the option valuation model,
because the Company
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does not expect to pay any cash dividends in treséeable future. At December 31, 2012, the Comgaag not anticipate any option awards
be forfeited in the calculation of compensationenge due to the limited number of employees tlegive stock option grants and the Company'’s
historical employee turnover.

Of the options granted during 2011, 166,668 vekt opon the achievement of certain market cond#i(88,334 and 83,334 upon the Company
achieving a market capitalization of $5 billion gD billion, respectively). These market conditstack option awards were valued at $1,006
using a Monte Carlo model and will be recognizedravweighted average period of 5.5 years. Assumptiised to value these options included
the following: annualized volatility of 110%, anrnizad drift/risk-free interest rate of 3.5% andoadcast horizon/life of 10 years.

The following table summarizes the stock optionvéigtin the stock based compensation plans:

Weighted
weigics oy
Aggregate
Contractual Intrinsic Value
Average
Number of Exercise Life
Shares Price (in years) (in thousands)
Outstanding, December 31, 2010 1,965,74 $ 6.4Z
Grantec 1,676,71. 7.0z
Forfeited/Cancelle (334,54 8.9
Exercisec (216,44) 1.21
Outstanding, December 31, 20 3,091,47. $ 6.8
Grantec 800,00 2.1z
Forfeited/Cancelle (299,68)) 8.9
Exercisec (51,830 2.31
Outstanding, December 31, 20 3,539,96. $ 5.6€ 6.7¢ $ 27¢
Exercisable, December 31, 20 2,067,911 $ 5.9¢ 5.41 $ 26¢

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table abopeasents the total ptax amount, net of exercise price, which would hld@en received by opti
holders if all option holders had exercised aliaps with an exercise price lower than the markigtepon December 31, 2012, based on the cli
price of the Company’s common stock of $2.05 ot dlzde.

The weighted-average grami&te fair values of options granted during 2012 201 were $1.77 and $6.07, respectively. As ofdbemer 31, 201
and December 31, 2011, there were unvested optiqgmsrchase 1,472,051 and 1,317,480 shares of corstook, respectively. Total expected
unrecognized compensation cost related to suchstew@ptions is $5,628,000 at December 31, 201&hwk expected to be recognized over a
weighted-average period of 3.7 years.

During the years ended December 31 2012 and 201836 and 216,400, respectively, shares were issped the exercise of options valued at
$96,000 and $253,000, respectively. During theyeaded December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Compaeiyeec30 and $234,000, respectively,
for the exercise of stock options. During 2012 2ad1, 90,253 and 83,334 options were exercisedess) resulting in the issuance of 51,830
and 64,273 shares, respectively. The intrinsicevalioptions exercised during the years ended DbeeBil, 2012 and 2011 and from the period
from inception to December 31, 2012 was $162,000, 24,000 and $1,724,000, respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2012 and Z¥E1420 and 380,391 options vested, respectivélg.tdtal fair value of options vested
during the years ended December 31, 2012, 201 thenclmulative period from inception to DecemberZX112 was $2,447,000, $2,153,000 and
$13,056,000, respectively.
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Other Stock Based Compensation Transactions

During 2001, the Company entered into a consuligiggement with a non-employee, who was also a Boardber and former member of the
Audit Committee, pursuant to which the Company tgdr33,334 options to purchase common stock akercise price of $21.00 in considerat
for services to be performed. At the time of issigrihese options were valued at $239,000 baseddeemed fair market value of the Company’s
common stock of $13.68 per share. Total expensthéyears ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 20it&d to these options was $71,000,
$64,000 and $147,000, respectively.

In March 2002, the Company entered into a seconekagent with the same namployee, by which the Company granted 334 optomsnth tc
purchase common stock at an exercise price of $2f.6onsideration for monthly consulting servic®s. November 11, 2002 such agreement
was superseded by an amendment, which was effaetingactively to the date of the original agreetbfarch 1, 2002. Under the amended
agreement, the Company granted 4,000 options oetMBr2002, which vest at a rate of 334 optionsnpenth, as services are performed. These
options were valued at $11,000 using the Black-&shoption-pricing model, based on a grant dateviaiue of the Company’s common stock of
$12.96 per share. During 2002, the Company recoadk4il,000 charge to stock compensation experesedeio the 3,334 options that vested
during the year. As of December 31, 2002, the Comead deferred compensation of $11,000 that rblat¢he remaining unvested options,
which was recognized in 2003.

In June 2003, the Company entered into a thirdeagemt with the same non-employee, by which the Gmpgranted 4,000 options effective
retroactively to March 1, 2003, which vest at @ raft 334 options per month as services are perfirifieese options were valued at $33,000 u
the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, based ¢airamarket value of the Company’s common stocE2if.00 per share. The consulting
arrangement was concluded on March 1, 2004. Thep@oynrecorded fair value adjustments of ($2,000)$21,000 related to the unvested
consultant options during 2004 and 2003, respdygtii®tal expense for the years ended Decembe2@14 and 2003 related to these options was
$17,000 and $40,000, respectively.

In January 2003, the Company granted 16,667 optibas exercise price of $21.00 to a Board mentrecdnsulting services unrelated to
services performed as a director. One-third ofojhions vested immediately and the balance vessgual amounts on the first and second
anniversaries of the award. The options were vaiiet156,000 using the Black-Scholes option-pricimagel, based on a fair market value of the
Company’s common stock of $16.80 per share. Theudbng services were completed and the consuitimangement was concluded as of
March 31, 2004. The Company recorded fair valuestdjents of $4,000 and $82,000 related to the tedeonsultant options during 2004 and
2003, respectively. Total expense for the yeargérmkcember 31, 2004 and 2003 related to thesenspivas $51,000 and $193,000, respecti

In May 2003, the Company granted 1,667 optionsiabeercise price of $21.00 to a new member of tierfific Advisory Board. One-half of the
options vested immediately and the balance veste@eecond anniversary. These options were vat#il6,000 using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model based on a fair market value of teenfany’s common stock of $16.80 per share. The @Goypecorded fair value adjustments of
$2,000 and $6,000 related to the unvested conswfions during 2004 and 2003, respectively. Teiglense for the years ended December 31,
2004 and 2003 related to these options was $5,00@ 43,000, respectively.

In September 2003, the Company granted 4,167 ap&anh to a Board member and to a member of tleatdii Advisory Board for consulting
services. The options were exercisable immediate$24.30 per share. These options were valued tisinBlack-Scholes option-pricing model
based on a grant date fair value of the Compargrisncon stock of $14.64 per share. The Company redoadb122,000 charge to stock
compensation expense in 2003 related to these award
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In October 2003, in connection with the resignatibits former Chief Financial Officer, the Compaawcelerated the vesting on 16,667 options
granted to such officer in September 2003 at anceseeprice of $24.30, which was equal to the ri@érket value of the common stock on the date
of grant. As the fair market value of the commarcktwas $26.70 per share at the time the vestirgjageelerated, the Company recorded a
$40,000 charge to stock compensation expense. illl€dctober 2003, such officer exercised on a esshbasis 8,334 options at an exercise price
of $17.82 per share resulting in the issuance ®¥2shares. As the fair market value of the Comjzsatymmon stock on the date of exercise was
$26.70 per share, the Company recorded a char$e4od00 to stock compensation expense in 2003:cktatthe exercise of these options.

In March 2004, the Company issued 4,167 optioralfillment of a September 2003 agreement withrarestor relations firm. The agreement
obligated the Company to pay a monthly retaineriagde options at a rate of 834 options per marntip a maximum of 16,667 options,
exercisable at $34.80 per share as services di@med. The Company concluded the engagement irueep2004. The options were exercise
immediately and expired on March 26, 2007. Accagllinthe Company recorded $29,000 as stock comgiensaxpense in 2003 on the 2,500
options that vested as of December 31, 2003 aradiditional stock compensation expense of $23,0@D@# on the 10,000 options that vested in
January and February 2004. The stock compensatjzense was determined based on a fair market wéline options when the options were
earned. These options expired unexercised in 2007.

In April 2004, the Company entered into an agreeaméti an investor relations firm. The agreemernitgaiied the Company to pay a monthly
retainer and issue options at a rate of 834 pertlmamto a maximum of 10,000 options exercisab®38t96 per share as services are performed.
During 2004, 7,500 options were earned but noedsDuring 2005, 2,500 options were earned an@th&0,000 options were issued. The
Company recorded $67,000 in 2004 and $14,000 i® 280stock compensation expense related to théeagmt. The stock compensation exp
was determined based on the fair market valuesbtiions when the options were earned. The opti@ns exercisable immediately and expired
three years from the agreement date. These optipiged unexercised in 2007.

In November 2005, the Company issued 834 optiomsm@mber of the Scientific Advisory Board for colting services. The options were
exercisable immediately at $15.66 per share. Thptens were valued using the Black-Scholes optincing model based on a grant date fair
value of the Company’s common stock of $8.10 parekwhich was the fair market value at the dathefyrant. The Company recorded a $7,000
charge to stock compensation expense in 2005 defatinis award. These options expired unexerdis@®10.

In March 2006 the Company issued 2,500 optionsdorsultant for consulting services, of which 834he options were exercisable immediat
833 options vested in March 2008 and 833 optioisseekin March 2009. The options are exercisab$2t50 per share. These options were
valued using the Black-Scholes option-pricing mdaided on a grant date fair value of the Compatnrismon stock of $13.20 per share which
was the fair market value at the date of the grEimé. Company recorded a $33,000 charge to stoclpensation expense over the vesting period
of the options.

In December 2007, the Company issued 834 optioasctisultant for consulting services. The optiwase exercisable immediately at $3.78 per
share. These options were valued using the BlablolSs option-pricing model based on a grant datevédue of the Compang’common stock ¢
$2.76 per share which was the fair market valubeatlate of the grant. The Company recorded a $Z;68rge to stock compensation expense in
2007 related to this award.

In April 2008, the Company issued 8,000 optiona tmnsultant for consulting services. The optiorsenexercisable immediately at $2.64 per
share. These options were valued using the Blabloi8s option-
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pricing model based on a grant date fair valudnef@ompanys common stock of $2.34 per share which was therfarket value at the date of 1
grant. The Company recorded a $15,000 charge ¢& sampensation expense in 2008 related to thiscawa

In February 2009, the Company issued 33,334 optmasconsultant for consulting services. The atiovere exercisable immediately at $0 per
share. These options were valued using the Blablol8s option-pricing model based on a grant datevéue of the Compang’common stock ¢
$0.72 per share which was the fair market valubeatlate of the grant. The Company recorded a $24;Barge to stock compensation expense in
2009 related to this award.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Coynpedlified the terms of certain option grants fourf employees to extend the exercisable
period from ninety days post-employment to the ri@ing legal life of the option grant. During theayeended December 31, 2012, the Company
modified certain cashless exercise terms for ongl@yee. The modification of these option terms ltesLin additional stock-based compensation
expense of $271,000 during the year ended Dece®ihe@012. During the year ended December 31, 20&1Company modified the options of
one employee to extend the exercisable period gragptoyment from ninety days to the remaining lddalof the option, resulting in additional
stock-based compensation expense of $63,000.

In May 2012, the Company granted 7,000 sharesmihoon stock to a consultant for payment of pastisesv These shares of common stock \
valued at $16,000, based on the market value cdhliaees at the date of grant and are includedukdiased compensation expense for the year
ended December 31, 2012.

In August 2012, the Company granted 4,348 sharesmimon stock to a consultant for payment of ses/id@hese shares of common stock were
valued at $10,000, based on the market value dcdlibees at the date of grant and are includedukdtased compensation expense for the year
ended December 31, 2012.

Restricted Stock

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Coyngamted 416,670 shares of restricted common stookembers of its Board of Directors.
These shares were restricted and any unvestedsshare subject to forfeiture upon termination arild revert back to the Company. Of the
416,670 shares, 390,628 were vested as of Dece3ip2010, and the final 26,042 vested in 2011. rEstricted shares were valued at $450,000
($1.08 per share) at the date of grant and wegrezed over the vesting period. During 2011, tenfany recognized stodkased compensati
of $18,000 related to these restricted stock grants

In 2011, the Company issued 20,834 shares of cedrcommon stock to a consultant. These sharesnestricted until November 15, 2011 and
any unvested shares were subject to forfeiture tgonination and would revert back to the CompatyDecember 31, 2011 there no restricted
shares remaining. The restricted shares were valu#i13,000 ($5.40 per share) at November 15,,201d the Company recognized expense of
$110,000 during 2011 related to these shares.

Weightec
Number of Average
Price on
Shares Grant
Unvested restricted shares outstanding, Decemh&03D 26,04: $ 1.0¢
Restricted shares issu 20,83« 8.0
Restricted shares vest 46,87¢ 4.17
Unvested restricted shares outstanding, Decembe&031 — $ —
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9.

10.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
A summary of changes in the Warrant Liabilitieassfollows:

Fair Value of
Warrant
Liabilities
(in thousands
Balance December 31, 2010 $ 861
Change in fair value of warrant liabiliti 524
Intrinsic value of liability warrants exercis (1,389)
Balance December 31, 20 $ —

The warrant liabilities in the table above weressléied as a Level 2 liability and were valued gsine Black-Scholes pricing model.

Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per common share is computed byidiyithe net loss available to common stockholdgrthe weighted average number of
common shares outstanding during the period. Diluet loss per common share is computed by divitlieghet loss available to common
stockholders by the weighted average number of comshares and other potential common shares thstanding. Potential common shares
consist of common shares issuable upon the assexeedise of in-the-money stock options and warrantspotential common shares related to
the conversion of the preferred stock. The compurtaif diluted net loss per share does not asshméssuance of common shares that have an
anti-dilutive effect on net loss per share.

Year Ended December 31
(in thousands, except shar
and per share amounts)

2012 2011

Basic and diluted net loss per common sh
Net loss $ (9,675 $(10,91%
Preferred stock dividenc (97€) (1,56¢)
Preferred stock accretic (230 (230
Net loss applicable to common stockholc $(10,887) $(12,71)
Weighted average common shares outstar—basic and dilute: 15,13: 11,98¢
Net loss per common sh—basic and dilute: $ (0.72) $ (1.0¢)

Dilutive shares which could exist pursuant to tkereise of outstanding stock instruments and whiere not included in the calculation because
their affect would have been anti-dilutive durirrg as follows:

December 31
2012 2011

(Shares) (Shares)
Warrants to purchase shares of common stock 7,424,24. 6,673,40!
Options to purchase shares of common s 3,539,96. 3,091,47.
Shares of common stock issuable upon conversiderped stock 2,627,111 2,627,111
13,591,31 12,391,98

F-41



Table of Contents

11. Commitments and Contingencies
Lease Commitments

In September 2012, the Company entered into aratipgriease for office space in Norcross, GA féeran of twenty-six months, beginning on
October 1, 2012 and ending November 30, 2014 ateaaf $3,000 per month. The lease provides far feat for the first two months of the lease
and required a security deposit of $6,000. In aldito base rental payments included in the cotuedobligations table above, we are respon:
for our pro-rata share of the operating expenseth&building.

In October 2012, the Company entered into an ojpeyéase for office space collocated with lab gpime research and development activities.
The lease is for a period of one year, beginnin@otober 1, 2012, for a rate of $15,000 for thentgvayable in equal monthly increments.

In July 2011, the Company entered into an agreetoesninend its lease for offices in Newton, MA tdemd the term for a period of one year,
which expired on September 30, 2012, at a baseofe$235,000 for the period. In addition to bas#abpayments, the Company was responsible
for its profata share of increases in the operating expeonsaise building. In connection with this lease canenercial bank issued a letter of cr
collateralized by cash, which the Company had gosli¢ with the bank of $59,000 at December 31, 28id which was released during 2012
after the lease term ended. In July 2011, the Compatered into an operating lease for an apartfioei@ompany executive use for a one-year
term, which ended in August 2012, at a rate of @d@ for the term.

Rent expense under the above operating leases248s090 and $293,000 for the years ended Decenh@032 and 2011, respectively.
Future minimum payments under this lease as of IDbee 31, 2012 are as follows (in thousands):

Year ended December 31

2013 $4¢
2014 _3€
Total lease paymen $85

Separation Agreement—Former Chief Executive Officand Chairman of the Board of Directors

In February 2009, the Company entered into a SéparAgreement in connection with the resignatié®avid Platt, Ph.D., the Company’s
former Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of B@ard of Directors. The Separation Agreement presifbr the deferral of a $1.0 million
separation payment due to Dr. Platt upon the eartieurrence of any of the following milestone egelli) the approval by the Food and Drug
Administration for a new drug application (“NDA"pf any drug candidate or drug delivery candidasetan the Company’'s GM-CT-01
technology (whether or not such technology is patnin which case Dr. Platt is also entitled folly vested 10-year cashless-exercise stock
option to purchase at least 83,334 shares of constomk at an exercise price not less than tharaiket value of the common stock determined
as of the date of grant; (ii) consummation of asection with a pharmaceutical company expecteddolt in at least $10.0 million of equity
investment or $50 million of royalty revenue to tBempany, in which case Dr. Platt is also entittedtock options on the same terms to purchase
at least 50,000 shares of common stock; or (ié)rdnewed listing of the Company’s securities oraonal securities exchange and the
achievement of a market capitalization of $100iomll Payment upon the events (i) and (iii) may bfedred up to six months, and if the Company
has insufficient cash at the time of any of suckngy, it may issue Dr. Platt a secured promissotg for such amount. If the Company files a
voluntary or involuntary petition for bankruptcyhether or not a milestone event has occurred, sueht shall trigger the obligation to pay the
$1.0 million with the result that Dr. Platt may extsa claim for such
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obligation against the bankruptcy estate. During12@vhen it became probable that the Company doeilietlisted on a national securities
exchange and eventually reach a market capitadizati $100 million, the Company recognized the $tillion severance payment due to
Dr. Platt and it is included in accrued expensd3eatember 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011.

On May 2, 2012, Dr. Platt instituted arbitratiorfdre the American Arbitration Association, seeka§1.0 million separation payment based on a
claim that a milestone event in the Separation Agrent has occurred (see clause (iii) above). OrciMag, 2012, the Company’s common stock
was listed on the NASDAQ Capital Markets, but sitteat date, the stock has not achieved the requigattet capitalization. Therefore, it is the
Company’s position that a milestone event has apbycurred. The arbitration hearing was held otofer 16 - 17, 2012 and on November 1,
2012, the arbitrator denied Dr. Platt’'s demandlimegpects. Insofar as the Company does not déspaibbligations under the Separation
Agreement to pay Dr. Platt upon the occurrenceroflastone event, it has recorded the payment @ eamed expense payable if and when the
milestone event occurs.

On October 12, 2012, Dr. Platt commenced a lawsder the Massachusetts Wage Act against Dr. TeaieMr. McGauley who in their
capacities as the Company’s Chief Executive Offarat Chief Financial Officer respectively can b&hedividually liable under the Wage Act

for non-payment of wages. The lawsuit is basecherfacts and issues raised in the arbitration céggithe payment of the $1.0 million separation
payment under the Separation Agreement, and otisggracified “wages”. The statute provides that aessful claimant may be entitled to
multiple damages, interest and attorneys fees.ofifth the Company is not a party to the lawsujilahs to indemnify Dr. Traber and

Mr. McGauley consistent with its obligations undlee by-laws and applicable law, believes the latisuvithout merit, and intends a vigorous
defense on their behalf.

On March 29, 2013, the Company instituted arbitratiefore the American Arbitration Association,lseg to rescind or reform the Separation
Agreement discussed above. The Company claim®thétlatt fraudulently induced the Company to eliéw the Separation Agreement,
breached his fiduciary duty to the Company, and wakuly enriched from his conduct. Along with rerabef the $1.0 million milestone payment
provided for under the Separation Agreement, the@my is seeking repayment of all separation bengféiid to Dr. Platt to date. Depending on
the outcome of the arbitration, the previously aedr$1.0 million could be reversed. The timing afiinate outcome of this arbitration, thougtr
uncertain and there is no guarantee that the Coynpdinbe successful in this demand.

Series C Post Conversion Dividend Rights

In July 2011, 5 shares of the Company’s Series @26Dividend Convertible Preferred Stock (“Serig¥Were converted into 8,334 shares of
common stock which also resulted in the issuance®éries C post-conversion dividend rights (“Dernd Rights”). Under the terms of the Series
C, the Dividend Rights entitle the holder only teidend payments based on a percentage of actiesl saGM-CT-01 but not, following a
conversion to common stock, the 6% dividend payahleutstanding shares of Series C. At Decembe2@®112, the outstanding Dividend Rights
were determined to have a de minimis value, becpagment of a dividend for the Dividend Rights amsidered improbable at this time and the
Company has not recorded a liability related to@hedend Rights. The Company will continue to exate and assess the Dividend Rights for
each reporting period.

Other Legal Proceedings

The Company records accruals for such contingencitdge extent that the Company concludes that desiurrence is probable and the related
damages are estimable. There are no other peratiagproceedings except as noted above.
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12. Income Taxes
The components of the net deferred tax assetsdmdlaws at December 31:

2012 2011
(in thousands)
Operating loss carryforwart $ 21,75 $19,11¢
Tax credit carryforward 317 33C
Other temporary differenct 2,921 2,07(
24,99: 21,51¢
Less valuation allowanc (24,99) (21,519
Net deferred tax ass $ — $ —
The primary factors affecting the Company’s incamrerates were as follows:
2012 2011
Tax benefit at U.S. statutory rates (34%) (34%)
State tax benef (5.3%) (5.3%)
Credit (0.2%) (1.C%)
Permanent difference 1.4% 3.5%
Expiring state NO's 3.3% 3.4%
Changes in valuation allowan 34.&% 33.%%
% __%

As of December 31, 2012, the Company has fedethbktaie net operating loss carryforwards totali6@,$86,000 and $25,160,000 respectively,
which expire through 2032. The net operating logselside Federal and State excess benefits retatstdck options of $707,000 that will be
charged to additional paid-in capital when utilizedaddition, the Company has federal and stateareh and development credits of $223,000
and $143,000, respectively, which expire througB22@wnership changes, as defined by Section 382diternal Revenue Code, may have
limited the amount of net operating loss carryfameathat can be utilized annually to offset futtaeable income. Subsequent ownership changes
could further affect the limitation in future yeaBecause of the Company’s limited operating histord its recorded losses, management has
provided, in each of the last two years, a 100%at#n allowance against the Company’s net defedaradssets.

On January 3, 2013, the American Taxpayer Relie¢foh@012 was signed into law reinstating the fetlezsearch and development credit for the
2012 and 2013 years. Under ASC 7402Blthe effects are recognized as a component ofriedax expense or benefit from continuing opens

in the financial statements for the interim or aameriod that includes the enactment date. Thefiierlated to the 2012 federal research and
development credit $61,000 will be recorded dug0d3.

At December 31, 2012 the Company has $1,082,00@mfcognized tax benefits, $923,000 of which walffdct the effective tax rate. The
Company has not recognized an adjustment to theitdeécumulated during the development stage fmecognized tax benefits because a full
valuation allowance has been recorded againstpeatng loss carry forwards. Since the Compangtdeferred tax assets and the unrecognized
tax benefits would not result in a cash paymemrt,Gompany has not accrued for any interest andtEseelating to these unrecognized tax
benefits. Should the Company incur interest andfbies related to income taxes, those amounts weliehcluded in income tax expense. Total
amounts of unrecognized tax benefits are not erpedat significantly increase or decrease withinrighths of the reporting date.
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The Company is subject to taxation in the U.S.\&amibus states. Based on the history of net opeydtisses all jurisdictions and tax years are
open for examination until the operating lossesutitized or the statute of limitations expires.

13. Subsequent Event:

The Company has evaluated all events or transactiat occurred through the date on which the firdistatements were issued, noting the
following:

Agreement with CTI for Phase | Clinical Trial

On February 1, 2013, the Company entered into aerited and Restated Master Services AgreementAtiieément”) with CTI Clinical Trial
Services, Inc. and CTI Clinical Consulting Servides. (individually and collectively, “CTI")whereby CTI will assist the Company in the des
development and conduct of one or more clinica¢aesh studies from time to time. All work performad CTI for the Company will be
conducted pursuant to the terms of work ordersdbatribe the specific obligations undertaken by With respect to any particular clinical
research study sponsored or conducted by the Compatess otherwise terminated sooner in accordaiittethe terms of the Agreement, the
Agreement will be effective until January 31, 2018.

On February 1, 2013, the Company entered into & water (the “Work Order”) with CTI in accordancéthvthe terms of the Agreement. The
Work Order provides that CTI will provide serviogih respect to the Company’s Phase | Clinical Moeevaluate the safety of the Company’s
drug GR-MD-02 in subjects with Non-Alcoholic Stelagpatitis (“NASH”) with advanced hepatic fibrosBT1 will provide the following services,
amongst others, with respect to the Work Ordelierging and providing notices regarding IND safetports, selecting investigators and monitors
for the study, informing investigators of new oh&gions, monitoring the progress of the study adewing ongoing investigations, keeping
certain records, inspecting the Company'’s recondsraports, and disposing of any unused suppli@frivestigational drug.

The Work Order provides for CTI's anticipated imnv@ment in the study from February 1, 2013 until 8fa81, 2014. The estimated budget for the
Work Order is $2,155,000, which is subject to cteaag necessary, with payments made throughouetiredf the project as the work is
performed.

The Agreement or any work order may be terminabecfy reason by any party upon ninety (90) daie mrritten notice to the other party. In
addition, the Agreement may be terminated by eitlaety immediately if the other party becomes iasnt, is dissolved or liquidated, makes a
general assignment for the benefit of its credjtbiess or has filed against it (and does not abtadismissal within ninety (90) days) a petitidn o
bankruptcy, or has a receiver appointed for it sulastantial part of its assets, among other reasamther, the Agreement or any relevant work
order may be terminated immediately by written ec@from the Company, in the following circumstandé} the FDA withdraws authorization
and approval to conduct a study; or (2) the Compaagonably determines that for medical, clinicgbatient safety reasons, a study should
terminate immediately. In addition, either partyymb@rminate the Agreement or any work order foreriat breach upon thirty (30) days’ written
notice specifying the nature of the breach, if sbiach has not been substantially cured withiritiiey (30) day period.

Drug Discovery Program with the University of Gedag

In February 2013, the Company established a calidive drug discovery program at the Complex Cayboiite Research Center at the Univel
of Georgia. This program is focused on the discpeénew carbohydrate molecules that can be us#teitherapy of diseases where galectin
proteins play a major role, including cancer arfthmmatory and fibrotic disorders. The term of #ygreement is effective through December 31,
2013, for which the Company will provide funding%i#54,000.
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Exhibit 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF REGISTRANT

The following is a list of the Corporation’s suligides as of December 31, 2012. The Corporationspwinectly or indirectly, 100% of the voting
securities of each subsidiary, unless noted ottserwi

STATE OR JURISDICTION
NAME OF ORGANIZATION

Galectin Therapeutics Security Corp. Delaware




Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference inifeggion Statement Nos. 333-116629, 333-1098933&3d159247 on Form S-8, and
Registration Nos. 333-169463 and 333-172849 on F3nof our report dated March 29, 2013 relatmgur audit of the consolidated financial
statements, which appear in this Annual ReportamFL0-K of Galectin Therapeutics Inc. for the yeaded December 31, 2012.

/sl McGladrey LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 29, 2013



Exhibit 31.1

Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Sagities Act of 1934

I, Peter G. Traber, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Galectin Therapeutics Inc
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatom@ny untrue statement of a material fact or anfitate a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances mwtieeh such statements were made, not misleaditigrespect to the period covered by this
report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cthss of the registrant as of, and for, the pesipdesented in this repo
4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 1-15(e) and 15-15(e)) for the registrant and we ha
a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under our supervision
ensure that material information relating to thgisgant, including its consolidated subsidiarissnade known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in whidhig report is being prepare
b)  Designed such internal control over financiglaring, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rigggitoe reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallypedeaccounting principle
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proges] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; i
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the ttegig’s internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registranthost recer
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal gegaiin the case of an annual report) that has maditeaffected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrée's internal control over financial reporting; a
5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial reporting, toet
registran’s auditors and the audit committee of the regit's board of directors (or persons performing thewedent functions)
a)  All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regis’'s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an
b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaveanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting
March 29, 2013 /s/ __Peter G. Trabt

Name: Peter G. Traber, M.L
Title: Chief Executive Officer and President
(principal executive officer



Exhibit 31.2

Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Sagities Act of 1934

I, Thomas A. McGauley, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Galectin Therapeutics Inc
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatom@ny untrue statement of a material fact or anfitate a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances mwtieeh such statements were made, not misleaditigrespect to the period covered by this
report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cthss of the registrant as of, and for, the pesipdesented in this repo
4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 1-15(e) and 15-15(e)) for the registrant and we ha
a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under our supervision
ensure that material information relating to thgisgant, including its consolidated subsidiarissnade known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in whidhig report is being prepare
b)  Designed such internal control over financiglaring, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rigggitoe reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallypedeaccounting principle
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proges] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; i
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the ttegig’s internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registranthost recer
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal gegaiin the case of an annual report) that has maditeaffected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrée's internal control over financial reporting; a
5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial reporting, toet
registran’s auditors and the audit committee of the regit's board of directors (or persons performing thewedent functions)
a)  All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regis’'s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an
b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaveanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting
March 29, 2013 /sl _Thomas A. McGaule

Name: Thomas A. McGaule
Title: Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial and accounting office



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Galectirefdpeutics Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K foe fheriod ended December 31, 2012 as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiorthe date hereof (the “Report”), I, Peter G. Traksief Executive Officer and President of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 81350,dupted pursuant to 8906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002, that, to my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly gnets, in all material respects, the financial ctodiand result of operations of the Compe

March 29, 2013 /s/ Peter G. Trabt
Name: Peter G. Traber, M.C
Title: Chief Executive Officer and President

(principal executive officer



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Galectirefdpeutics Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K foe fheriod ended December 31, 2012 as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiorthe date hereof (the “Report”), I, Thomas A. Magg, Chief Financial Officer of the Company,
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 81350, as adoptedyant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly gnets, in all material respects, the financial ctodiand result of operations of the Compe

March 29, 2013 /s/ Thomas A. McGaule
Name: Thomas A. McGaule
Title: Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial and accounting office




